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Management’s Statement
BHERE

We are pleased to present to our shareholders the annual report of International
Business Settlement Holdings Limited (the “Company”) together with its subsidiaries
(collectively known as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2019.

OVERALL RESULTS
Key performance indicator (Financial Ratio)

BAMARBR2IBERAXERZRERAF]
([ARAF])EREMBAR (4l [AKE])#HE
E—NF=ZA=+—HIFENFR-

BEREXE
FEREER (MBLR)

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—HLFE

Notes 2019 2018

k3 —E-NEF —E-)N\F
Revenue (HK$ 000) WA (F%&7T) 827,848 543,333
Gross profit margin (%) FEF = %) () 14.5% 8.3%
Loss for the year (HK$000) FANE/E(FET) 211,612 65,170
Loss per share (HK cents) TR Es1E CBL) 1.07 0.33
Net asset value per share (HK cents) BREEFE (CENL) (i) 5.42 6.55
Notes: P 3
0) Gross profit margin is calculated as gross profit divided by revenue and multiplying the (i) F ) A2 F B WA B 15 T 158 ' BA100%5T &

resulting value by 100%.

(i) Net asset value per share is calculated based on the number of ordinary shares issued as
at the relevant financial year end date.

For the current year, the Group recorded a revenue of approximately
HK$827,848,000, representing a significant increase of approximately 52.4% when
compared with the same period of last year. The revenue for the current year is
mainly generated from the property development segment in 1E F13 (‘Zhenghe
City”) of MIN IEFIHEHE B 2 £ BB R A7) (Liuzhou Zhenghe Huagui Real Estate
Group Company Limited*) (“Liuzhou Zhenghe”). During the year, the construction
of 2 blocks of studio/office buildings in Zone C, 3 blocks of high-rise apartments
in Zone D1 and 2 blocks of residential and commercial complexes in Zone F in
Zhenghe City were completed and delivered to the customers. As a result, the
revenue of the Group for the year increased significantly.
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Management’s Statement
BHERE

An overall gross profit of approximately HK$120,232,000 (2018: HK$45,068,000) and
gross profit margin of 14.5% (2018: 8.3%) were recorded for the current year. Increase
in gross profit margin was mainly due to increase of high-rise residential blocks are
sold during current year, which have higher average selling prices and gross profit
margin.

A loss amounted to approximately HK$211,612,000 was recorded for the current
year, representing an increase of over two times as compared to the loss of
approximately HK$65,170,000 for corresponding period in 2018. The substantial
increase in loss was mainly attributable to (a) impairment losses on intangible assets
and property, plant and equipment amounting to approximately HK$59,186,000
and HK$13,771,000 respectively were provided in respect of Next Generation
Settlement Network (“NGSN”) platform; and (b) an impairment loss of approximately
HK$93,909,000 on factoring receivables in the financing segment was made as
result of a highly expected loss after assessment on risk of default by relevant
factoring receivables. The basic and diluted loss per share for the current year was
approximately HK1.07 cents which represented an increase of over two times from
approximately HK0.33 cents for corresponding period in 2018.

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS AND PROSPECT

International Business Settlement

Background and detailed of the platform of NGSN

Since 2016, the Group has been aware of new technologies such as block chain,
big data and distributed networks that will bring about substantial changes to
the society and economy in the future. The Group strongly believes that through
these new technologies, the Fintech industry will develop rapidly and provide
development opportunities.

A F E B8R 15 2 8 E ) £9120,232,0008 T (= F
— J\%F 145,068,000 7T ) REFE145% (ZF—/)\
F:83%) EFEERIERAABFHEBRTE
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KN Z 13 18 49211,612,0008 7T 8 — T — )\
4 [7) B 89 /548 4965,170,00058 JT 18 A0 8 38 WM 15 - 5
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Management’s Statement
BHERE

In September 2016, the Company acquired the entire issued share capital of
International Business Settlement Limited (“IBS”, a limited liability company
incorporated in Hong Kong) from various sellers at a consideration of
HK$25,000,000. Percentage ratios of the acquisition was less than 5%. At that time,
the Board noted the rapidly growing finance technology throughout the world has
brought about significant changes and development opportunities for the global
financial industry. IBS was to develop the NGSN with new technologies such as
block chain, big data and distributed networks, and started to develop international
settlement and clearing business. Through the NGSN, the Group hopes to provide an
alternative settlement channel to cross border trading business and individuals, so
as to realize point-to-point, around the clock, multicurrency, real-time and low-cost
fund settlement and clearing services around the world. In addition, in coordination
with various countries, the Group hopes to provide support to banks and commercial
customers in countries along the One Belt and One Road for their business
expansion through the NGSN. Ms. Li Na and Mr. Luo Feng, who had experience with
Fintech, in particular, the worldwide settlement network, were also appointed as the
executive directors of the Company with effect from 23 September 2016 to enhance
the Group’s expertise with Fintech.

Prior to the acquisition of IBS, the Company has engaged valuer to issue valuation
report on IBS. According to the valuation report, the fair value of IBS at the time of
acquisition was HK$25,000,000. The Company also engaged legal advisers to provide
legal opinion on legality of the platform of NGSN in the PRC. The Board has also
discussed and reviewed the financial model of IBS and the study of the settlement
business prepared by the management which depicts the existing situation of the
settlement system in the world, the relevant policies, the development trends and
outlooks and comparison of the time and cost of different settlement route. The
Company was of the view that through the acquisition and the relevant expertise
brought to the Board, the Company would be able to seize the opportunity and
will, based on its distributed network, block chain and other technologies, deploy
the next generation worldwide settlement and clearing network. It was to provide a
fast, highly efficient and low cost financial expressway between different countries
by connecting their central banks’ real-time settlement and clearing systems. Based
on its unique block chain regional settlement circle technology, the Company was
to construct a multi-currency, internationalized and distributed global settlement
platform.
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Management’s Statement
BHERE

The Company was targeting the world market, especially countries along the
“One Belt and One Road”, focusing on deploying financial settlement and clearing
network, building strategic core financial infrastructure for the “One Belt and One
Road”, and implementing the next generation global settlement and clearing
standards. This infrastructure aimed to connect with the systems of the central banks
and commercial banks of the countries along the “One Belt and One Road”, help to
realize the interconnection of the regional settlement circles of Europe, Central Asia,
South Asia, the Middle East and Africa, etc., and facilitate the multi-currency real
time settlement and clearing between China and the world, between countries of
different regions, and also between various regions.

In June 2016, IBS entered into a service agreement with IBM (China) Co., Ltd.
(“IBM (China)”) pursuant to which I1BM (China) was to provide computer software
engineering services to the Group to develop the platform for NGSN. HK$25 million
had been paid to IBM (China) before September 2016 to develop the platform. IBS
continued to develop the platform and incurred HK$7.7 million and HK$26.6 million
cost to IBM (China) for the platform in 2017 and 2018 respectively.

Development of NGSN

For purpose of developing the NGSN, the Group has signed memorandum of
cooperation and framework agreements with a number of potential cooperative
banks and financial institutions (the “Agreements”) and has maintained
communication with them in the past few years.

On 6 October 2016, the Company attended the European Union Financial
Technology conference held in Vilnius, Lithuania, which was also attended by a
number of central banks in the European Union, international financial institutions
and Fintech organisations. On the same day, a press conference was held by IBS to
announce its launch of the platform of the Next Generation Settlement Network in
the European Union. Please see announcement of the Company dated 7 October
2016 for details.
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Management’s Statement
BHERE

On 8 September 2016, the government of the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC
Government”) and the government of the Laos People’s Democratic Republic signed
“The Memorandum of Understanding between the People’s Republic of China and
the Laos People’s Democratic Republic in relation to Publishing the Planning Outline
for Jointly Advancing the “One Belt One Road” Establishment Cooperation® ( FE A
RAMEMEZBARR FHMBE AN RREREE —F K BRAERE
W B H R RS T 8%) 7. The Company follows the strategy of the PRC Government.
On 27 October 2016, the Group has entered into a memorandum of understanding
with the Central Bank of Laos People’s Democratic Republic (the “Central Bank of
Laos”), pursuant to which the Central Bank of Laos and IBS intend to set up a joint
venture which will use the platform of the NGSN. Please see announcement of the
Company dated 27 October 2016 for details.

On 15 November 2016, the Company entered into cooperation agreements with the
Ministry of Finance of the Republic of Djibouti (the “Djibouti Ministry of Finance”)
and Silk Road International Bank (the “SRIB”) respectively in the Republic of Djibouti.
The Company and the Djibouti Ministry of Finance agreed to collaborate with each
other to establish a next generation settlement and clearing network system and
payment network in Djibouti, upgrade the financial infrastructure of Djibouti and
jointly provide fast-paced, safe and low-cost integrated settlement and clearing
services to cross-border enterprises in both countries. Please see announcement of
the Company dated 17 November 2016 for details.

On 15 December 2016, the Group entered into a strategic cooperation agreement
with Kasikornbank Public Company Limited (‘K Bank”) pursuant to which both
parties will fully cooperate in the business areas of fund settlement, electronic
payment platform, cross-border trading of small and mid-size corporations and
financing. K Bank was to join the NGSN and act as a settlement bank for the Group’s
NGSN platform in Thailand. Please see announcement of the Company dated 15
December 2016 for details.

On 19 January 2017, the Group entered into a strategic cooperation agreement of
digital currency with the Ministry of Economy and Finance of Djibouti pursuant
to which the Group would, based on its extensive experiences and technological
capability in private cloud technology, blockchain, distributed computing, big
data analysis, to establish a basic structure of a legalized digital currency system,
and would also develop the management system and distribution platform of
applications of the legalized digital currency system for Djibouti, along with the
Ministry of Economy and Finance of Djibouti. Please see announcement of the
Company dated 24 January 2017 for details.

*  The English name is for identification purpose only
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Management’s Statement
BHERE

On 29 March 2017, the Central Bank of Lithuania (‘Bank of Lithuania”) granted the
Electronic Money Institution License (‘EMI License”) to UAB “IBS Lithuania” (“IBS
Lithuania Company”, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company). The EMI License
was issued by European Central Bank and shall be valid indefinitely. For institutions
holding the EMI License, they can open multi-currency accounts for their customers
in the entire Europe and provide them with deposit, withdrawal, transfer, exchange
and other cross-border e-money services. They can also issue IBAN payment cards
(including prepayment, debit and credit cards) to their customers in Europe, for
them to collect payment directly and conveniently. Please see announcement of the
Company dated 30 March 2017 for details.

On 15 May 2017, the Company entered into a Letter of Intent for Strategic
Cooperation with China Unicom (Hong Kong) Operations Limited, a subsidiary of
China Unicom Global Limited (“Unicom Global”) in Beijing pursuant to which both
Parties will fully cooperate with each other on a global scale, especially the regions
along “One Belt One Road”. Unicom Global will provide the Company’s NGSN with
full service of global financial internet communications infrastructure, and will
be responsible for provision of required network resources and equipment for
financial transactions and other business development, including but not limited
to dedicated circuit, data center leasing, data center construction, information
systems integration, mobile data, big data, block chain, Internet of things, artificial
intelligence business and others, as well as resources matching and discussion of
local cooperation with overseas operators, to help more banks and enterprises of
other countries to quickly join NGSN, which in turn will accelerate the layout and
implementation of NGSN, an efficient high-speed and real-time fund-route channel
for global trade and consumption. Please see announcement of the Company dated
15 May 2017 for details.

Save and except for confidentiality provisions, the abovementioned Agreements
are non-legally binding and are without tenure. None of the counterparties of
the Agreements has borne or will bear any development costs of NGSN and the
Company has not received any payments from the counterparties under the
Agreements. So far as the Company is aware, delay in the development of NGSN was
mutually agreed between the parties to the abovementioned Agreements and none
of the parties thereto are required to pay for any damages.
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Management’s Statement
BHERE

Impairment of NGSN

In April 2017 and September 2017, Ms. Li Na and Mr. Luo Feng who were key
members of the senior management team leading the development of the platform
of the NGSN left the Group. Ms. Li Na resigned to pursue her business interests
in other areas. Mr. Luo Feng was not re-elected as director at the annual general
meeting of the Company. The departure of Ms. Li Na and Mr. Luo Feng did not
immediately affect the development of NGSN. In 2017 and 2018, the development
of NGSN was still in progress with the help of a team of technological expertise
and senior management of the Group. As at 31 March 2018, the Company was
still targeting to commence the operation of NGSN in late 2018. As such, the
Directors, with the support of a valuation that the value in use is more than the
net book value, were of the view that it was not necessary to make impairment
in the financial year ended 31 March 2018. With the continuing support from
our professional team in the Fintech industry, the Group continued with the
development of the NGSN with the help of IBM (China) but without the two former
executive directors for the year ended 31 March 2018.

However, during the second half of 2018, NGSN was faced with a number of other
challenges as follows.

As the Group continued with the development of NGSN, challenges on the
operational side began to surface. The feasibility of docking with banks has been
verified, but it has been difficult to reach consensus on the actual operation mode
and details of the business cooperation, even though the banks and institutions that
signed memorandum of cooperation and framework agreement with the Group
have fully recognized the value and opportunities brought by the NGSN solution.

Both the banks and the Group understood that like any business, there are
difficulties and challenges accompanying with the deployment and operation of the
NGSN. In addition to the intrinsic complexity of the system, the NGSN, as an inter-
bank settlement system, is also confronted with the complexity and changes of
various external factors, such as the world trade environment, changes in financial
regulatory trend, and even changes in political environment.
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Management’s Statement
BHERE

Changes of political environment and changes in financial regulatory trend and
world trade environment are co-related. On the international level, the relationship
between America and China began to turn tense in or around mid-2018 which has
triggered financial regulators in various countries to hesitate when co-operating with
the Group to develop the NGSN platform, as the development of the platform is to
provide an alternative settlement and clearing services other than SWIFT between
China and other countries. On the local level, the crack-down of corrupt government
officials in China to a certain extent means change of senior management team at
various local government bodies which the Group may have connection with, hence
posing obstacles to the development of NGSN. All these factors were not anticipated
by the Group at the time of acquisition of IBS.

Even though the departure of the two directors did not affect the development of
NGSN immediately, together with the aforementioned challenges the Group was
faced with, the development of NGSN began to have delays in the second half of
2018. Cooperation with various jurisdictions to set up infrastructure for the platform
of NGSN was behind the originally expected timetable and was progressing very
slowly. In mid-2019, the Board has approved the delay of the launch of NGSN to
2021 and the Group targets to continue with the development of the NGSN in the
European region by leveraging its relationship in Lithuania.

In view of the challenges in the operation of the NGSN, and the lack of substantive
results of memorandum of cooperation and framework agreements previously
signed with a number of potential cooperative banks and financial institutions,
the future benefits that the NGSN can bring to the Group will likely to be adversely
affected. In this regard, the Company has engaged an independent valuer to
evaluate the value of the NGSN. The valuer has made reference to the projected
future revenue of the NGSN and its realizable market value and has come to the
conclusion that fully impairment of approximately HK$59,186,000 is required to be
recorded for the NGSN.
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R E MBS E IR - fEH 5 [ - ¥+ B BB
BEMNBHE —FEIEE LEREAEEJaEE
ERENSHARNHENRREEEREESE
&) T A BENGSNAY B R o AN S B AU IBSEF I R
ERBmEZERE

BEMBESMBEBI AL ENGNNER
MEAREETEND MRS NGSNWERR =T
—N\FTEFRIAHE BEERNEEBREAIER
NGSNF & 2237 ZL 7 28 e 1O B [ 0% 18 70 R 78 AR e )
= BERIEFEE - R-_T—NFFP EFT
HEHEE T —FHENGN BEASENER
5 B) LT <7 P 58 B9 B (R TE BROM M0 [2 B R NGSN ©

SEFANGSNAYE (EE R PRBE » LA N 2 BT B 2 SRBAE
EERTREREBESNEEERENERR
FESEEERE  NGSNBE AR = B H Sk # ok
RSB TFIFLE Bt NAREER—&2E
ST ET A BT ANGSNA) B B RT A o TR 2 T NGSN
MARR K =TEE R ETIB A S#ENEE  SHE
FINGSNTE 2 BUET 12 R {8 £959,186,0007%8 7T ©
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Management’s Statement
BHERE

In determining the amount of the impairment, the recoverable amount is

determined based on the value in use calculation. The independent valuer applied

the discounted cash flow method of the income approach to work out the value

in use. A number of assumptions were established to sufficiently support the

conclusion of valuation. The assumptions adopted in this valuation are:

General Assumptions

12

There are no changes, the aggregate of which when viewed together, may
be construed to be a material adverse change in the existing political, legal,
commercial and banking regulations, fiscal policies, foreign trade and
economic conditions in countries/regions where the Company currently
operates in and in new markets that Company may potentially expand into as
proposed by the Board;

There are no deviations, the aggregate of which when viewed together, may
be construed to be a material adverse change in industry demand and/or
market conditions;

There are no changes, the aggregate of which when viewed together, may be
construed to be a material adverse change in the fluctuation of interest rates
or currency exchange rates in any country which would be deemed to have a
negative impact or the ability to hinder the existing and/or potentially future
operations of the Company;

There are no changes, the aggregate of which when viewed together, may
be construed to be a material adverse change in the current laws of taxation
in those countries in which the Company operates in or the Company may
potentially operate in;

All relevant legal approvals, business certificates, trade and import permits,
bank credit approval have been procured, in place and in good standing prior
to commencement of operations by the Company under the normal course of
business;

@
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Management’s Statement
BHERE

Revenue projections and future business potential generated from the
intangible asset are expected to largely conform to those as forecasted by the
management of the Company;

The Company will be able to retain existing and competent management, key
personnel, and technical staff to support all facets of the ongoing business
and future operations; and

Trademarks, patents, technology, copyrights and other valuable technical and
management knowhow will not be infringed in countries/regions where the
Company is or will be carrying on business.

Major Assumptions

The growth rate of revenue, cost of revenue and operating expenses from
2019 to 2023 is based on the management projection in the business plan of
the Company and from 2024 onwards, the growth rate is expected to be 2.5%
per annum which is associated with inflation;

As at the valuation date, the intangible asset was still developing. The
outstanding development cost under the service agreement with IBM (China)
was HK$29,640,000, which is the balance of the signed contract with IBM
(China) and 50% of the outstanding payment is expected to be incurred up to
2021 and the remaining cost will be fully incurred in 2022; and

The management expected that the settlement platform will be completed
and be launched in or around mid-2021.

TEHAME T & B eV TR ORI B P EE AR B0 R 2R
BENERBFEARAER BN

ADERATRBRAREINERE =B
AB RN B A5 B S B R 7
RAREE: R

ARBRIERFETEBNBER, R
FAAR  FON 900 ARAE A R Lt B B R %
BEMBETEREIL

FA# %

ST-AFESTSF 2R MG
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WEEBE BFEENEREFR - BESR
IBM (R B) M) BR 75 1 - RASBER BN A A
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Management’s Statement
BHERE

The Company has performed impairment test on the intangible assets in the

financial years ended 31 March 2018 and 2019. The valuation method and key

assumptions applied for the two valuations are showed as below:

KRB BEREBEE_Z—NEFR_Z—ALE=A
T BUBRFEHEREEETRERR -
MR EERBOEETEEBRBRRY AT :

Valuation — 31 March 2018 Valuation — 31 March 2019 Reason of Change
RE-R=ZZ-N\F RE-R=Z2—IF
=A=+—H =A=+—H SEEMH
Valuation methodology Discounted cash flow method Discounted cash flow method (i)
of the income approach of the income approach
HETE WNEZ BRREREE WANEZ BRI & M8 IX
Discount rate (Post-tax) 17.0% 17.6% (ii)
B (i)
Estimated commencement date business 31 December 2018 1 April 2021 (i)
TERT M B H ZE-)\F+ZA=+—HBH ZE=Z—FWA—H
Projected net cash flow HKD$233,763,745 Negative present value of (iv)
during the projection period future cash flow
TR BRI A TEORIER 0% 2 558 233,763,745 7T RERRETEZBRE
0) No Change (i) )

(ii) Change in prevailing market data

(i) As at 31 March 2019, the Intangible Asset (i.e. the settlement platform) is still under
development. The management of the Company expected to take longer time to
complete the development and to form new cooperation with cooperative banks and
financial institutions.

(iv)  Lacking substantive results arising from memorandums of cooperation and framework
agreements, entered into in prior years, signed with a number of potential cooperative
banks and financial institutions as at 31 March 2019. Projected revenue significantly
affected, while cost is expected to be paid to maintain the operation and complete the
development of the Intangible Asset (i.e. the settlement platform).

Due to the significant decrease in projected cash flow estimated by the directors of

the Company (refer to (iv) above), no economic value is derived from the Intangible
Asset under the value in use calculation. Hence, a full impairment loss is recognised.
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Management’s Statement
BHERE

As the platform of NGSN is tailor-made based on our vision which is unique in the
market, the re-sell value available in the market and the recoverable amount is
anticipated to be minimal as at 31 March 2019. The associated computer hardware
and equipment to support the platform of the NGSN was fully impaired as well,
as the future benefit cannot cover the net book value. The Group had assessed
the recoverable value of the hardware and equipment and noted that value is
relatively not significant as a whole to the Group as most of those hardware and
equipment were acquired in late 2016 and early 2017. They had been depreciated
in value over time and are obsolete after years of development. Besides, it is not the
Group’s intention to terminate the project and dispose the hardware and equipment
to recover the cost. Despite the impairment, the Group will continue to use the
hardware and equipment for the development of NGSN going forward.

The Company’s plan on settlement business

Although the progress of the NGSN is slower than expected, the Company is
not ready to give up on it. After the departure of Ms. Li Na and Mr. Luo Feng,
the Company still strongly believes in the future of fintech and the potential
opportunities NGSN platform can bring. The Company retained the technical
team to continue to develop the NGSN platform and expected to make progress in
Europe region as the first phase through its relationship in Lithuania. The Board
considers that all its effort and money spent in the past few years will be in vain
if NGSN was terminated, therefore the Company will continue to develop NGSN
with the assistance of the EMI License. At present, the Group holds the EMI License
in Lithuania. With the EMI License in Lithuania, the Group has connected the
commercial and individual customers in European market and China together.
The management team in Lithuania has established a good relationship with the
Central Bank of Lithuania. With such communication channel, the Company targets
to develop the European market for NGSN in the coming years. The Company will
continue to maintain communication with all our existing partners, aiming to
reach more in-depth and comprehensive cooperation agreements with potential
cooperative banks and financial institutions as soon as possible so that the NGSN can
be put into operation as soon as possible to provide fund settlement and clearing
services to cross border trading business and individuals around the world. It is
expected that the development of NGSN will continue to face different operational
and technological challenges, however, with the assistance of external technological
expertise and the management team, the Company hopes that NGSN can provide
settlement services in 2021.

ENNGNTE A ERKEMHBERE S ES  EH5H
BB — B BT -hhF=A=+—8"
B RTH LNBEEERTREESEEM X
FENGSNT & B0 AB B T E AR 1 R R I 2 B EUR
B REARKANZEZBEAEDFE ASEE
FHEREM KRB AR EEE - W BB EEY
REEMEBRBITER EAARKEZHEXSE
HREER-ZE—RNFRER-ZS—EFNKE-
HEMEBEBESEEEMTELNRARFHRE
Eo i AEBIWEAT SR IEZEE RIDEESF

B AR B AR - BE R E - NEBER R G
B AR LR FEENGN o

AATMNEHEEKTE

BENGNK B REE L TEHIE - AR RIDEZIER
WEIE - T HE T ARBERE  AQFD
REBfZE BMEHE AR R ENGSNF & 7] B R A E 7
B o ANA R B R E BB EFENGNT & - I
T8 HA 3 18 E 5 37 P 58 &9 B (R B BUM H [2 B S 9] 25
HER-EEZERE MNGNR I BHELEMN TS
BB N REANESENERR B AQRME
BETEMIR R B) THZENGSN © B B A& E
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BE-UMEMNEEBRKE S B P RIBTE
Y RITER - BEZBMER  AAFMHERER
RIRAF ANGNRAZEBMNTIH AR A S E N
EREAEAREER FERREREBEESS
ERITREMEEEREMRARZEN S EH
FOOENGNEREERR AEHBEHESIRER
EARBE S BLEE IR - TBHINGNE) 3 B 5 4
BERTRAEE REMPE - BE UL EHNR
BRMERRERE KT - 22 7 ENGSNR
TEC—FAREEERS-
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Management’s Statement
BHERE

At present, the Group has not, as originally planned to achieve the ideal of
providing fund settlement and clearing services to cross border trading business
and individuals around the world. However, the Group is proactively expanding
settlement and clearing services for commercial and individual customers in the
European market and domestic market, capitalizing on the Electronic Money
Institution (EMI) License granted to the Group in Lithuania. Upon completion of
account opening procedures through our remote account opening services, our
customer, from international market or domestic market, being traditional company
or a new service enterprise, will be able to receive prompt and convenient services
covering acceptance and remittance. In particular, efficient and convenient business
settlement and clearing services of Single Euro Payments Area (SEPA) can be enjoyed
in the European Economic Area (EEA).

In terms of customer expansion, besides continuous customer development in the
European region, the Group has been active in the Asian-Pacific region (especially in
China) since the first quarter of 2019, focusing on the overseas collection business of
e-commerce platform. The Group has maintained discussion and cooperation with
local commercial banks and professional e-commerce collection agencies in terms of
shared customer service, shared accounts and technical integration, and has made
various degrees of progress. The Group has entered into a cooperation agreement
with one professional collection agency, and is in the progress of completing “know-
your-client” with one commercial bank. In the meantime, the Group maintains
an on-going communication with a number of commercial banks and collection
agencies. Through cooperation with domestic institutions in China, the Group
expects to provide domestic and overseas customers with a more diversified and
efficient service for cross-border payment between China and European.

As of March 2019, nearly 100 European customers opened e-banking accounts
through the Group’s e-banking set up via network in Lithuania, which provided
deposit, remittance and settlement services to them, with monthly deposits in
aggregate of approximately EUR3 million and transaction amount in aggregate of
more than EURT0 million.
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Management’s Statement
BHERE

At the same time, in addition to the existing businesses of account opening and
collection and payment, the Group also strives to expand the variety of services and
enrich the contents of services. In April of this year, the Group obtained approval
from the central bank of Lithuania for expanding the services scope under the
EMI License to conduct issue credit card, card collection and other business. The
expansion of EMI License is expected to be completed in the second half of 2019.
In the meantime, the Group has conducted negotiation with certain international
payment services provider, such as UnionPay, Alipay and WeChat, with a view to
cooperating with them in respect of collection business in Euro upon the completion
of expansion of EMI License. Besides, the Group also keeps an eye on Special Bank
License and hopes to upgrade EMI License to Special Bank License, with an aim of
providing commercial customers with more financial services.

In addition, in order to further enhance business competitiveness, expand services
scope and better serve customers, the Group also continuously discusses with some
potential partners, such as other national licensed service organizations, on various
possible forms of cooperation, including investment and capital contribution. The
Group will consider to progressively implement abovementioned cooperation. At the
same time, in terms of IT system construction, the Group also plans to carry out the
upgrade of the core IT system in 2019, including system upgrade and provision of
API interfaces to customers.

In addition to Europe, the Group is actively applying for licenses for electronic
banking or licenses for payment company in Central Asia and other regions, and
expects to be granted e-payment licenses by Kyrgyzstan. Going forward, the Group
will endeavor to explore business in Central Asia, with a view to achieving synergetic
development with the business in European and domestic market.

Prospects of Fintech

Despite the set-back we had with NGSN, the Group continues to have confidence
in emerging Fintech industry which the Group believes to be one of the innovative
factors that would improve the delivery of global financial services in the future.
The Group has tapped into the Fintech sector with the development of NGSN
and the expansion of EMI in Lithuania, and will continue to be open for suitable
opportunities in the Fintech sector. To diversify income source of the Group and to
bring more benefits to the Company and its shareholders, the Group will continue to
explore other potential opportunities in the Fintech sector, including but not limited
to Fintech-related upstream and downstream services, infrastructure projects in
connection with Fintech, etc.
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Management’s Statement
BHERE

On 19 July 2019, the Group has entered into a subscription agreement to subscribe
for approximately 5.56% interest in Bronzelink Holdings Limited, which in turns
holds majority interest in Global IP Cayman. Global IP Cayman is an innovative
satellite communication company and is principally engaged in providing high
capacity Ka-band satellite-enabled internet network services, exclusively dedicated
to the emerging markets in Sub-Saharan African. Please see announcement of the
Company dated 19 July 2019 for further details. The Company is to allocate USD50
million to the subscription of Bronzelink Holdings Limited. For the avoidance of
doubt, the business of Bronzelink Holdings and its subsidiaries is not related to the
development of NGSN.

During the year, this segment recorded revenue of approximately HK$150,000
(2018: nil) attributed by newly operated EMI business and loss of approximately
HK$133,107,000 (2018: HK$56,986,000). The substantial increase in loss was mainly
due to the impairment of approximately HK$59,186,000 and HK$13,771,000 were
provided respectively in respect of NGSN platform and its associated fixed assets
during the current year.

Liuzhou Zhenghe (property development and hotel business segment)
Zhenghe City is a mix-used complex project located at No. 102, Xinliu Avenue,
Liudong New District, Liuzhou, Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region, the PRC,
which offers a wide range of properties, including villas, townhouses, commercial
buildings, office buildings, hotels and high-rise apartments developed by Liuzhou
Zhenghe.

Zhenghe City comprises two phases with Phase | providing a stack of residential
and commercial properties with gross floor area of approximately 480,000 square
meters. Phase Il will provide another stack of residential and commercial properties
with a total gross floor area of approximately 561,000 square meters. Both Phase |
and Phase Il have commenced construction and are under development. The Group
owned 100% interest in properties held for development and properties held for sale
in both Phase | and Phase Il.
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Management’s Statement
BHERE

(@)  Detail area of the properties under development and completed properties  (a)

are as follows:

ERMMENCRIMEOEREFBOT

Completed
Saleable area of
area properties
Approximate remaining held for self-
gross floor unsold operating/
Site area area (note 2) own use
BEaE
e R B W BA®
B AHEREE E%T
AR AR EEEE (HMi&E2) YEEE
(sq.m) (sq.m) (sq.m) (sq.m)
(FF2K) (FFK) (FFK) (FF2K)
Phase I: —H:
Zone A Al 76,000 97,000 21,000 8,000
Zone B Bl 94,000 128,000 28,000 -
Zone C (& 61,000 255,000 137,000 -
231,000 480,000 186,000 8,000
Phase II: —H:
Zone D Dl 71,000 191,000 58,000 -
Zone E El& 30,000 142,000 88,000 31,000
Zone F Fl& 41,000 228,000 164,000 -
142,000 561,000 310,000 31,000
Total: HEt: 373,000 1,041,000 496,000 39,000
Note 1:  The number of square meters (“sq.m”) are rounded to nearest thousand for — FisE1: FFHK([FHRDEFHOEEHELINT
illustrative purpose only. g EEFHARE-
Note 2:  Representing the gross floor area under development and saleable gross floor area  Ffi7F2: BIZEEHFREEABELER _T—NLF=A=+—

of completed properties that were unsold as at 31 March 2019.

HERTERARHENMENAHERER
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(b) The progress of each phase in Zhenghe City are as follows: (b) FA S HATE B R T
Property type Status
L/E $-Eit) k%
Phase I:
_Eq :
Zone A Villas and high-rise apartment buildings with ~ The construction works were completed and most of the residential units were

AR retail outlets and car parking spaces

MEERSEASE AKEHREEML

Zone B Villas and high-rise apartment buildings with
Bl& retail outlets and car parking spaces

MERSEASE AKEHREEL

Zone C Residential and commercial complexes and
(= studio/office buildings with retail outlets

and car parking spaces
TERBEGABRIEES
WARE AREHERIFEA

sold in the past financial years. During the year, the Group changed intention to
keep approximately 8,000 square meters car parking spaces as properties held
for sale to self-operating car parking space to generate stable recurring income.
Hence reallocated to the Group’s property, plant and equipment.
BEIRENBAMREFERTIBEABSETEMDHE -FA K&
B BB E AT EWERNLL000F FREEMEABBFEM A
EERENLTUEHESWA - BREFSETAEEYE BE LEZE
Ao

The construction works were completed and most of the residential units were
sold in the past financial years.
BETRECOABIVBRFERTIBRBOFEEMDHE -

There are 7 blocks of residential and commercial complexes and 3 blocks of
studio/office buildings in this zone.

ZRBEEEREEGAEIETIEE PAKE-

The construction works of 7 blocks of residential and commercial complexes
were completed and most of the units were sold in the past financial years.
TEEERHEGEENEETRRECNBEVRFERT B RBD BN
BEHE-

The construction works of 2 of these 3 blocks of studio/office buildings were
completed and acceptance certificates of completion were granted in the current
year. The properties were therefore delivered to the customers and revenue was
recognised in the current year.

ZIETAEE /AR ERMNENERTIEERTIRETRIIED
REARKL AR AFEERE P XN EILFERKA

The construction works of the remaining 1 block is in progress. The pre-sale
permit was granted and acceptance certificates of completion is expected to be
granted in the second half of 2019.

BRTIENEETRNENERP BEFAIZIEREMIERTRIK
BEEFBR S —NFTHFFRD -
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Property type Status
YRR AR5
Phase II:
—H:
Zone D1 Villas The construction works of the villas were completed. 16 villas with a total
D1[& lEd saleable area of approximately 8,000 square meters are held for sale.
PIEHEETIZE R T - 427 H & B4 /8,000 77 K160 Bl £ TH %5
EHE -
Zone D1 High-rise apartment buildings with retail There are 5 blocks of high-rise apartment buildings in this zone.
D12 outlets and car parking spaces KEBsESEAS-
BEAE  AREHE IR
The construction works of 2 blocks of these high-rise apartment buildings were
completed and sold during the year ended 31 March 2018 (the “last financial
year”).
ZEREABETMENEETIRERIVENEHE_E— ) \F=-A=1+—
HiESEE ([ LEMBER]) & -
The construction works of the remaining 3 blocks were completed and
acceptance certificates of completion were granted in current year. The
properties were therefore delivered to the customers and revenue was
recognised in current year.
BRT3ENEETRERIRIERTRIWEZSENFREE Bt
RFEEEMEF X YEIL RN
Zone D2 Villas The construction works of the villas were completed. 8 villas with a total saleable
D2[& lE S area of approximately 5,000 square meters are held for sale.

BIEEM TR R T - 4 7] & E & 49 35,000°F 77 K B98I Bl 82 T 45
fEH &
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Property type Status

YEER iR
Zone E Hotel and high-rise apartment buildings with  The construction works of high-rise apartment buildings were completed and
Ef& retail outlets and car parking spaces most of the units were sold in the last financial year.

BIEREEASE  AKREHRFEL

Zone F Residential and commercial complexes with
Fl& car parking spaces

FERBESEE UREEM

BEAEMNEETECR LAMBEFERTERFOENCHE-

The hotel building was under construction and the pre-sale permit was granted.
The acceptance certificate of completion is expected to be obtained in second
half of 2019. During current year, the Group changed intention to operate the
hotel under franchising arrangement instead of held for sale. Constructing area
of approximately 31,000 square meters of the hotel building are included in
property, plant and equipment.

BIENERERT REEHAHFCRE - TRRTRIKEERHRZ
E-NETHERE - ARFE AEERF A ARBRITEE LK
EBIEMIERF LS O B/EEREEA31,0007 T KRB AME  H&E
e

There are 6 blocks of residential and commercial complexes in this zone.

ARBoEEFEMBEEAEZ

The construction works of 3 blocks of residential and commercial complexes
were completed. Most of units in 1 block were sold in the last financial year.
Another 2 blocks” acceptance certificates of completion were obtained in current
year and therefore delivered to the customers and revenue was recognised in the
current year.

MEEERHELEENELEIECERT - 1B ARE S B2 L EE
WEFHE - BIMENTRRTRWEFZSERAERERE AL &6
BEREFPXNYRILHERYA -

The construction works of the remaining 3 blocks of residential and commercial
complexes are in progress and pre-sale permits were granted. The acceptance
certificates of completion are expected to be obtained in the first half of 2020.
BTIETERHESEENRE IK{WFEEA% SR HEEFAEDR
He TRRERTRHRBEEEF IR _ZE_ZF L¥FRE -
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(i1

For property development segment in Liuzhou Zhenghe, an area of
approximately 141,000 square meters (2018: 90,000 square meters) was sold
and generated a segment revenue of approximately HK$811,012,000 for
the current year (2018: HK$531,663,000). A segment profit of approximately
HK$52,273,000 was recorded for the current year (2018: HK$4,253,000). The
high sales figures in the year was mainly due to newly completed units in
Zone C, Zone D1 and Zone F were delivered to customers during the current
year.

An external expert was engaged to help to assess the fair value of the
properties development project as at 31 March 2019. For those properties
which had completed the construction work and were held for sale, a
market comparison method by making reference to comparable sales
transactions as available in the relevant market was used. For those
properties still under construction, the value was derived by using a market
comparison method with the assumption that the construction works of the
properties would have been completed at the date of valuation and have
taken into account the construction costs expected and costs that will be
expended to complete the development. No impairment loss is required
for the year ended 31 March 2019 as the net realisable value is higher than
carrying amount.

Liuzhou Zhenghe will continue to develop the Phase Il of Zhenghe City and
the Group is actively looking for other property development opportunities
in Guangxi or other provinces in the PRC.

For the new hotel business in Liuzhou Zhenghe which is located in Zone
E1 with gross floor area of approximately 31,000 square meters. During the
year, the Group entered into a franchising agreement with a well-known
international hotel franchisee to operate the hotel under the franchising
requested standards. The construction and renovation works of the hotel
building are still in progress and expected to commence operation not
later than 2021. Segment loss of HK$4,689,000 mainly represented initial
franchise fee and finance cost for entered into the franchising arrangement.

(if)
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Financial services

A wholly foreign owned enterprise (the “WFOE”) in the China (Shanghai) Pilot Free
Trade Zone was established to carry out financing business in China with total
injected capital of USD35 million (approximately RMB225 million). The scope of
business of the WFOE includes finance leasing, leasing, purchasing of leased assets in
domestic and foreign markets, disposal of residual value and maintenance of leased
assets, provision of consultation and guarantees for lease transactions and engaging
in commercial factoring business.

In current year, the financial services business was affected significantly in view of
the challenging business environment faced in China. Our clients in the factoring
business experienced a severe blow in this tough business environment in China
and defaulted two installments of interest payment in the current year. Although
the principal amount of factoring receivables are not matured as at 31 March
2019, the significantly impairment and expected credit losses were provided for
these receivables due to the defaulted interest payment and assessment of the
recoverability of the debt. As a result, an impairment loss of HK$93,909,000 on
factoring receivables was made in current year.

During the current year, this segment recorded approximately HK$16,686,000
interest income (2018: HK$11,670,000) and the segment loss was approximately
HK$94,808,000 (2018: segment profit of HK$6,255,000). The substantial segment loss
was mainly due to the aforesaid impairment loss of HK$93,909,000 was made for
the factoring receivables after credit evaluations.

The carrying amount of factoring receivables and loan receivables arising from
financing segment were at HK$40,174,000 and HK$140,013,000 after deducting
allowance of impairment loss of HK$96,474,000 and HK$7,036,000 respectively for
the year.
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The Group adhered to a prudent risk management policy, with this segment
continuously carrying out rigorous and regular review of credit risk over all the
existing and new finance leasing clients. The Group will continue to adopt a careful
and prudent credit risk management strategy and closely monitored recoverability to
ensure prompt follow-up action is taken to receive any overdue debt.

Other operations

Other operations of the Group include the provision of consultancy services,
operation of e-commerce platforms and an investment in a gold mine. No
revenue was generated from these other operations during the current year and
the loss incurred was approximately HK$794,000 (2018: HK$721,000). The Group’s
management will continue to review the situation regularly and explore any possible
solution to generate returns for the shareholders.

The 27% effective equity interest in the gold mine in the Republic of Kyrgyz was
fully impaired in previous year. The construction of mining plants and other
infrastructure is in progress and test-run of the mining production has commenced
in current year. The Company’s shareholding in the gold mine had been pledged to
secure a bank loan borrowed by the mining company to finance its operation.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES AND
ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

There was no material acquisitions and disposal of subsidiaries and associated
companies during the current year.

REBERERIENRBREIRBR - Ko B TE AT
BERENHRERETPETEERERNEE
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Finance position, liquidity and gearing

As at 31 March 2019, the total assets and liabilities of the Group were at
approximately HK$3,317,118,000 (31 March 2018: HK$4,541,320,000) and
approximately HK$2,214,816,000 (31 March 2018: HK$3,210,644,000) respectively.
The Group recorded a total equity of approximately HK$1,102,302,000 as at 31
March 2019 (31 March 2018: HK$1,330,676,000).

The Group recorded net current assets of approximately HK$793,891,000 as
at 31 March 2019 (31 March 2018: HK$1,143,863,000). The bank balances and
cash as at 31 March 2019 was approximately HK$911,602,000 (31 March 2018:
HK$1,167,633,000), of which most were denominated in Hong Kong dollars,
Renminbi, Euro and US dollars.

The Group’s current ratio (defined as current assets divided by current liabilities) was
1.36 (31 March 2018: 1.36).

As at 31 March 2019, the Group had total borrowing amounted to approximately
HK$667,985,000 (31 March 2018: HK$962,141,000) which were denominated in
Renminbi. The breakdowns are as follows:

(i) Secured bank and other borrowings amounted to approximately
HK$596,543,000 (31 March 2018: HK$724,922,000) with effective interest rates
in the ranges of 6.5% to 12%;

(i) Unsecured other borrowings amounted to approximately HK$9,374,000 (31
March 2018: HK$157,453,000) with fixed interest rate of 18%; and
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(i) Interest free loan due to third parties, non-controlling interests and
ultimate holding company amounted to approximately HK$782,000 (31
March 2018: HK$15,954,000), approximately HK$59,511,000 (31 March
2018: HK$61,508,000) and approximately HK$1,775,000 (31 March 2018:
HK$2,304,000) respectively.

The gearing ratio, as a ratio of total borrowings to total equity, as at 31 March 2019
was 0.61 (31 March 2018: 0.72).

Financial resources

During the year, the Group’s operations continued to be mainly financed by internal
resources, borrowings as well as proceeds raised from equity financing exercise in
December 2016. The management believes that the Group will generate its liquidity
from business operations and will consider making use of further equity financing
when necessary.

Use of proceeds from fund raising activities

In December 2016, the Company placed up to 1,280,000,000 new ordinary shares at
a price of HK$1.25 per ordinary share (the “Placing”). The net proceeds raised were
approximately HK$1,587,200,000 and as at 31 March 2019, the total unutilised net
proceeds were approximately HK$900,400,000.

Due to the development of NGSN is slower than expected, the Group believed it
would be in the interests of the Company and its shareholders to re-allocate the
intended use of the un-utilised proceeds from the Placing to segments where
revenue can be generated sooner.
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The following table sets forth a breakdown of use of proceeds up to 31 March 2019 TXR&FHINEZ - ZT—NF=A=+—HHNAE@MN
and the reallocation of the proceeds: BRIERGAARERENEN S :

Net proceeds

from the Placing Proceeds utilised for the year ended Un-utilised
in December EBANMEHE Reallocation of  proceeds as at
2016 31 March 2017 31 March 2018 31 March 2019 the proceeds 31 March 2019

BZ 8z Bz RZB-N%F

“E-RF Bt ZB-\§ ZEB-hE =B=t+-H
+-A®& =A=t+-BA =ZA=+-A =ZA=+-B FHBHEN HABAN
RERERRE LFEE LFEE LFEE ENOE FBRE

HKS million HKS million HKS million HKS million HKS million HKS million
FE#T BERT FE¥T BEET BEET FEET

Development of the Next HET—RBSEEHE:

Generation Settlement Network:

(i) Hardware and software () BE M R 1,111.0 (23.7) (25.3) - (952.5) 1095

(ii) Research and development (i)t 3 3175 (73) (24 - (284.5) 233
Expand the settlement and clearing & BEMIERAE B EE

services through EMI license R % - - - - 30.0 30.0
Set up subsidiaries in Mid-Asia for ~ 7E R 32 X [T B A B

application of payment licenses LA 35 S 15 K2 ER - - - - 200 20.0
General working capital —REEES 158.7 (50.8) (48.6) (44.2) 134.9 150.0
Potential investment opportunity in - & BRI E £ M E

the Fintech industry RE#S - - - - 567.6 567.6
Use in financing business REEKRR - - 117.7) - 117.7 -
Repayment of loan related to BEENERAEER

the property development business & BRI E - - (240.8) (126.0) 366.8 -

15872 (81.8) (4348) (170.2) - 900.4
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It is submitted that the current expected timeframe and detailed breakdown for the
un-utilised proceeds is as follows:

(@) Approximately HK$109,500,000 is to be applied to the hardware and software
for the NGSN platform by March 2022;

(b)  Approximately HK$23,300,000 is to be applied to the research and
development on the technical side of the NGSN by March 2022;

(0 Approximately HK$30,000,000 is to be applied to further expand the
settlement and clearing services for commercial and individual customers
through EMI license by March 2022;

(d)  Approximately HK$20,000,000 is to be applied to set up subsidiaries in
Mid-Asia for the application of EMI license or payment licenses to provide
settlement or payment services for commercial and individual customers by
March 2022;

(e)  Approximately HK$150,000,000 is to be applied to general working capital of
the Group for the coming three years, HK$50.0 million each financial year;
and

(f)y  Approximately HK$567,600,000 million, which is the balancing figures, is to be
applied for potential investment opportunity in the Fintech industry.

For more details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 10 July
2019.

Share capital
As at 31 March 2019, the Company had 20,319,072,320 shares of ordinary shares in
issue and the total equity of the Group was approximately HK$1,102,302,000.

Charges on assets

As at 31 March 2019, certain properties held for sale with carrying amount
of approximately HK$660,742,000 (31 March 2018: HK$827,943,000) and
certain property, plant and equipment with carrying amount of approximately
HK$43,777,000 (31 March 2018: nil) respectively, were pledged to secure certain
bank and other borrowings granted to the Group.
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Contingent liabilities

The Group had provided guarantees in respect of mortgage facilities granted by
certain banks in connection with the mortgage loans entered into by purchasers
of the Group’s properties. Pursuant to the terms of the guarantees, if there is any
default of the mortgage payments by these purchasers, the Group is responsible for
repaying the outstanding mortgage loans together with accrued interests thereon
and any penalty owed by the defaulted purchaser to banks, the Group is then
entitled to take over the legal title of the related properties. The guarantee period
commences from the dates of granting the relevant mortgage loans and ends after
the buyer obtains the individual property ownership certificate. As at 31 March 2019,
the guarantee given to banks for the above-mentioned mortgage facilities amounted
to approximately HK$880,758,000 (31 March 2018: HK$747,359,000).

Foreign exchange exposure

As part of the Group’s assets and liabilities are denominated in Renminbi, US dollars,
Euro and Hong Kong dollars, in order to minimise the foreign exchange risk, the
Group aims to utilise the fund for transactions that are denominated in the same
currency.

EMPLOYMENT AND REMUNERATION POLICES

As at 31 March 2019, the Group had approximately 140 employees. The employees’
salaries are reviewed and adjusted annually based on their performance and
experience. The Group’s employee benefits include performance bonus, medical
insurance, mandatory provident fund scheme, local municipal government
retirement scheme and education subsidy to encourage continuous professional
development of staff.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
The Group faces a number of risks and uncertainties on its operation and the key
risks and uncertainties are listed as follows:

Property market and operation risk

The business of the Group as a property developer in the PRC is subject to extensive
governmental regulations. The Group must comply with various requirements
mandated by the PRC laws and regulations, including the policies and procedures
established by local authorities. Policies and measures introduced or which may
be introduced by the PRC government and local authorities may lead to changes
in market condition and sentiment, including price instability and an imbalance
between supply of, and demand for, properties in Liuzhou City. The PRC government
implemented a series of regulations and policies on the property market to exert
direct and indirect influence to control the supply of land for property development,
raise the benchmark interest rates of commercial banks, place limitations for
commercial banks to give out loans to property developers and mortgage loans to
purchasers, impose additional restriction on foreign direct investment, increase taxes
and levies on property sales, slow down inflation of property prices, and dampen
property speculation.
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A series of governmental policies and regulation measures on the real estate market
may tamper the Group’s ability to finance, acquire land for new development,
generate sufficient operating cash flows and positive profit. Further, the
implementation of the laws and regulations introduced by the PRC government
may lead to changes in market condition and sentiment, price instability and lack
of demand in the properties market of Liuzhou City. There is no assurance that
the property market in Liuzhou City will not decline significantly and there will be
no additional measures implemented by the relevant PRC government and local
authorities to curb the growth of the property market, or that there will not be
material adverse changes in the PRC economy and property market as a result of
the PRC government’s policies. Any such changes could have a material and adverse
effect on the revenue, business operation and profitability of the Group.

Interest rate risk

The Group relied on interest bearing debt as one of the important financing sources
to fund its operations and all of the loans are Renminbi denominated, thus any
changes in interest rate in the PRC will affect the costs of capital of the Group.
The Group has implemented certain interest rate management which includes,
among the others, close monitoring of interest rate movements and refinancing on
existing banking facilities or entering into new banking facilities when good pricing
opportunities arise.

Credit risk or counterparty default risk

The main revenue generated from the Group’s financing business was interest
income from leasing parties. There are risks related to these counterparties unable
to fulfill their contractual obligations under lease agreements, financing agreements,
other financial and relevant transaction agreements. The Group assesses its
counterparty default risk prior to entering into any agreement through a rigorous
selection process and only deal with those counterparties that meet its internal
selection criteria and its initial due diligence check. Besides the Group will ongoing
monitoring the receivable collection status for taking necessary actions if needed.

Foreign investment risk

The Group’s settlement business covers different overseas countries. The Group
needs to face different political landscape and may expose to risks likes political and
economic instability, foreign exchange controls and change in regulations on local
business operations in certain countries. The Group closely monitors possible risks
and environment changes and implement immediate measures to minimise any
potential impact.
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Information security and data privacy risk

The Group’s settlement business involves handling a large amount of personal
data and commercial and/or operational data. The Group failure to maintain
control over customer, commercial and/or operational data leads to a loss of data,
including a failure to prevent or detect a malicious attack on our system, may result
in reputational harm, regulatory investigations and potential fines. The Group
continues review our data privacy policies and practices with reference to changes in
privacy laws and regulation in the places we operate in; strengthened due diligence
and controls with respect to third party data processors; and taking compliance
assessments by data privacy teams across operations of the Group. In addition,
Information security is ensured through effective management systems, encryption,
access restrictions and process protocols.

Financial crime risk

The Group’s failure to comply with applicable laws and regulations relating to
International Sanctions, Anti-Money Laundering and Anti-Bribery and Corruption
may result in legal or regulatory penalties, material financial loss or reputational
damage. The Group has implemented certain financial crime risk management
activities, which include adherence to anti-money laundering and sanctions policies
and the application of core controls such as client due-diligence screening and
monitoring.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICES AND PERFORMANCE

Environment protection is critical to the long term development of the Group. The
Group has endeavoured to comply with laws and regulations regarding environment
protection and adopted effective measures to ensure that the construction sites
meet the applicable local standards and ethics in respect of environment protection.
Sustainability initiatives were held in construction sites by implementing internal
energy saving and recycling activities for the community to promote and educate
awareness of environment protection.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group has on-going review the changes in enacted laws and regulations
affecting the operations and changes are brought to the attention of relevant
employees and relevant operating units when necessary. During the year ended 31
March 2019, the Group is not aware of any material non-compliance with laws and
regulations which are significant to the operations of the Group.
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Management’s Statement
BHERE

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH SUPPLIERS, CONTRACTORS AND
CUSTOMERS

The Group has developed long-standing relationships with a number of suppliers
and contractors after years of cooperation. The Group will conduct appraisal of the
performance of suppliers and contractors regularly to ensure the product quality.

The Group has committed to provide satisfactory services to each customer in order
to maintain our brand competitiveness. The Group maintains close contact with the
customers and had regular review the requirements of customers and complaint.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express our gratitude to the shareholders
of the Company and business associates for their continued support, and extend
our sincere appreciation to all management and staff for their ongoing dedication,
commitments and contributions throughout the year.

On behalf of the Board
International Business Settlement Holdings Limited

Yuen Leong
DIRECTOR

Hong Kong, 25 June 2019
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Biographical Details of Directors

EFRERH

YUEN LEONG

Executive Director

Mr. Yuen Leong, aged 61, was appointed as an executive Director of the Company on
1 January 2008. Mr. Yuen holds a master degree in mechanical engineering from the
Shanghai Jiao Tong University and was a senior research analyst of {22 & 73 E
F.0) (Fujian Provincial Research and Development Center®) from 1985 to 1991. Mr.
Yuen has over ten years of experience in corporate management and operation.

LUAN LI

Executive Director

Ms. Luan Li, aged 50, was appointed as an executive Director of the Company on
20 August 2009. Ms. Luan graduated from the former 1t E 5 KE (Beijing
Experimental University*) in 1990 majored in English for Foreign Enterprises. Ms.
Luan has over 20 years of experience in mineral resources trading, real estate
development and investment in the agricultural industry. From 1991 to 1992, Ms.
Luan was the manager of Guangzhou Branch of Leunson Trans Tech Corp. (USA)
which was principally engaged in the business of mineral resources and equipment
export trading. From 1992 onwards, Ms. Luan was appointed as a member of senior
management team of several multinational companies in Hong Kong and Mainland
China which were principally engaged in real estate investment and development
business and investment in the agricultural industry.

* The English name is for identification purpose only.
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Biographical Details of Directors

EFRERH

HU JIANJUN

Executive Director

Mr. Hu Jianjun, aged 56, was appointed as an executive Director of the Company
on 22 August 2017. Mr. Hu completed an accounting program offered by Jiangxi
University of Finance and Economics in July 1997. He was awarded a master degree
of business administration in public sector management by the University of South
Australia in September 2003. He gained the accreditation as a senior economist
from Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (‘ICBC") in September 1997 and the
qualification as a PRC certified financial analyst in September 2007.

Mr. Hu has 38 years of experience in the financial industry. He started his career in
Nanchang Branch of the People’s Bank of China in February 1979. From October
1984 to December 2001, he held various important positions in ICBC, including
deputy director of the Deposits Division of Jiangxi Branch, president of Yingtan
Branch, and director of the Planning and Financing Division of Jiangxi Branch.

Mr. Hu joined China Huarong Asset Management Co., Ltd. (“Huarong”) (Stock
Code: 2799), previously known as China Huarong Asset Management Corporation,
in December 2001. Huarong is one of the largest financial asset management
companies in China. He served successively as deputy general manager of Nanchang
Office, deputy general manager of Xi'an Office, general manager of Nanchang Office,
general manager of Customer Marketing Department, director of the President
Office, director of the Board Office, general manager of Beijing Branch and secretary
to the board of directors from December 2001 to April 2017. He has in-depth
knowledge of the financial industry and relevant management experience.

YAP YUNG

Independent non-executive Director

Mr. Yap Yung, aged 45, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director of
the Company on 20 August 2009. Mr. Yap graduated from the University of Hong
Kong in 1995 with a Bachelor’s degree in mechanical engineering. He became a
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants since 1999. He
has also completed an advanced management course held by the London Business
School and the University of Cambridge in 2003. Mr. Yap has over 10 years of
corporate finance and audit experience gained from his previous employment. Mr.
Yap was employed by PricewaterhouseCoopers as an audit manager from 1995 to
2002.
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Biographical Details of Directors

EFRERH

ZHANG GUANGSHENG

Independent non-executive Director

Mr. Zhang Guangsheng, aged 69, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director of the Company on 20 August 2009. Mr. Zhang graduated from [ ERFE#E
Bt (Shangdong Mining Institute®) in 1975 majored in coal mining. Since graduation,
he taught in #2724 B R T2 243 (Fujian Provincial Institute of Coal and Charcoal
Industry®) till 1980. Since 1980, Mr. Zhang has served various posts with the PRC
government. From 1985 to 1998, Mr. Zhang worked in f8i&%& A R BT #t A EE
(Fujian Provincial Government®). During 1998 to 2000, Mr. Zhang was the managing
director and vice general manager of f&EH IREE (Fujian CTS Group™®). Since
2003, Mr. Zhang is the assistant managing officer of 1824 K Z /85 ¥ (the Office
of the Port Opening and Coastal Defense of Fujian Province*).

CHAN SIU TAT

Independent non-executive Director

Mr. Chan Siu Tat, aged 48, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director
of the Company on 23 September 2016. Mr. Chan is the partner of a private equity
company, which is mainly engaged in private equity funds focusing on industries
such as medical and financial internet platform services. Mr. Chan graduated
from The Hong Kong University of Science and Technology in 1994 with a major
in Accounting. He is a Certified Public Accountant (Practising) of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member of The Association
Chartered of Certified Accountants. Mr. Chan possesses over 20 years of experience
in corporate restructuring, financial capital planning and corporate management.
Mr. Chan was an assistant to the chairman from 2011 to 2015 and an executive
director and chief financial officer from April 2002 to August 2006 of China Fire
Safety Enterprise Group Limited (stock code: 445) and was mainly responsible
for corporate strategy, restructuring and financial planning. Mr. Chan was a non-
executive director of China Mining Resources Group Limited (stock code: 340) from
November 2006 to May 2008. In 2007 to 2010, Mr. Chan was a partner and chief
investment officer in an international private equity fund. In 1991 to 2002, Mr. Chan
was a financial controller of a trading and manufacturing group, in which he was
also a deputy of its manufacturing base in the People’s Republic of China. Prior to
working in corporations, Mr. Chan had around five years of auditing experience with
an international accountants firm.

* The English name is for identification purpose only.
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Corporate Governance Report
ERERRE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board believes that good corporate governance is essential to the success of the

Company and to the enhancement of shareholder value. The Company is committed

to building and maintaining high standards of corporate governance. The Board and

the management of the Company have been continually reviewing and enhancing

its corporate governance practices with reference to the principles and the code

provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (“CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14

to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong

Limited (the “Listing Rules”) to ensure compliance with the CG Code.

For the year ended 31 March 2019, the Company has complied with the CG Code
save for the deviation mentioned below:

(@)

In accordance with the code provision A.2.1, the role of Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer (“CEQ”) should not be performed by the same individual.
However, the Company did not officially appoint a Chairman or a CEO during
the year. The responsibilities of the Chairman and daily management of
the Group’s business is handled by the executive Directors collectively and
supported by a team of senior management, which is in turn supported by
staff with relevant expertise and experience.

The Board considers that this arrangement allows for contributions from all
executive Directors with different expertise and is beneficial to the continuity
of the Company’s policies and strategies and the interest of the shareholders
of the Company as a whole. Depending on the future development of the
business of the Company, the Board will review the existing structure and
consider the issue of nominating appropriate candidate to fill up the role of
Chairman and CEO.

Code provision A.2.7 stipulates that the Chairman should at least annually
hold meetings with the independent non-executive Directors without the
presence of other directors. Since the Company has not appointed a new
Chairman and no meeting was held between the Chairman and the non-
executive Directors (including independent non-executive Directors) without
the executive Directors present during the year ended 31 March 2019.

Code provision E.1.2 stipulates that the Chairman should attend the annual
general meeting. The Company does not at present have any officer with the
title Chairman. However, one of the Directors presents at the annual general
meeting held on 13 September 2018 was elected as chairman thereof to
ensure an effective communication with the shareholders thereat.
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(d)  Code provision F.1.3 stipulates that the company secretary should report to
the Chairman and/or the CEO. As the Company did not officially appoint a
Chairman or a CEO, the company secretary reported to the executive Directors
during the year.

Set out below are the details of the Company’s compliance with the CG Code for the
year ended 31 March 2019.

MODEL CODE FOR DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Issuers (the “Model Code™) as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as the
code of conduct regarding directors’ dealing in the securities of the Company. The
Company has made specific enquiry of all Directors and received confirmation from
all Directors that they have fully complied with the required standard set out in the
Model Code during the year ended 31 March 2019.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board Composition

The Board during the year and up to the date of this annual report comprises the
following executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors.

Executive Directors
Mr. Yuen Leong
Ms. Luan Li

Mr. Hu Jianjun

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Yap Yung

Mr. Zhang Guangsheng

Mr. Chan Siu Tat

Mr. Shao Ping (resigned on 4 June 2018)

The Company believes that the current Board composition is well-balanced and of
a diverse mix appropriate for the business of the Company. The biographical details
of the Board members are set out under the section headed “Biographical Details of
Directors” of this annual report.

All Directors, including the independent non-executive Directors, are expressly
identified in all corporate communications where Directors have been mentioned
pursuant to the Listing Rules.

38

International Business Settlement Holdings Limited BB @& ERRAR AR

O TR ERIGMRE A RREEAER
B/ ST HGHER - AR T Y WER
EEERATHER KA AWERENA
WITEEER-

TIEHBE-_ZT-NF=A=T—"HLEFER
REVEBTERERTAIZFHB

ESETRSXZZRETA
ARBCRMA LR P8 AR LM
ANEBETESFRH2BRESTA ([1RETR]])E
REFETARRBFRH2RTTR - ARFE
AEBEFFLBEERRERSER  HENE
ECT-NFZA=T-"BULFEEZEETRHE
HETRIFTE 2 RERE -

E=g

EEEER

REARBEEAFHAY EFSRETIRTE
ERBYFRTES -

BITEE
R
gRIL+
4T S

BUIHRTEE

®BELE

RAEERE

Rzt

MBFELE (KT N\FRAMOBBE)

ARRR EFGRMBKREE YREEAR
AEBNZTTLEE EFENE ZBEFIFER
AEREEREER] 5

REBELTRA 2RBEE(EEBIIFNTES)
ZEMEIRBAESR 2 PTA R RIE T A -



Corporate Governance Report
ERERRE

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Board at all the times had at least three
independent non-executive directors with at least one independent non-executive
director has appropriate professional qualifications on accounting or related
financial management expertise. The total number of independent non-executive
directors representing at least one-third of the Board maintain a strong independent
element on the Board in order to exercise independent judgment.

The Company received, from each independent non-executive Director of the
Company, an annual confirmation of their independence pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules. The Company is satisfied with the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors.

There is no relationship among the members of the Board.

Under Code Provision A.4.3 of the Listing Rules, further appointment of two
independent non-executive Directors who serve more than 9 years should be subject
to a separate resolution to be approved by the shareholders. Both Mr. Yap Yung and
Mr. Zhang Guangsheng have served as independent non-executive Directors for more
than 9 years. During their terms of office, they continue to demonstrate impartial
judgment in performing their duties. Separate resolutions will thus be proposed for
their re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

Board Diversity policy

In order to achieve a sustainable and balanced development, the Company
considers the enhancement of diversity at the Board level as an essential element in
facilitating the achievement of its strategic objectives and sustainable development.
On 26 November 2018, the Board updated its board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) in view of enhancing the combination of competencies and
diversity of perspectives in the boardroom. The summary of the Board Diversity
Policy is disclosed as below:

. the Company acknowledge the Board should have a balance of skills,
experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of
the Company’s business;

. the Company is committed to equality of opportunity in all aspects of its
business and does not discriminate on the grounds of race, gender, disability,
nationality, religious or philosophical belief, age, sexual orientation, family
status or any other factor;

. in deciding the Board composition, board diversity has been considered from
a number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional experience, skills and knowledge;
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. in forming its perspective on diversity, the Company will also take into
account factors based on its own business model and specific needs from time
to time;

. all Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will
be considered against objective criteria, having due regard to the benefits of
diversity to the board. The selection of candidates will be based on a range
of diverse perspectives, including but not limited to, gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional experience, skills and knowledge;

. the ultimate decision will be based upon the merits and contribution the
selected candidates will bring to the Board; and

. the Nomination Committee will report on the Board’s composition under
diversified perspectives, monitor the implementation of the Board Diversity
Policy, review the Board Diversity Policy to ensure effectiveness and
recommend for any revisions to the Board for consideration and approval.

Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for formulating the business plans and strategies,
monitoring the business performance and internal control, approving investment
proposals and reviewing the finance performance of the Group. The daily operations
of the Group and execution of the business plans are delegated to the management
of the Group. Prior to entering into any significant transactions, Board approval
should be obtained. In addition, the Board has established Board Committees and
has delegated to these Board Committees various responsibilities set out in their
terms of reference respectively.

The Company has established written guidelines on no less exacting terms than the
Model Code for employees who are likely to be in possession of unpublished inside
information of the Company. No incident of non-compliance of the guidelines was
noted.

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for Directors and
officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against its Directors arising out of
corporate activities.

All Directors shall ensure that they carry out duties in good faith, in compliance
with applicable laws and regulations, and in the interests of the Company and its
shareholders at all times. In addition, every director should ensure sufficient time
and attention to the affairs of the Company. Directors have satisfactory attendance
rates at both Board meetings and Committee meetings.
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Board meetings and general meetings

Directors’ Attendance Records

The Board meets regularly with additional meetings if and when required. During
the year ended 31 March 2019, five Board meetings and one annual general meeting

EEEEERKRRAE

EBHEDE

MERE BERTHERGE - REE-T—AN
FZA=+—BLEFERN ARFERTARES

(“AGM”) of the Company were held. Details of the Directors” attendance records are @@ K —ARFEERS ([RERAFEAZ]) o
as follows: EFEHREEBIHBOT:
Attended/Held
HE BT
AGM held on
Board 13 September
Meetings 2018
R-ZFE-N\F
hA+=H
BITZRR
EZEER BEXRE
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Yuen Leong RESEE 5/5 11
Ms. Luan Li BN 2+ 5/5 17
Mr. Hu Jianjun tHRE L 5/5 11
Independent non-executive Directors BB TEE
Mr. Yap Yung HEEEYE 5/5 11
Mr. Zhang Guangsheng RIELERE 5/5 11
Mr. Chan Siu Tat PR ES A 5/5 11
Mr. Shao Ping (Note (1)) BB se A (B E(T)) N/AT3E R N/AT 38 A
Notes: (1) resigned on 4 June 2018 e (1) RZZ—/N\FXAMBFITE
Board Practices and Conduct of Meetings ETESEEARER

All Directors have the opportunity to include matters in the agenda for a regular
Board meeting. Notices of regular Board meetings are sent to Directors at least 14
days before the meeting date. For other Board and committee meetings, reasonable
time is generally given.

The Directors have to declare their interests in the subject matters to be considered
in the relevant meeting and the director, who or whose associates have any interest
in any proposed resolution, must abstain from voting and will not be counted in
quorum.
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The agenda together with all appropriate, complete and reliable information were
sent to all Directors at least 3 days before each Board meeting to enable them to
make informed decisions. The Board and each Director also have separate and
independent access to the senior management when necessary.

Directors can, upon reasonable request, seek independent professional advice in
appropriate circumstances, at the expenses of the Company. The Board shall resolve
to provide separate independent professional advice to Directors to assist the
relevant Directors to discharge their duties to the Company.

Minutes of each Board meeting will be drafted by the Company Secretary to record
the matters discussed and decision resolved at the Board meetings and circulated
to the Board for comment within a reasonable time after each meeting. The final
Board minutes are kept by the Company Secretary and are available for inspection
by Directors.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Under code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles and responsibilities of chairman
and CEO should be separated and should not be performed by the same individual.
The Company did not officially have Chairman and CEO up to the date of this annual
report. The responsibilities of the Chairman and daily management of the Group’s
business is handled by the executive Directors collectively and being supported by
a team of senior management which is in turn supported by staff with relevant
expertise and experience.

The Board considers that this arrangement allows for contributions from all
executive Directors with different expertise and is beneficial to the continuity of
the Company’s policies and strategies and the interest of the shareholders of the
Company as a whole. Depending on the future development of the business of the
Company, the Board will review the existing structure and consider the issue of
nominating an appropriate candidate to fill up the role of Chairman and CEO.

Appointment, Re-election and removal of Directors
The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal of Directors
are laid down in the Company’s bye-laws.

The Nomination Committee is to be responsible for reviewing the Board
composition, monitoring the appointment and succession planning of Directors and
assessing the independence of independent non-executive Directors. In selecting
and approving candidate for directorship, the Board will consider various criteria
such as education, qualification, experience, integrity and the potential contribution
to the Group.
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Each of the independent non-executive Directors has a service contract with a
term of service for one year and the contract will be renewed automatically for a
successive term of one year, each commencing from the next day after the expiry of
the current appointment term, unless terminated by either the independent non-
executive Director or the Company.

In accordance with the Company’s bye-laws, one-third of the Directors of the
Company for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three, the
number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation
provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once
in every three years. If an independent non-executive Director serves more than
nine years, his/her further appointment should be subject to a separate resolution
to be approved by the shareholders of the Company. Any new Director appointed
by the Board to fill a causal vacancy or as an addition to the Board shall submit
himself/herself for re-election by shareholders at the first general meeting after
appointment.

Induction and Continuous Professional Development

Newly appointed Director will be arranged a comprehensive, formal and tailored
induction which includes provision of key guidelines, documents and publications
relevant to their roles, responsibilities and ongoing obligations; a briefing on the
Company’s structure, businesses, risk management and other governance practices
and meeting with other fellow Directors so as to help the newly appointed Directors
familiarise with the management, business and governance policies and practices of
the Company, and ensure that they have a proper understanding of the operations
and businesses of the Company.

The Company encourages its Directors to participate in continuous professional
development courses and seminars organized by professional institutions
or professional firms and read materials on relevant topics so that they can
continuously update and further improve their relevant knowledge and skills.

On 20 June 2018, the Company provided an in-house training seminar
which seminar was conducted by an external counsel covering the Directors’
responsibilities and compliance issues under the Listing Rules and the Companies
Ordinance. All existing Directors attended this seminar. In addition to this in-house
training seminar and reading materials, the Directors were provided with other
materials in relation to the regular updates to corporate governance practices,
statutory requirements, listing rules and other relevant topics related to listed
company to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills from time to time.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board is supported by three committees with defined roles and responsibilities
for each committee. Such committees are the remuneration committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”), nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”)
and audit committee (the “Audit Committee”). All committees were set up with a
written terms of reference, which are in line with the relevant CG Code and available
to shareholders on the Company’s website, to deal clearly with its authority and
duties. The committees will report their findings and decisions and make necessary
recommendations to the Board. Minutes of the committee meetings will be drafted
by the Company Secretary and circulated for the comment to the members of the
committee within a reasonable time. The final version of the committee minutes
will be kept by the company secretary (the “Company Secretary”) and such minutes
are open for inspection by any Director. All committees are provided with sufficient
resources to discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s
expense.

Details of each committee and work performed during the year are as follows:

Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee is comprised of independent non-executive Directors
and the members are as follows:

Mr. Zhang Guangsheng (Chairman of Nomination Committee)
Mr. Yap Yung

Mr. Chan Siu Tat

Mr. Shao Ping (resigned on 4 June 2018)

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing the size,
structure and composition of the Board, making recommendations to the Board
on the appointment and succession planning of Directors with reference to the
Company’s corporate strategy and assessing the independence of the independent
non-executive Directors. On 26 November 2018, the Board adopted a nomination
policy (the “Nomination Policy”) on the recommendation of the Nomination
Committee, which describes the procedure by which the Company will select
candidate(s) for possible inclusion in the Board. The Board considers the Nomination
Policy could strengthen the transparency and accountability of the Board and
Nomination Committee and election of Directors. In assessing the suitability of a
proposed candidate before recommending to the Board for it to consider and make
recommendations to shareholders for election as Directors at general meetings
or appoint as Directors to fill casual vacancies, the Nomination Committee will
consider: (i) character and integrity of the proposed candidate; (ii) qualifications
of the proposed candidate including professional qualifications, skills, knowledge
and experience that are relevant to the Company’s business and corporate strategy;
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(iii) accomplishment and experience of the proposed candidate in the business from
time to time conducted, engaged in or invested in by any member of the Group; (iv)
commitment of the proposed candidate in respect of available time and relevant
interest; (v) requirement for the Board to have independent directors in accordance
with the Listing Rules and whether the candidates would be considered independent
with reference to the independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules; (vi)
Board Diversity Policy and any measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the
Board; and (vii) such other perspectives appropriate to the Company’s business. The
Nomination Committee also ensures the Board has a balance of skills, experience
and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s
business. The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are in line with the
CG Code and are accessible through the Company’s website.

The Nomination Committee met two times during the year ended 31 March
2019, amongst other matters, to review the size, structure and composition of
the Board, review the suitability of the candidates to be nominated to the Board
and to consider the independence of all the independent non-executive Directors.
Individual attendance of each member of Nomination Committee is set out below:
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Nomination Committee Members Attended/Held
REZEERE HE BT
Mr. Zhang Guangsheng RILERE 2/2
Mr. Yap Yung HELE 22
Mr. Chan Siu Tat PR iE A 212
Mr. Shao Ping (resigned on 4 June 2018) BFEE (RZE—NFRAMNAET) N/A 38 FA
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Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee is comprised of independent non-executive Directors
and the members are as follows:

Mr. Chan Siu Tat (Chairman of Remuneration Committee)
Mr. Yap Yung

Mr. Zhang Guangsheng

Mr. Shao Ping (resigned on 4 June 2018)

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for making recommendations to the
Board regarding the Group’s policies and structure for remuneration of Directors
and senior management of the Group; determining the remuneration packages
of Directors and senior management of the Group; and reviewing and approving
incentive schemes and performance-based remuneration. The terms of reference of
the Nomination Committee are in line with the CG Code and are accessible through
the Company’s website.

The Remuneration Committee held one meeting during the year ended 31 March
2019 to review and determine the remuneration packages of the Directors of the
Company and make recommendations to the Board. The individual attendance of
each member of Remuneration Committee is set out below:
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Attended/Held
Remuneration Committee Members FMEEERE HEBT
Mr. Chan Siu Tat BRAESE 11
Mr. Yap Yung EBEE 11
Mr. Zhang Guangsheng RLERE 11
Mr. Shao Ping (resigned on 4 June 2018) B FEE (RZE—NFRAMNABE) N/AT 38 A
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Audit Committee
The Audit Committee is comprised of independent non-executive Directors and the
members are as follows:

Mr. Yap Yung (Chairman of Audit Committee)
Mr. Zhang Guangsheng

Mr. Chan Siu Tat

Mr. Shao Ping (resigned on 4 June 2018)

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to manage the relationship between
the Company and its external auditor and monitor the audit scope and the process,
to review and supervise the financial reporting process, internal control system and
risk management and to provide advice and comments to the Board. The terms of
reference of the Audit Committee are in line with the CG Code and are accessible
through on the Company’s website.

The Audit Committee held three meetings during the year ended 31 March 2019
for considering re-appointment of auditors, reviewing the annual results of the
Group for the year ended 31 March 2018 and the interim results of the Group for
the six months ended 30 September 2018 and discussing with the auditors of the
Company on internal control procedures and financial reporting systems, auditors’
independence, auditors’ remuneration and reviewing the risk management and
internal control system of the Group. The Individual attendance of each member of
Audit Committee is set out below:
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Attended/Held
Audit Committee Members EREEERE HEBT
Mr. Yap Yung HEBEEE 33
Mr. Zhang Guangsheng RILERE 3/3
Mr. Chan Siu Tat PR ESL A 33
Mr. Shao Ping (resigned on 4 June 2018) B FEE (RZE—NFRAMNABE) N/AT 38 A
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Corporate Governance Functions

As at 31 March 2019, no corporate governance committee has been established.
During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Board, with the help of the Audit
Committee, was responsible for determining the policy for the corporate governance
of the Company and performing the corporate governance duties below:

. developing and reviewing the Group’s policies and practices on corporate
governance and making recommendations;

. reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous professional
development of the directors and senior management of the Company;

. reviewing and monitoring the Group’s policies and practices on compliance
with all applicable legal and regulatory requirements;

. developing, reviewing and monitoring any codes of conduct and compliance
manuals applicable to employees and directors of the Group; and

. reviewing the Group’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure
requirements in the Corporate Governance Report.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES ON THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial statements
of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2019.

The Board is responsible for to prepare balanced, clear and understandable financial
statements for each financial period which give a true and fair view of the state of
affairs of the Group and other disclosures required under the Listing Rules and other
statutory and regulatory requirements. The Directors are responsible for ensuring
that (i) appropriate accounting policies are selected and applied consistently, (i)
judgements and estimates made are prudent and reasonable and (iii) the financial
statements are prepared on a going concern basis.

The responsibility of external auditor of the Company is to form an independent
opinion, based on their audit, on those consolidated financial statements prepared
by the Board and to report their opinion to the shareholders of the Company.
A statement by the external auditors of the Company about their reporting
responsibility is set out under the section headed “Independent Auditor’s Report” of
this annual report.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for maintaining sound and effective risk management
and internal control systems of the Group to safeguard shareholders’ investment
and the Group’s assets. No risk management committee has been established and
the Board, with the help of the Audit Committee, reviews the overall effectiveness
and oversees the management of the Group in the design, implementation and
monitoring of the risk management and internal control systems of the Group. The
risk management and internal control systems are designed to provide reasonable,
but not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss and to manage
rather than eliminate risks of failure in operational systems and achievement of the
Group’s objectives.

The Board continuously monitors the Group’s risk management framework, review
the Group significant risks and conducts an annual review of the effectiveness
of the risk management system. The Board determines the nature and extent of
significant risks it is willing to take in achieving the strategic objectives of the Group.
The Group’s risk management and internal control systems include, among others,
the relevant financial, operational and compliance control and risk management
procedures or policies, a well-established organizational structure with a clearly
defined line of responsibilities and authorities. Each department is accountable
for its daily operations and is required to implement the policies adopted from
the Board from time to time. Self-evaluation has been conducted annually to
confirm that control policies are properly complied with by each department.
The management had reported to the Board and the Audit Committee on the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems during the year
ended 31 March 2019.

The Company does not have internal audit department. During the year ended
31 March 2019, Directors, through the Audit Committee with the help of external
consulting firm, have reviewed the effectiveness of the internal control system of the
Group. The Company has engaged an external consulting firm to conduct a review of
the effectiveness of the system of internal control of the major operating subsidiaries
of the Group. Areas for improvement have been identified and appropriate measures
have been taken to provide assurance that key operational risks are identified and
managed.
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The Company has an established insider information policy which provides a
general guide to the Company’s Directors, officers, senior management and relevant
employees in handling confidential information, monitoring information disclosure
and responding to enquiries.

The Board with the help of Audit Committee and the external consulting firm, have
reviewed the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems of
the Group for the year ended 31 March 2019, which covered all material controls,
including financial, operational and compliance controls and risk management of
the Group and deemed them effective and adequate, despite having identified areas
of improvement.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 March 2019, BDO Limited (‘BDO”) was engaged as the external
auditor of the Company. The remuneration paid or payable to BDO in respect of
audit services and non-audit services are as follows:

ARBIFIETAREERR RARAESE "R
BE RRAEEERAHREENGERZES &
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SETMEBMERQR ([ZERR])BERA
REINERAZERED - EAZBURTS KIERBURFF 2 M3k
FEN SZERFHFBNT :

Fee paid/payable

Nature of services REME e EFEHR
HK$'000

FHET

Audit services in relation to annual results BB E T EENZEHRS 1,760
Review of interim financial statement E P SRR 500
2,260
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chung Yau Tong (“Mr. Chung”) was appointed as the company secretary of the
Company since 1 January 2008. Mr. Chung is a full time employee of the Company
and has day-to-day knowledge of the Company’s affairs. Mr. Chung had complied
with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules for the year and had taken not less than 15 hours
of relevant professional training for the year under review.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for convening a special general meeting by shareholders
and putting forward proposals at shareholders’ meetings

Any one or more shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right
of voting at general meetings of the Company (the “Eligible Shareholder(s)”) shall
at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the company
secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”) deposited at the head office
and principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong at Room 2310, 23rd
Floor, China Resources Building, 26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong, to require a
special general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition, including making proposals or moving a resolution at a
special general meeting.

Eligible Shareholders who wish to convene a special general meeting for the purpose
of making proposals or moving a resolution at a special general meeting must
deposit a written requisition (the “Requisition”) signed by the Eligible Shareholder(s)
concerned to the principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong.

The Requisition must state clearly the name of the Eligible Shareholder(s) concerned,
his/her/their shareholding in the Company, the reason(s) to convene a special
general meeting, the agenda proposed to be included the details of the business(es)
proposed to be transacted in the special general meeting, signed by the Eligible
Shareholder(s) concerned.

If within 21 days of the deposit of the Requisition, the Board has not advised the
Eligible Shareholders of any outcome to the contrary and fails to proceed to convene
a special general meeting, the Eligible Shareholder(s) himself/herself/themselves
may do so in accordance with bye-laws, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the Eligible Shareholder(s) concerned as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the Eligible Shareholder(s) concerned by the Company.
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Making enquiry to the Board

Shareholders of the Company may submit their enquiries and concerns to the Board
in writing by addressing them to the Board by post or delivery to the principal
place of business of the Company in Hong Kong at Room 2310, 23rd Floor, China
Resources Building, 26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The bye-laws of the Company are published on the websites of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) and the Company. There was no change
to the bye-laws of the Company during the year.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS

Major channels to communicate information to Shareholders and the investors
include: the Company’s financial reports (interim and annual reports), annual
general meetings and other general meetings that may be convened, publication
of all disclosed information submitted to the Stock Exchange on the websites of
the Company and Stock Exchange. The Company will continuously ensure the
effectiveness and timeliness of information disclosure to Shareholders and the
investors. The Board welcomes the views of shareholders on matters affecting the
Group and encourages them to attend shareholders’ meetings to communicate any
concerns they might have with the Board or the management directly.

Shareholders of the Company and investors can mail any enquiries, comments,
suggestions and recommendations to the principal place of business of the Company
in Hong Kong at Room 2310, 23rd Floor, China Resources Building, 26 Harbour Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong, the Board or their delegates will reply and response to you
promptly.
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Dividend Policy

The Company considers stable and sustainable returns to shareholders of the
Company to be its goal. It is the policy of the Board, in declaring or recommending
a payment of dividends, to allow our shareholders to participate in the Company’s
profits and for the Company to retain adequate reserves for future growth. On 26
November 2018, the Board adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) on
the recommendation of the Audit Committee in order to promote greater dividend
policy transparency. In deciding whether to recommend the payment of dividend to
the shareholders, the Board will take into account of (i) general business conditions
and other internal or external factors that may have an impact on the business
or financial performance and position of the Company; (i) the financial condition
and results of operations of the Group; (iii) the expected capital requirements and
future expansion plans of the Group; (iv) future prospects of the Group; (v) statutory
and regulatory restrictions; (vi) contractual restrictions on the payment of dividends
by the Group to the shareholders or by the subsidiaries of the Company to the
Company; (vii) taxation considerations; (viii) shareholders’ interests; and (ix) other
factors the Board may deem relevant. The Board may also pay half-yearly or at
other suitable intervals to be settled by it any dividend which may be payable at a
fixed rate if the Board is of the opinion that the profits of the Company justify the
payment.

Whilst the Dividend Policy reflects the Board’s current views on the financial and
cash-flow position of the Group, such dividend policy will continue to be reviewed
from time to time and there can be no assurance that dividends will be recommend
or declared in any particular amount for any given period. The declaration of or
recommendation of declaration of dividends is subject to the absolute discretion
of the Board. Even if the Board decides to recommend and declare dividends, the
form, frequency and amount will depend upon the operations and earnings, capital
requirements and surplus, general financial condition, contractual restrictions and
other factors of and affecting the Group. The payment of dividend is also subject to
applicable laws and regulations and the Company’s constitutional documents.
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PREAMBLE

International Business Settlement Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) stringently adhere to their
environmental and social responsibilities.

Not only has the Group made tremendous progress in its business expansion
and economic development, International Business Settlement Holdings
Limited, and its subsidiaries also have paid great attention to environmental
protection and the fulfillment of their social responsibilities. With a strong
ambition and commitment to forge an eco-friendly, resilient and reliable
enterprise that pioneers in sustainable development compared to its peers
in the industry, the Group never stops its footstep in exploring new ways
to change its business model and operating practice in order to make
contributions to addressing the pressing global climate change-related
challenge.

The Group is pleased to present Environmental, Social and Governance
(“ESG”) Report for FY2018/2019 to demonstrate the Group’s approach and
performance in terms of ESG management and corporate sustainable
development for the financial year ended on 31 March 2019. This ESG report
is prepared in full compliance with the ESG Reporting Guide as set out in
Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

REPORTING PERIOD AND SCOPE OF THE REPORT

This ESG report covers environmental and social performance within the
operational boundaries of the Group that include the Group’s business
segments of property development, international business settlement (“IBS”),
financing business in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), Hong Kong,
Kyrgyzstan, and Lithuania. For corporate governance section, please refer to
page 37 to 53 of the Group’s 2018/2019 Annual Report. The reporting period
of this ESG report is for the financial year 2018/2019 (“FY2018/2019"), from 1
April 2018 to 31 March 2019.
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1.

BOARD INCLUSIVENESS il.
The Group have established a top decision-making layer for ESG management

with senior management as its member, so as to provide strategic guidance

for the Group’s overall ESG management, and report relevant risk control
measures to the Board of Directors in a timely manner, helping them to have

a comprehensive and timely understanding of the Group’s environmental,

social and governance risks and make relevant decisions.

Ex2H

AEERER HEREREERLT &S
RRE HEREEEXRBELET KMAR
SEMERRE HERERTE BIRHEE
MIRE  REFREES 2 AR R IZEH
H i MBS 2 R T AR E MR
5 e iaR AR M ARRE -

OUR GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE OF SUSTAINABILITY

RANATFHEEARE

HEMT SRR REESD

BOARD EE®
MANAGEMENT & 12 [

Develops and initiates sustainability

strategies and guidelines; Steers, supervises and monitors the
B R] R FE A AT B I R R IR implementation of sustainability
3| : practices;
58 EBRERIFEUEER
Identifies the potential risks in HE G
roadmap of business development.
BRI EHEREB T AEER Assesses and manages the risks
% o during operations.
A REE S ERRNRERE -
( Bottom-up: experiences and feedback
BTmE: &R RRE

Top-down: decision making and leadership )

SERVICE CENTRE AR 7§ 7 /0

Executes the policies at different
stages of operations;

RARI Y 2B BUITIERER

Eliminates, abates and control the
risks.

JHBR ~ B AT B R o
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&R ERHE

The corporate social responsibility (‘CSR”) management system of covers the
headquarters and its subsidiaries. The headquarters’ board of Directors is the
highest decision-making body for the CSR work. The Group has established a
CSR Leading Group in Hong Kong's headquarter to implement CSR work plan.
The Investor Relations Department and the Company Secretarial Department
are responsible for the day-to-day liaison in respect of CSR and for dovetailing
with the subsidiaries’ responsible departments and relevant responsible
personnel. The subsidiaries have established their own CSR management
system based on practical conditions.

Board of Directors

BExg

CSR leading group

rEHEETREG/NE

All functional departments at
HK Headquarters

CSR leading body in PRC &
Overseas enterprises’ subsidiaries

£ 27 b Ak 7] ‘:F'&)@?l\ﬁ%f‘ﬁ%’&ﬁjﬂ’\]
5% 300 A 25 SR iRed
STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT Iv.

Effective communication with both internal and external stakeholders is
regarded as essential to the Group in many areas. Not only deliver the Group’s
commitment to long-term value creation to stakeholders who care about
the level of sustainable development of the Group, but also helps the Group
gains a better understanding of those topics material and relevant to different
groups of stakeholders.
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The Investor Relations
Department (Hong Kong)
KEEBERD (BH)

The Company Secretarial
Department (Hong Kong)
RAMER ()
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With the goal to strengthen corporate sustainability approach and

performance while enhancing stakeholders’ awareness of ESG and

sustainability issues, the Group has put tremendous efforts into its internal

and external stakeholder inclusiveness. The Group highly values the feedback

from its stakeholders and takes initiative to build a trustful and supporting

relationship with them through their preferred communication channels,

which are listed in the table below.

Table 1 Communication with Stakeholders

Stakeholders
EHE

Expectations and concerns

A REER

RINREEAIRERRTH RKRE RSN
B E SR e RER N AR
B RHE ARBEEEASRINERFDEZ
SEEHEFHAESZ N AEBREER
B EGRTHERRE WHBTRAEHR
NEBENERRE TPERFREVE(E
HBhRRRR -

= EFNEBB

Communication Channels

BERE

Government and regulatory authorities

B REERE

Shareholders

[

- Compliance with laws and

regulations

- EBSREER

- Sustainable development

- AIREER

- Return on investments

- KRED®

- Corporate governance

- ©&XEA

- Business compliance

- EBEMR

- Supervision on complying with local
laws and regulations
- HETTHMAEEERBANEE

- Routine reports and taxes paid
- ERWmEREARIE

- Regular reports and announcements
- EHWMERIE

- Regular general meetings

- TEHERRXE

- Official Company website
- RRAEAHEM
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Stakeholders Expectations and concerns Communication Channels
BHE EHREER BERE
Employees - Employees’ compensation and - Performance reviews
(== benefits - ERURE
-  EEFBEER
- Career development - Regular meetings and training
- BEZBR - TEHgzREY
- Health and safety in the working - Emails, notice boards, hotline, caring
environment activities with management
- IEREBEREEREZE - BEHLEH AR EEEWE
VEE)
Customers - High-quality products and services —— Customer satisfaction survey
®F - EmEEMRERE - EBPREERAB
- Protect customers’ rights - Face-to-face meetings and on-site
- REEPER visits
- HEYEgREIRSFETD
- Customer service hotline and email
-  BPRBRZELER
Suppliers - Fair and open procurement - Open tendering
HED - RFARERE - AHBE

General public
DR

58 International Business Settlement Holdings Limited

- Win-win cooperation

- BEAf

- Involvement in communities
- Zi ”” = / <

- Business compliance

- EBeM

- Environmental protection
awareness

- RRE#

RREREEERERAT

- Suppliers’ satisfactory assessment

-  HEEREENE

- Face-to-face meetings and on-site
visits

- EHEERRRSFED

- Media conferences and responses to
inquiries

- BRemkUTHNEE
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Materiality Assessment

Since ESG risks and opportunities for companies vary across industries and depend
on specific business patterns of companies, the Group undertakes an annual review
in identifying and understanding its stakeholders’ main concerns and material
interests for the ESG report. In FY2018/2019, the Group engaged its stakeholders to
conduct a materiality assessment survey initiated by a third-party agency in order
to guarantee the accuracy and objectivity of evaluation. Specifically, internal and
external stakeholders including customers, suppliers, business partners, board
members and employees from various business units of the Group were identified
and assessed based on their respective influence and dependence on the Group.
Stakeholders who are considered as important stakeholders were selected and
invited to express their concerns on a list of sustainability issues via an online survey
to pinpoint the ESG issues that were identified as material to the Group’s business
development and strategies. Through a science-based materiality assessment to
prioritise the topics from the entire inventory of ESG issuers, the Group prioritised
the materiality of each topic, which could genuinely reflect the real concern of its
stakeholders on ESG matters and facilitate the Group to develop actions plans for
effective ESG management.

BEEMFAMG
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With respect to this ESG Report, the Group identified “Preventing bribery,
extortion, fraud and money laundering”, “Anti-corruption policies and whistle-

» o« » o«

blowing procedure”, “Health and safety relating to products/services”, “Customer

satisfaction”, “Observing and protecting intellectual property rights”, “Product quality
assurance and recall percentage” and “Protection of customer information and
privacy” as issues of high importance to both the Group and its stakeholders. This
review helped the Group in prioritising its sustainability issues and highlighting the

material and relevant aspects, so as to align them with stakeholders’ expectations.

Besides, aligning to the Sustainability Development Goals, the Group has identified
Target 10: Reducing Inequalities, Target 7: Affordable and Clean Energy and Target
11: Sustainable Cities and Communities as the most important goals through the
survey. The Group is striving to put more resources and energy on this issue to fulfill
both internal and external stakeholders” expectation.

1 REDUCED
INEQUALITIES

A
(=)

v

Ha/ BB o

AFFORDABLE AND
CLEANENERGY

W
N\ P4

T/\/ﬁ /,% Hb/ﬁ ©

SUSTAINABLE CITIES
AND COMMUNITIES

jn

BEfe
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The Group is committed to providing equal opportunities in all human resources and employment
decisions. The Group is targeting to publish non-discrimination polices to reduce inequalities.

REBBNRABANERRERAR S MREHEFEEE - NEEH BIE2EMEEBRBR

To achieve this goal, the Group has committed to searching for alternative energy in the developed
properties and wish to provide customers with clean energy at a reasonable price.

REJWAR AEEBRNREESERYETSHENRS

R R LEAEENBRART I

The Group also put tremendous effort to facilitate the building of sustainable cities and communities
by using more environmentally friendly building materials and reasonable planning of the community.
Through the well-functioned community, the Group hopes that the properties developed by the Group
can contribute to the sustainability of the city and community.

AEETRBAEAERRNEZEMHNSENTRAL BHREFHER T RAER -
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ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY

The Group is committed to ensuring long-term sustainability to the
environment and community where the Group operates. The Group
stringently controls its emissions and consumption of resources, and complies
with all relevant environmental laws and regulations in the PRC and other
areas where the Group operates in its daily operations, including but not
limited to:

. Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China ( &

FEARAFBIREREL) ) ;

. Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and Control of
Atmospheric Pollution ( (/1 #E A R MBI R RIS 2B#&%E) ) ;

. Law of the People’s Republic of China on Prevention and Control of

Water Pollution ( {fr2E A R HEFIBIZKIF2E55685) ) ;

. Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and Control of
Environmental Pollution by Solid Wastes ( {72 A R 2 F1 B [E] 2& B
BEBYSRRIRHAE) )

. Law of the People’s Republic of China on Conserving Energy ( {FFEE A
RAMBEELIERE) ) ;

. Waste Disposal Ordinance (Cap. 354 of the Laws of Hong Kong);

. Water Pollution Control Ordinance (Cap. 358 of the Laws of Hong Kong);
and

. Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Cap. 311 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

All offices and construction sites of the Group have implemented
effective energy conservation measures to reduce emissions and resource
consumption.

This section will primarily disclose the Group’s policies, practices and
quantitative data on emissions, use of resources, and environmental and
natural resources during FY2018/2019.

BREWEHERE
$%lﬁﬁﬁﬁ1%$&iﬁéﬁiﬁ,§ Pzt iR m &
AR ERR -AEENAEELBIETE
R %‘HJFB&&Q/J?%%}EHIL#EPl&ﬁi\i«‘**
Frie B Ab it & M FT B ARRRIRIRARAR - 8
FEETRR

. (PEAREMBIRIBREE) ;
. (PEAREMBIARRSEHEE) ;
° <<¢'$/\E/ﬁi*ﬂ7j</77r<@j/u/£>>

. (FREARAMBEIEEEZY SRR
BEARE) ;

. (PEARAMBEHHERZE) ;

. (BEMBRE D) (BREDIFEIHE) ;

. OB RE HHEH) (BB EHIH358
)Rk

. (ZERSRERIEH) (BEEBIEIN
B)e

REBRARAEREETHHECETEX
HER BETE It - ABR R BE R EIRAER ©

A EERBEAEER-_Z-—N\ /=%
— N FBRYN EREAAMRREXR
REREROBER 1EP R EEBUR-

Annual Report 2018/2019 61



\

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
B dERELHRE

62

A.1. Emissions

The Group has complied with all relevant local environmental laws as
set out in the country where the Group operates. In FY2018/2019, the
Group found no disregard to influential laws relevant to exhaust gas or
greenhouse gas emissions, water or land discharging and hazardous or
non-hazardous wastes.

In FY2018/2019, the Group’s greenhouse gas (“‘GHG") emissions
for Scope 1 (Direct Emissions), Scope 2 (Energy Indirect Emission),
and Scope 3 (Other Indirect Emissions) were 24.1 tonnes carbon
dioxide equivalent (“COz¢"), 128.6 tonnes COze, and 11.4 tonnes COze
respectively. The Group’s total GHG emissions amounted to 164.1
tonnes COze, and the GHG intensity for the Group was 0.2 tonnes
C02¢/HK$ million. Other than GHG emissions, the Group also emitted
1.8 tonnes of non-hazardous solid wastes, and 100 tonnes of non-
hazardous wastewater (with an intensity of 0.4 tonnes/HK$ million) in
its operation.

The carbon emission intensity of the Group in FY2018/2019 is only
half of that of last year. This is mainly contributed to the increased
revenue of the Group and the strict control of electricity and paper
use. The amount of solid waste and wastewater falls significantly due
to the reduction in consumption of water and materials in property
construction site.

Due to the nature of the Group’s operation, the Group did not generate
any hazardous waste and only an insignificant amount of air pollutants
was produced in FY2018/2019. The Group’s total emissions are
summarised in Table 2 below.
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Table 2 The Group’s Total Emissions by Category in FY2018/2019

Intensity*
Key Performance (Unit/HK$
Emissions Category Indicator (KPI) Unit Amount million)
BE
(B,
BE R Bl BRENER By £ EX-2:80)
GHG Emissions Scope 1 (Direct Emission) tonnes COze 241 -
BE RN #HE— (BEEBR WA LI E 2
Scope 2 (Energy Indirect tonnes COze
Emission) 128.6 0.2
HE— (BRRMEEHER) M_fiREE
**Scope 3 tonnes COze
(Other Indirect Emission) 1.4 -
HEE = WSt E S
(EAb BB
Total (Scope 1 & 2 & 3) tonnes COze 164.1 0.2
wEt (BE-R-R=) WBM-_StREE
Non-hazardous Waste Solid Waste tonnes 1.8 -
mEREY BEREY) 7]
Wastewater tonnes 100 0.1
&K U
* Intensity was calculated by dividing the amount by the Group’s * BERABRER UK E
FY2018/2019 revenue of approximately HK$827.8 million BN E-hBEHRAL
827.8E BB LA HE
** The Group’s Scope 3 (Other Indirect Emissions) includes only paper waste wok NEmGSEE= (M) @

disposed at landfills BERNEEEEBHAEEY
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International Business Settlement & Financing Business

Emissions from the Group’s International Business Settlement &
financing business segment include greenhouse gases, municipal
solid waste, and municipal wastewater. In FY2018/2019, the main
source of GHG emissions for this business segment came from the
use of electricity. Specific measures are taken to reduce electricity
consumption in the office, and thus GHG emissions from this business
segment, are further described in A.2.Use of Resources.

The Group is committed to environmental protection in its daily
operations in the office. To reduce the amount of municipal solid waste
generated, the Group has implemented the following practices:

. Separate and recycle solid waste;

. Encourage employees to reduce the use of disposable items such
as plastic tableware; and

. Advocate office stationeries reuse.

Any non-recyclable municipal solid wastes are collected and disposed of
by property management.

Since the amount of wastewater generated highly depends on the
amount of water used, the Group has adopted specific measures to
reduce water consumption, which are further described in A.2.Use of
Resources. Municipal wastewater is need-based and is managed by the
property management.

Property Development

As a responsible corporate, the Group is very prudent in controlling all
discharges in the property development business. Emissions from the
property development process include air emissions, GHG emissions,
wastewater, solid waste, dust, and noise. The Group established various
measures to control and manage those emissions during the year under

review.
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Air Emissions and GHG Emissions

Air emissions and GHG emissions mainly come from the use of gasoline
and electricity in vehicles and machinery. The Group has implemented
internal policies, further described in A.2.Use of Resources, to reduce
energy use and thus the GHG emissions.

Wastewater

The wastewater generated at the construction sites is primarily treated
in the self-built septic tank with three setting layers in the drainage
system before being discharged into the municipal sewage pipe
network. The Group is committed to maximising the usage efficiency of
water resources at all stages by recycling the wastewater for cleaning.

Solid Waste

The Group has classified solid wastes generated construction, including
land excavation waste, broken bricks, mortar, concrete, and plastic
package. To reduce solid waste emissions, the Group uses land
excavation waste to backfill and separate the construction area from
the city to prevent the spread of dust. Plastic packages are sold to
a recycling station for further recycling. The residual materials from
construction, including residual steel, wood and non-hazardous solid
waste, which are recycled by the Group. To reduce the impact of solid
waste, the Group is committed to using eco-friendly materials in
construction for better recycling.
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Dust

Dust from the construction site is also a threat to the surroundings and

the Group has taken measures to take it under control. Such measures

include:

Noise

Cleaning vehicles’ wheels before leaving the construction site;

Establishing an enclosure of the site during construction;

Use a sealed device to transport dust;

Rinsing the ground or sprinkling water daily to settle the dirt and
avoid sludge accumulation; and

Installing pressurized dust reduction spray devices along the
main road of the construction site.

In FY2018/2019, the Group did not receive any negative complaint

on noise nuisance from its surrounding residents. As listed below,

the Group has taken the necessary measures to mitigate the noise

generated:

Conduct real-time monitoring and control of noise in the
construction site to ensure its compliance with national
standards;

Regulate certain operating periods for the use of equipment/
machinery;

Purchase and use the equipment with low noise and low
vibration; and

Take effective measures to control the noise level around
construction sites, including the installation of noise insulation
and vibration isolation facilities.

During the year under review, the Group was not in violation of any

relevant laws and regulations, which have a significant impact on the

Group, related to emissions.
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A.2. Use of Resources
The Group complied with the relevant laws and regulations in relation
to the Group’s use of resources during the year under review. In
FY2018/2019, the resources consumed by the Group were electricity,
gasoline, diesel, water, paper, and construction raw materials. Given
the nature of its business operation, the Group did not consume any
packaging materials during the reporting period.

Table 3 The Group’s Total Use of Resources by Category in FY2018/2019

A.2.

BERER

REEFE  ARERARENERE
FETHEERER - R -F—
—E-AME ARERANERR
B VR SOE K R SRR
e EREXBEENNEED AEER
& B OB R B R AR

FIAEER TN/ —F-NHF
REBEREDERAERT

Intensity*
Key Performance (Unit/HK$
Use of Resources Indicator (KPI) Unit Amount million)
BmE*
(B
BEREA BREWEE By e BE#ET)
Energy Electricity kWh’'000 176.0 0.2
BEIR EW)) T+ EL
Gasoline Litres 7,893.6 9.5
R bai
Diesel Litres 1,905.6 23
g bai
Water Water m? 3,052.8 3.7
7K 7K SR
Paper Paper Tonnes 2.4 -
i i L7
* Intensity was calculated by dividing the amount by the Group’s * REREHREERUAEER =T

FY2018/2019 revenue of approximately HK$827.8 million
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Electricity

The Group’s electricity consumption comes from the regular operation
of the office and construction sites. In FY2018/2019, the total electricity
consumption of the Group was 176.0 kWh'000 (with an intensity of
0.2kWh’000/HK$ million). All subsidiaries of the Group stringently
complied with the Group’s policy of saving energy. To reduce electricity
consumption, the Group has conducted the following practices:

. Hold regular education on saving electricity among the
employees;
. Put up signs next to the switches, computers, and air

conditioners to remind employees to turn them off when

possible;
. Turn on the air conditioners only when necessary;
. Clean office equipment (such as refrigerator, air-conditioning and

shredder) regularly to maintain effective operation;

. Replace the traditional bulbs by LED energy-saving bulbs in the
offices; and

. Adopt more energy-saving and electricity-saving mechanical
equipment.

Gasoline and diesel

The Group consumes gasoline and diesel for transportation. In
FY2018/2019, the amount of gasoline and diesel consumed by
the Group were 7,893.6 litres (with an intensity of 9.5 litres/HK$
million) and 1,905.6 litres (with an intensity of 2.3 litres/HK$ million)
respectively. The Group encourages energy-saving practices through
simple measures, such as making use of telephone conferences instead
of physical meetings to avoid unnecessary travelling and replacing
highly polluting vehicles with more environmentally friendly ones.

International Business Settlement Holdings Limited BB @& ERRAR AR

REEMNAEERARAERERET
WHBEBEE-R_Z—)\/=ZZT—Ah
B AEENRKEEE /1760 TET
R (RERLTETER,&8%E
TC) e AEERFTA M B A RIS E ST
REBREGEEER - BRI EREE
SEDHEE T ATER:

- THARESEREMHHAER
HREEH:

- EERMME EMRERBR
B3 VAR RRIE BT S 1R
BT

- EELERTRZR:

c EHFERBIERE (HlEAK
IR R IEAR) - HEREIER

B¢ 1?:%

. LALEDERRE BB R IR EFR R EH
B &

« ERAEESRE SRR

ad: )

REEFER AR REERAR R
—T-)\/= %—ﬂﬁﬁiﬁﬁlﬁﬁﬁ
Bl R4 mE 9 Al 57,893.6H (B
BISH B &) &1,905.67 (FE
B3ABBAL) - ASEHEEB
e MIEEET L BEIRMMCE - IIRAE
EEEABES R UBRTVER
IRITRAERRNEME RS SRE
ﬁﬁo



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

R - SR ESHRE

Water

The Group educates its employees on saving water all the time. In
FY2018/2019, the Group did not face any problem in sourcing water,
and the Group’s total water consumption was 3,052.8 m* (with an
intensity of 3.7 m*/HK$ million). To reduce water consumption, the
Group has conducted the following practices:

. Place “Saving Water Resource” posters in prominent places to
encourage water conservation;

. Adopt water-saving equipment instead of the traditional one;

. Require employees to strictly comply with the company’s
watering saving policy;

. Strengthen the inspection and maintenance of the water tap,
water pipelines, and water storage;

. Use groundwater as greening water and road cleaning water; and

. Harvest rainwater for building and maintenance in the
construction site.

Paper

Paper is mainly consumed by the Group in its offices. In FY2018/2019,
the amount of paper consumed by the Group was 2.4 tonnes. The
Group has adopted the following practices to reduce consumption:

. Use electronic devices and digital methods such as email and
online meetings;

. Choose the suppliers with more environmentally friendly paper
source, so as to indirectly reduce the amount of trees losses while
consuming the same amount of paper;

. Transform into a paperless office, and disseminate information
by electronic means (i.e. via email or e-bulletin boards) as much
as possible;
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. Promote the idea of “Think before print” by using posters and
stickers in the offices to remind the staff to avoid unnecessary
printings;

. Place boxes and trays beside photocopiers as containers to collect
single-sided paper for reuse and used paper for recycling; and

. Make use of the back of old single-sided documents for printing
or as draft paper.

Construction Raw Materials

Construction raw materials are mainly consumed by the Group in the

property development business, including steel, concrete, masonry

materials, and stone. To conserve raw materials and improve its

utilisation efficiency, the Group has conducted the following practices:

. Choose aerated blocks to reduce the weight of the wall;

. Adopt new polymer waterproofing membrane to prevent water
penetration;

. Use hollow glass tiles for insulation;

. Optimise construction plan and construction techniques to
improve material utilization; and

. Establish a material management system for material selection.
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A3. BERXAREIR

A.3. The Environment and Natural Resources

The Group is committed to protecting the environment where the
Group operates. The Group has taken effective measures to reduce
electricity consumption, and thus the overall GHG emissions.

For the Group’s property development business, the Group has
established policies to protect the environment during its operations
and commits to be in full compliance with the relevant laws and
regulations including the Environmental Impact Assessment Law of
the People ‘s Republic of China ( (/2 A R EFMBEIRIZEZE(E
%) ) and the Regulations on Environmental Protection of Construction
Projects ( (ERERIRIBREZEKH) ). The Group has
embedded the concept of green building into its construction projects
in order to build more eco-friendly and sustainable housing estate
through its exceptional design and adoption of landscaping within the
property boundary.

Besides, the Group has referred to the Sustainability Development
Goals published by the United Nations to establish its own goals in
sustainability development. Through the Target 7. Affordable and Clean
Energy and Target 11. Sustainable Cities and Communities, the Group is
taking its steps towards environmentally friendly business operation.
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SOCIAL SUSTAINABILITY
EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES

B.1.

Employment

Employees are the most important asset of the Group and the key to
driving long-term success and maintaining the sustainability of the
corporation. To retain our employees, the Group aims to provide them
with a safe and suitable platform for developing career paths and
advancement by adhering to the recruitment principles of fairness,
excitation, competitiveness, economic and legality.

The Group’s human resources policies strictly adhere to the applicable
employment laws and regulations in Hong Kong and PRC, including
the Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57 of The Laws of Hong Kong),
Minimum Wage Standard ( {&{E TE#R7E) ), the Labour Law of
the People’s Republic of China ( (FREEARLMBELEE) ), the
Employment Promotion Law of the People’s Republic of China ( {7 %
AR FEMBIFLZEAMRHE L) ), the Labour Contract Law of the People’s
Republic of China ( (F#E AR ZEMEILB)E [FE) ) and the Sodial
Insurance Law of the People’s Republic of China ( {FZE A R LA
Bt & {RE2E) ). The Group also complies with the employees’
social security schemes that are enforced by the local government to
provide employee various benefits. The Group’s employee benefits
include performance bonus, medical scheme, the mandatory provident
fund for Hong Kong employees, social insurance packages for the
PRC employees and education subsidy to encourage the continuous
professional development of staff.

The human resources representative reviews and updates the relevant
company policies such as Employee Handbook and compensation
packages regularly in accordance with the latest laws and regulations
and internal suggestions. The Group is also in full compliance with the
regulations for minimum wages and working hours in local operating
regions.
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To attract high-calibre workforce, the Group offers competitive
and fair remuneration and benefits based on individuals’ past
performance, personal attributes, and job experiences. The Group
also makes reference to market benchmarks. Talent acquisition is
vital to its business future development. Different compensation
packages are applied according to the different work nature for
better management. In order to retain talents, the Group constantly
reviews its compensation package and performs probationary and
regular evaluations according to the performance of the employee,
salary structure, market movement and profitability of the Group to
determine the staff salary adjustment. This ensures that employees
are recognised by the Group appropriately with regard to their working
efforts and contributions.

The promotion is proposed according to the employee’s performance
and qualification examined by the human resources department
and approved by the superior. Meanwhile, any termination of
the employment contract would be based on reasonable and
lawful grounds. The Group strictly prohibits any kinds of unfair or
unreasonable dismissals.

The Group determines working hours and rest period for employees
and makes sure they are in line with local employment laws and
employment contracts with employees, such as the Labour Law of the
People’s Republic of China ( (AP ZE AR KL FIBI L &)%) ), the Legal
Protection of the Rights and Benefits of the Peasant Workers ( (%5
IRFEEZZ{EA) ) and Rules of the State Council on Working Hours of
Workers and Staff Members ( {BI7Fc B A B T TERFEAIRTE) ).
All policies in the Group comply with the legal minimum age and wages
in the operating region. In addition to statutory holidays stipulated by
the employment law of the local government such as the basic paid
annual leave, employees may also be entitled to additional leave such
as marriage leave, maternity leave, and bereavement leave.

As an equal opportunity employer, the Group is committed to creating
a fair, respectful and diverse working environment by promoting
anti-discrimination and equal opportunity in all human resources
and employment decisions. In other words, training and promotion
opportunities, dismissals and retirement policies are based on factors
irrespective of their sex, marital status, pregnancy, family status, race,
national or ethnic origins, nationality, religion or other non-job related
factors in all business units. The equal opportunities policy allows zero
tolerance to any workplace discrimination, harassment or vilification
in accordance with local ordinances. The Group has set up equal
opportunities policies in the Employee Handbook to promote a more
diverse environment in the working place.
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B.2.

In terms of internal coaching and communication, effective two-way
communication between general staff and managerial staff is highly
encouraged. Employees maintain timely and smooth communication
with the management, colleagues, and partners of the companies
within the Group through the email, phones, social networks, and
meetings. The interactive communication to a large extent makes for
the Group’s decision-making process, thereby building a barrier-free
employer-employee relationship. In addition, the Group hosted a series
of activities for its employees in FY2018/2019 such as festival and year-
end gatherings, outing, group meeting, and birthday celebration. These
events helped employees to relieve stress, and served to exemplify the
Group’s corporate culture of the spirit of solidarity and cohesion among
its employees.

Health and Safety

To provide and maintain a good working condition and a safe
and healthy working environment, the safety and health policies
implemented by the Group are in line with various laws and regulations
stipulated by the Government of Hong Kong and PRC, including Hong
Kong's Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance (Chapter 509 of The
Laws of Hong Kong), the Production Safety Law of the People’s Republic
of China ( (P FEARKEMBEZ 2 EEE) ), Regulation on Work-
Related Injury Insurance ( {TE&RE B ) and the Occupational
Disease Prevention Law in People’s Republic of China ( {F#E A R
MBI EREE) ).

To preventing employees from occupational hazards and providing
a safe working environment, the Group has established a risk
identification and management procedure with compliance with all
relevant laws and regulations, which involves several departments.
Social security management centre is responsible for identifying the
hazards and risks in the working area and investigate and report any
accident and dealing measures to the government. Safety quality
department is responsible for identifying the classification, source,
and impact of occupational hazards and creating effective preventing
measures against those hazards. Project management department is
responsible for carrying regular hazard tests and refining production
process.
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B.3.

The Group is responsible for informing employees of any occupational
hazards before they are on board and providing protection equipment
in working areas. To ensure the effectiveness of the protection
equipment, specified employees perform a regular check and keep a
proper record. Employees” health status is also recorded regularly to
protect employees from occupational hazards.

Development and Training

The Group believes that training can continuously improve employees’
working capability and quality and offers different training and
development opportunities to staff in order to strengthen work-related
skills and knowledge, thereby improving operational efficiency.

For new hires, the Group provides on-the-job training, making them
better understand the corporate history and culture, Group’s internal
policies and its business development. For experienced staff, the Group
provides relevant training according to their roles and positions. For
example, the Group has arranged training courses for its directors,
with topics of internal control, risk control management, and business
compliance updates. The Group aims to foster a learning culture that
could strengthen employees’ professional knowledge, and meanwhile,
benefit the Group as employees are expected to achieve desired results
after receiving appropriate training.

Besides, the Group encourages employees to attend external training
for enhancing their competitiveness and expanding their capacity
through continuous learning. The Group may provide financial support
to eligible employees for attending external seminars, programs or
courses that could directly and effectively expand their skill-sets related
to their current job requirements.
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B.4.

Labour Standards

The Group strictly abides by the Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong
(Chapter 57 of The Laws of Hong Kong), the Labour Law of the People’s
Republic of China ( {(F#E AR FEFMEIZEYE) ), Provisions on the
Prohibition of Using Child Labour ( {ZEIF{# FAZE T E) ) issued by
the State Council of the People’s Republic of China and other related
labour laws and regulations in operating regions to prohibit any child
and forced labour employment.

The Group has formulated internal policies such as “The Prohibition of
Child Labour Policy and Remedial Procedures” complying with Social
Accountability 8000 International Standard. To combat against illegal
employment on child labour, underage workers and forced labour,
prior to confirmation of employment, the Group’s human resources
staff requires job applicants to provide valid identity documents
to ensure that the applicants are lawfully employable. The human
resources department is responsible to monitor, update and ensure the
compliance of current corporate policies with latest and relevant laws
and regulations that prohibit child labour and forced labour.

OPERATING PRACTICES

B.5.

Supply Chain Management

As a socially responsible enterprise, it is critical and vital to maintain
and manage a sustainable and reliable supply chain. Each of the
operating subsidies monitors the quality of suppliers and supply chain
practice on a strict and continuous basis.

International Business Settlement & Financing Business

The main suppliers of IBS Segment are the technical support service
providers. In selecting suppliers, comprehensive assessment in
public tendering process is performed under principles of openness,
fairness, and impartiality. Selection criteria are strictly formulated by
the Group, including but not limited to reputation in the industry,
technical capabilities, professional qualifications, financial position,
prices, and service quality. The Group normally executes a contract
with the selected supplier and places orders on a project basis. To
avoid any disruptions of the supply chain, the Group tries to have at
least two suppliers for each of the supplied services. During the year
under review, the Group was in close dialogues with its suppliers, and
meetings are periodically held to share market information or perform
product updates.
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The Group expects that its selected suppliers are in strict compliance
with applicable local environmental laws, ordinances and regulations.
With a reliable and effective supplier selection mechanism, the Group
is committed to conducting business with the suppliers that are socially
and environmentally responsible to meet the ethical expectations.
Given the firm and stable relationship between the Group and its
suppliers, the Group can be quickly informed of the suppliers’ situation
through the internet, phone calls, and other communication means.

Property Development

For property development business, the Group generally outsources
construction works to independent construction companies that
specialise in different aspects of property development. The property
development company of the Group oversees the procurement of
construction materials, and is also responsible for finding relevant
supplier/contractors through public tendering and strategic
cooperation.

The Group performs site inspections on completed projects by potential
suppliers/contractors to assess their technical capacity. The Group firmly
believes that to accomplish the project successfully, it is important to
ensure that selected suppliers/contractors fully meet the national or
industry standards and the specifications required in each development
project. The Group necessitates selected suppliers/contractors to show
their relevant qualifications and certificates to prove they have the
capacity to meet the technical requirements, have a good track record,
and are socially and environmentally responsible. The Group generally
chooses suppliers/contractors according to the rank of bidding rating.
Once the eligible tender is selected, the property development company
needs to work closely with the selected suppliers/contractors in the
execution of the development plans as well as oversee the quality
and timetable for the completion of each project. If any goods and
services of selected suppliers/contractors fail to meet the requirements
of the property development company, they may lose the chance to
participate in the next bidding.

The suppliers/contractors are also subject to the Group’s ongoing
quality control procedures at different stages of the construction
process, which includes testing on the quality of the supplied
materials. For example, the suppliers/contractors are required to obtain
acceptance from Electric Power Supply Bureau as an evaluation of
standard in power supply, and another acceptance from the Institute of
Quality Inspection and Construction Bureau as evaluation of standard
in construction projects.
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B.6. Product Responsibility

International Business Settlement & Financing Business

Upholds the core value of “Let’s write the future together”, the Group
grasps the trend on Fintech by building up the NGSN (Next Generation
Settlement Network) infrastructure worldwide. NGSN provides a cross-
border platform for settlement in a fast-paced, convenient, efficient,
safe way between countries. With regard to the operational safety,
advertising and labelling of the services, the Group is strictly in
compliance with the relevant rules and regulations in PRC, such as
the Production Safety Law of the People’s Republic of China ( (7P ZE
ARFEME L2 A E)R) ) and the Advertising Law of the People’s
Republic of China ( (R ZEARZLMBEIE LX) ).

NGSN is an innovated platform. The operation and maintenance
team of the Group is responsible for business operations and system
maintenance to ensure system safety in public use. During the research
and development process, the Group follows the internal manuals
such as IT development standard manual. There are clear definitions
and test criteria for each stage of development. Through trial testing
and based on the test results, the Group monitors the system to ensure
that it is running properly and in a good condition under a simulated
production environment.

Meanwhile, the Group holds regular project meetings to assess and
review the progress and to identify and resolve any problems, issues,
bugs and technical errors which may arise during the course of the
services. In order to infallibly ensure service safety to the public,
engineers in the Group conduct comprehensive quality control
assessments during its daily maintenance and system upgrades which
would establish a back-off mechanism by maintaining the original
system in the adoption period. The Group may also deploy technical
staff to provide on-site support to customers when necessary.

To manage the operating risks, the Group has established a project
assessment jury to control the project risk. The Group also performs
background research on financiers and establish a relevant standard
to check the qualification of financiers. Project tracking is also
implemented to manage risks.
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The Group pays great attention to the main concern of its customer
and performs regular customer satisfaction survey, which links to
employees’ performance valuation. Once the customer’s complaint is
received, a professional team would identify the fault and repair the
relevant parts of the systems in a timely manner. With such effective
action, the Group is committed to minimising any disruptions to
customers’ operations and completely eradicating the same system
failure from occurring again according to internal procedures.

The Group commits to fully abide by the Consumer Protection Law of
the PRC ( {2 A R EMBIE B & #E R %) ) and Hong Kong's
Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Chapter 486 of The Laws of Hong
Kong) to ensure customers’ rights are strictly protected. Information
collected from customers would only be used for the purpose for which
it has been collected. The Group prohibits the provision of information
to a third party without authorisation. All collected personal data
during the course of business are treated as confidential, kept securely,
and accessible by designated personnel only. Security measures, such
as encrypted customer database, granting access right, and checking
login and log out operations to major servers, have been implemented
in the data storage and transmission systems. The Group ensures that
the customers and transactions data in NGSN are well protected from
unauthorised collection, leakage or hacking, and abuse or misuse of
personal information.

The Group is also committed to providing clear and well-balanced
information to its customers. The Group has established internal
procedures for providing guidance on the handling and monitoring
of the entire financial leasing process. Before lending or trading, the
Group performs the KYC (Know Your Customer) procedure to gain an
understanding of the customers’ financial background and risk tolerant
level before providing them with suitable services. Customers that
are interested in the Group’s services are required to sign the client
agreement, acknowledging the terms and conditions (such as interest
rate, repayment date, total outstanding amount) and the associated
risks. The Group ensures that customers read, are fully aware of, and
consent to all terms and conditions along with the associated risks and
unpredictability before signing any contractual agreement.
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Property Development

As a property developer, the business activities of the Group are
extensively regulated by the policies, laws and regulations of the PRC
Government including the Administrative Regulations on the Work
Safety of Construction Projects ( (E:R TRELZEEEERIEN) ),
the Construction Law of the PRC ( (P ZE A R EFIRE LX) ) and
the Regulations on the Quality Management of Construction Projects
(GERIIRESEEHEO) ).

The Group sets up the product quality targets, formulates the
corresponding technical standards, and drafts construction plans at the
preliminary stage of the project. Besides, the operation department
shall regularly check whether the progress of the construction is in line
with the project plan. When a material deviation is found, decisive
measures shall be taken to adjust and coordinate the construction plan
immediately.

The property development company has the responsibility for
safety management throughout the whole process of construction
and operation. The Group sets up the reporting mechanism and
contingency plan for public emergencies in the construction site,
which ensures an efficient and timely safety incident reporting system.
Besides, the Group carries out the necessary safety protection measures
for special personnel and on-site workers such as organising physical
examination for workers regularly to ensure worker’s health. In
addition, the Group ensures against personal injuries that may occur
to its employees during the construction of the Groups properties.
The Group also purchases employee-related insurance, such as
social welfare insurance, for its employees. The project manager
and professional engineers carrying out engineering inspection and
appraise the work of contractors on the quality of different phases in
construction regularly. The safety and quality of the Group’s properties
are monitored at all stages of construction to ensure that they meet the
high standards and stringent requirements in place.

The Group’s after-sales services department in property development
is set up for collecting the feedback from the market and providing
immediate responses for inquiries through satisfaction surveys. With a
variety of communication channels, the Group can obtain first-hand
information and intimate knowledge from customers.
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B.7.

The Group has issued an internal guideline to ensure that our
marketing department provides accurate descriptions and information
to customers and the Group complies with the relevant laws and
regulations for local operations such as the Advertising Law of the PRC
({PEAREFBIESIE) ). Any misrepresentation or exaggeration
of offerings made by the staffs in the Group is strictly prohibited. The
Group has a legal counsel to review sales and marketing materials
before releasing them to the public, which helps prevent any violation
of local laws and regulations regarding advertisement.

Anti-corruption

To maintain a fair, ethical and efficient business and working
environment, the Group strictly adheres to the local laws and
regulations relating to anti-corruption and bribery irrespective of the
area or country where the Group is conducting business such as the Law
of the PRC on Anti-money Laundering ( {FF & A R A FIEH [ S 88
7&) ) and Hong Kong's Prevention of Bribery Ordinance (Chapter 201
of The Laws of Hong Kong).

The Group highly values its employees’ honesty and trustworthiness
and conscientiously implements the National Five-Year Plan for the
Punishment and Prevention of Corruption System, follows the relevant
laws and regulations governing commercial bribery and implements
the integrity principle of self-discipline and dedication.

The Group has strictly enforced the code of conduct to maintain a high
standard of business ethics in the staff handbook. The Group will not
tolerate any form of corruption, suspected impropriety, misconduct or
malpractice within the Group. All employees are expected to discharge
their duties with integrity and self-discipline, and required to abstain
from engaging bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering activities
or any activities which might exploit their positions against the Group’s
interests and affect their business decision or independent judgment in
the course of business operations.
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Whistle-blowers can report to directors or their immediate supervisor
for any suspected misconduct or malpractice. The management would
conduct investigations on the matters and collect supporting evidence
against any suspicious or illegal behaviour to protect the Group’s
interests. Where criminality is suspected, a report is made to the
relevant regulators or law enforcement authorities when necessary.

During the year under review, the Group was not in violation of any of
the relevant laws and regulations in relation to bribery, extortion, fraud
and money laundering that have a significant impact on the Group.

COMMUNITY

B.8.

Community Investment

As the Group mainly operates as a property developer, we are focusing
on mid-to-high-end residential and commercial property development
in the PRC. The Group is highly aware of the importance of making a
positive contribution to the communities where the Group operates
and sees the interests of the communities as one of its social
responsibilities. The Group is committed to being a responsible social
enterprise by focusing on employee benefit, culture, sanitary and
education.

The Group has put consolation policy into Group policy to provide
consolation fee to qualified employees to help them go through
tough times. Besides, the Group also invested in local communities by
supplying community sports equipment in sports areas to encourage
local resident to have more exercise. Posters and banners with “Civilized
society, Civilized life” are also placed on the local community.

The Group believes that the enterprise and communities, where the
Group operates, are inseparable. The Group actively cooperate with
the work of the community to strengthen communication with local
government and social organizations and steadfastly promote social
employment and contribute to alleviating unemployment.
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(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions,
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(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment
and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity,
anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.
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(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to providing a safe working environment
and protecting employees from occupational hazards.
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(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to preventing child and forced labour.
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Directors’ Report

EFEHRE

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) are pleased to present their report
and the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year
ended 31 March 2019.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW
The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities of its
principal subsidiaries are set out in note 39 to the consolidated financial statements.

A review of the business of the Group during the year ended 31 March 2019,
including an analysis of the Group’s performance during the year using financial key
performance indicators, a discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties facing
the Group and an indication of likely future developments in the Group’s business
are set out under the section headed “Management’s Statement” in this annual
report. This discussion forms part of this Directors’ Report.

The analysis of the principal activities and geographical locations of the operations
of the Group during the financial year are set out in note 7 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The Company’s environmental and social-related key performance indicators
and policies, a discussion on the compliance with relevant laws and regulations
which have a significant impact on the Company and the Company’s relationship
with its employees, suppliers and customers are provided in the section headed
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report” in this annual report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2019 and the Group’s affairs as
at that date are set out in the consolidated financial statement on pages 108 to 110.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend for the year ended 31
March 2019.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group during the
year are set out in note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.
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PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE
Details of completed properties held for sale and properties under development for
sale of the Group are set out in note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

BORROWINGS
Particular of borrowings of the Group as at 31 March 2019 is set out in notes 22 and
25 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during the year are set
out in note 26 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES
Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group during the year are set out on
page 111 of this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2019, the Company has no distributable reserves. However, if
necessary conditions for share premium reduction are met in accordance with
applicable laws and the bye-laws of the Company, the Company’s reserves
available for distribution will become approximately HK$1,077,752,000 (2018:
HK$1,360,684,000).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
Details of contingent liabilities of the Group are set out in note 31 to the
consolidated financial statements.

FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five
financial years is set out on page 228 of this annual report.
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DIRECTORS
The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this annual

report were as follows:

Executive Directors:
Yuen Leong

Luan Li

Hu Jianjun

Independent non-executive Directors:
Yap Yung

Zhang Guangsheng

Chan Siu Tat

Shao Ping (resigned on 4 June 2018)

Pursuant to bye-law 84(1) of the bye-laws of the Company, at each annual general
meeting, one-third of the directors of the Company for the time being (or, if their
number is not a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than one-
third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject
to retirement by rotation at least once in every three years. Accordingly, Mr. Yuen
Leong and Mr. Chan Siu Tat will retire by rotation at the forthcoming annual general
meeting. Mr. Yuen Leong and Mr. Chan Siu Tat, being eligible, will offer themselves
for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company. Under
Code Provision A.4.3 of the Listing Rules, further appointment of two independent
non-executive directors who serve more than 9 years should be subject to a separate
resolution to be approved by the shareholders. Both Mr. Yap Yung and Mr. Zhang
Guangsheng have served as independent non-executive directors for more than 9
years. During their terms of office, they continue to demonstrate impartial judgment
in performing their duties. Separate resolutions will thus be proposed for their re-
election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

Biographical details of Directors are set out on pages 34 to 36 of this annual report.

DIRECTOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration of the Directors is determined with reference to the Director’s
duties, responsibilities, performance and the results of the Group. Details of the
remuneration of the Directors are set out in note 11 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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DIRECTOR’S SERVICE CONTRACTS

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting
of the Company has an unexpired service contract which is not determinable
by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of its independent non-executive Directors, an
annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company considered that all independent non-executive Directors are independent
in accordance with the guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No contract of significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a
party and in which a Director of the Company had a material interests, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY AND DIRECTORS’ LIABILITIES
INSURANCE

According to the bye-laws of the Company, the Directors and officers of the Company
are entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses
or liabilities which he/she may sustain or incur in or about the execution of the
duties of his/her office or otherwise in relation thereto. The Company has arranged
appropriate insurance covering the potential legal actions against its Directors and
officers in connection with the discharge of their responsibilities throughout the

year.

CHANGES OF INFORMATION IN RESPECT OF DIRECTORS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors” in this
annual report, there was no change to any of the information required to be
disclosed in relation to any Director pursuant to paragraphs (a) to (e) and (g) of
rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules since the date of the 2018 interim report of the
Company.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESSES AND
CONFLICTS OF INTERESTS

During the year ended 31 March 2019, none of the directors of the Company or any
of their respective associates have engaged in any business that competes or may
compete with the businesses of the Group or have any other conflict of interests with
the Group.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

At 31 March 2019, the interests and short positions of the directors and the chief
executive and their associates in the shares of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(the “SFO™) (a) which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
or short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions
of the SFO); or (b) which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred to therein; or (c) which were required to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies, were as follows:

()  Long position in shares and underlying shares of the Company
Ordinary shares of HK$0.001 each of the Company

EERROREERD 2ER

R-ZB-NF=ZA=1T—H EFMHKRSTRAER
AR E BB ARART REAER (EER
R HE G (75 RS RG]) SBXVaR) 2
S @QIRIEES KRB EROIFEXVERE7R
8D EABAMARNR LB P2 e SR B (B
REEZ MR RIIZZFHEESREFRE
1ERB 2R SORR)  ROIREES RS &)
352 BRE AR IRGI Tl & FC M 2 #E st SOR A
H(RBE LT AR EFETEZFRXZWIEESTA
MEBBIMARA LBz Em ORRINT

i) MEQXTIABROGREBROZEE
AR B EE0.00178 T 2 @Ak

Approximate

Number of percentage of

Capacity in which Shares issued share capital

Name of Director interests are held interested of the Company

SR NN

ERITRAEAZ

EEnR BERERZZEH BERZZROHE BABED

Luan Li Beneficial owner 9,400,000 0.05%
e EnEB A
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(i)

Long position in shares and underlying shares of the associated
corporation

Name of associated

(i) REBIEROREBROGZHR

Number of ordinary shares (long positions)

EER¥E (F8)

Approximate

percentage of

Total number of issued share
shares held in  capital of associated

Name of Director corporation Personal interest associated corporation corporation
1EAREE
HEEBERE 2 BRITREAZ
BEEpA BB £ B AR i 67 48 21 BRABEDL
Yuen Leong Long Grand Limited (Note 1) Beneficial owner 300 30%
X RBARAA (K1) ERBEEA
Notes: P 5

M Long Grand Limited is legally and beneficially owned as to 70% by Mr. Yam Yu
and as to 30% by Mr. Yuen Leong. Long Grand Limited holds more than 50% of
the issued share capital of the Company. Accordingly, by virtue of the SFO, (i)
Long Grand Limited is an associated corporation of the Company and (ii) Mr.
Yuen Leong is deemed to be interested in this associated corporation of the
Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2019, none of the Directors and
the chief executive of the Company had any interest or short position in
the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SF0), (a) which
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short
positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of
the SFO); or (b) which were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to
be entered in the register referred to therein, or (c) which were required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies.

SHARE OPTIONS
A share option scheme was adopted on 5 September 2014 by the Company. The

share option scheme is designed to award employees for their performances and

details of the share option scheme are set out in note 32 to the consolidated

financial statements. No share option has been granted, exercised, cancelled or

lapsed under the share option scheme during the year, and there is no outstanding
share option as at 31 March 2019.
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ARRANGEMENT FOR DIRECTORS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company, its holding company, fellow
subsidiaries or subsidiaries was a party to any arrangements to enable the directors
of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debt
securities (including debentures) of, the Company or any other body corporate.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and/or administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or existed during
the year.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF SUBSTANTIAL
SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 March 2019, the following interests of 5% or more of the issued share capital
of the Company were recorded in the register of interests required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

Capacity in which

ESWBROBEZ 2R

EARRANCTRE S 2o NI CTEN ) = PTG
RAVRERT AL BUEARA 2 EEAHE ﬁ%
AR R B SR EAEA B Z DR EHE
(BREES) M-

BEEEH
FR - ARRLER LS FHERRRF 2 HRHAED
DEBZEERFITHEEZEL -

FERRZESZRKR

N—E—NE=Z[=+—8 BEARFIEESN
BEKEMEBMEREFE 2 ST R T
ﬂAiiAT%ﬁK AIE BT IANS%) LA F o

Approximate
percentage of the

Number of Shares issued share capital

Name interests are held interested of the Company
LERNNE|
ERITRAEAZ
=L BEREBRZEM BERZZROHE BABED
Long Grand Limited (Note 1) Beneficial owner 10,347,283,880 (L) 50.92%
RBAERAR (M) ERlEB A
Yam Yu (Note 1) Interest in controlled corporation 10,347,283,880 (L) 50.92%
EF (KtEE) RREGER 2 #S
Power Trend Asset Holdings Ltd. (Note 2) Beneficial owner 2,540,190,000 (L) 12.50%
Power Trend Asset Holdings Ltd. (Bff&E2) BEmEA A
Luo Feng (Note 2) Interest in controlled corporation 2,540,190,000 (L) 12.50%
g (M95E2) MR ESDER 2 #Ean
China Cinda Asset Management Interest in controlled corporation 1,280,000,000 (L) 6.30%
Co., Ltd. (Note 3) REAEHEE 2
PREEEEEERO AR AR (MiFE3)
Interest in controlled corporation 640,000,000 (S) 3.15%

NEZIEFEE 2 et
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Capacity in which

Approximate
percentage of the

Number of Shares issued share capital

Name interests are held interested of the Company
AR
BERITRAEAZ
£1B BEEZzZEHN EEEZz2ROEE BABEDL
China Cinda (HK) Holdings Company Interest in controlled corporation 1,280,000,000 (L) 6.30%
Limited (Note 3) REZZESERE 2 s
REEE (BB ERERAET (E3)
Interest in controlled corporation 640,000,000 (S) 3.15%
R ESER 2
China Cinda (HK) Asset Management Interest in controlled corporation 640,000,000 (L) 3.15%
Co., Limited (Note 3) REZESERE 2 s
PREEE(BB)EEEERNHERALQT
(MF5E3) Person having a security interest 640,000,000 (L) 3.15%
in shares
RI&AD R A B HF w2 A
Interest in controlled corporation 640,000,000 (S) 3.15%
R ESER 2
() denotes long position L EFE
(S denotes short position (S) KB
Notes: B 5
(1) Long Grand Limited is legally and beneficially owned as to 70% by Mr. Yam Yu and as (1) ﬁﬂ%'ﬁﬁﬁ DRIRAFEERTE S EERERE

to 30% by Mr. Yuen Leong. By virtue of Mr. Yam Yu’s 70% direct interest in Long Grand
Limited, Mr. Yam Yu is deemed or taken to be interested in the 10,347,283,880 shares
held by Long Grand Limited for the purposes of the SFO.

Power Trend Asset Holdings Ltd. is legally and beneficially wholly owned by Mr. Luo
Feng. By virtue of Mr. Luo Feng's 100% direct interest in Power Trend Asset Holdings
Ltd., Mr. Luo Feng is deemed or taken to be interested in the 2,540,190,000 shares held
by Power Trend Asset Holdings Ltd. for the purposes of the SFO.

China Cinda Asset Management Co., Ltd. has 100% control of China Cinda (HK) Holdings
Company Limited, which has 100% control of China Cinda (HK) Asset Management Co.,
Limited.

Save as disclosed above, the Company has not been notified of any other relevant
interests or short positions in the issued share capital of the Company as at 31 March

2019.
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CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

None of the “Related party transactions” as disclosed in note 34 to the financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2019 constituted discloseable non-
exempted connected transaction or non-exempted continuing connected transaction
under the Listing Rules.

To the extent of the above “Related party transactions” constituted connected
transaction as defined in the Listing Rules, the Company had complied with the
relevant requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules during the year.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES
Details of the retirement benefit schemes operated by the Group are set out in note
33 to the consolidated financial statements.

LITIGATION AND ARBITRATION
As at the date of this annual report, there was no outstanding or pending litigation
and arbitration for the Group.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group's largest customer and five largest customers for the year ended 31 March
2019 accounted for approximately 0.90% (2018: 1.17%) and 1.91% (2018: 2.61%)
respectively of the Group’s total revenue for the year.

The Group’s largest supplier and five largest suppliers for the year ended 31 March
2019 accounted for approximately 20.69% (2018: 26.61%) and 63.18% (2018: 79.03%)
respectively of the Group’s total purchases for the year.

According to the understanding of the Directors, none of the Directors, their
associates or any shareholders of the Company who owned more than 5% of the
Company’s share capital had any interests in the five largest customers or suppliers
at any time during the year.

BEALRS
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RZFAARIPEER
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HE_ZT-NGF=A=1T—HLtFE Fr&EE &
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0.90% ( ZZF— \F :1.17% ) B1.91% (=T — \F:
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S SHARES
The Company has not redeemed any of its securities during the year ended 31 March
2019, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased or, sold any of
the Company’s securities during the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s bye-laws, or the
laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata
basis to existing shareholders.

TAX RELIEF
The Company is not aware of any relief on taxation available to the shareholders by
reason of their holding of the Company’s securities.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Information on the corporate governance practices adopted by the Company is set
out under the section headed “Corporate Governance Report” of this annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained a sufficient public float
under the Listing Rules throughout the year ended 31 March 2019 and up to the
date of this annual report.

EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD
There were no major subsequent events since the year end date and up to the date
of this annual report.
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AUDITOR

BDO Limited (“BDQ”) acted as the auditor of the Company for the preceding financial
year ended 31 March 2018. The consolidated financial statements of the Company
for the year ended 31 March 2019 have been audited by BDO. BDO were appointed
as auditor of the Company on 19 March 2018 for the financial year ended 31 March
2018 upon the resignation of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu.

BDO will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the
forthcoming annual general meeting. A resolution for the re-appointment of BDO
as auditor of the Company is to be proposed at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
International Business Settlement Holdings Limited

Yuen Leong
DIRECTOR

Hong Kong, 25 June 2019
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Tel : +852 2218 8288
Fax: +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk

IBDO

EEE ¢ +852 2218 8288
{HE : +852 28152239
www.bdo.com.hk

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
INTERNATIONAL BUSINESS SETTLEMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED
(ERAEEEERARAR])

(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of International Business
Settlement Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 108 to 227, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2019, the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2019, and of its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (‘HKFRSs”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION
We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
(“HKSAS”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the Group in

accordance with the HKICPA's
“Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with

Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants” (the

the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
IR BEDER T

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of
most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated
financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not
provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Impairment assessment of properties held for sale

We identified the impairment assessment of properties held for sale as a key
audit matter due to the significance of the balance to the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, combined with the significant management estimations
involved in determining the net realisable value of properties held for sale.

As disclosed in note 18 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group had
properties held for sale amounted to approximately HK$1,862,565,000 at 31 March
2019.

As discussed in note 5 to the consolidated financial statements, the properties held
for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The net realisable
value is the estimated selling price less estimated selling expenses and estimated
cost of completion, which are determined based on best available information and
latest market conditions. Where there is any decrease in the estimated selling price
arising from any changes to the property market conditions in the PRC, there may be
write-down on the properties under development for sale and completed properties
held for sale.

The management of the Group determined the net realisable value by reference to
the independent valuation report prepared by an independent qualified professional
valuer, for which significant management estimations are required in determining
forecast selling price and cost of completion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
W BEDER TS

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)
Impairment assessment of properties held for sale (Continued)
How our audit addressed the key audit matter:

Our audit procedures in relation to the management’s impairment assessment
included:

. Understanding and evaluating the appropriateness of the provision policy
adopted in relation to properties held for sale and assessing whether the
provision policy is properly and consistently implemented,;

. Assessing the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the independent
qualified professional valuer;

. Challenging with the independent qualified professional valuer on the
valuation process to understand the performance of property markets,
significant assumptions and inputs adopted in the valuation and the
management’s critical judgmental areas;

. Evaluating the reasonableness of the methodologies adopted in the valuation
models;
. Comparing the selling price estimated by the management of the Group to

publicly available information and checking the pre-sale agreements entered
into by the Group, on a sample basis; and

. Assessing the reasonableness of cost of completion by comparing the inputs
to signed construction contracts and entity-specific historical information, on a

sample basis.

Impairment assessment of intangible asset

We identified the impairment assessment of intangible asset as a key audit matter
due to the significant impairment amount to the consolidated financial statements
as a whole, combined with the significant management estimations involved in
determining the recoverable amount of the intangible asset.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
IR BEDER T

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Impairment assessment of intangible asset (Continued)

As disclosed in note 14, the Group’s intangible assets, which was a settlement
platform aimed at realising point-to-point, multi-currency and real-time fund
settlement and clearing for cross boarder trading business and individuals around
the world, was fully impaired during the year. The Company’s management
performed impairment assessment of the settlement platform and concluded
that an impairment loss on intangible asset of approximately HK$59,186,000 was
recognised. This conclusion was based on the value in use model that required
significant management judgement with respect to the discount rate and the
underlying cash flows, in particular future revenue growth and capital expenditure.
Independent external valuation were obtained in order to support management’s
estimates.

As discussed in note 5 to the consolidated financial statements, determining whether
an intangible asset is impaired requires an estimation of the future cash flows
expected to arise from the intangible asset and a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate present value. Where the actual future cash flows are less than expected, a
material impairment loss may arise.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter:

Our audit procedures in relation to the management’s impairment assessment
included:

. Assessing the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the independent
qualified professional valuer;

. Challenging with the independent qualified professional valuer on the
valuation process to understand the significant assumptions and inputs
adopted in the valuation and the management’s critical judgmental areas;

. Evaluating the reasonableness of the methodologies adopted in the valuation
models;

. Evaluating the reasonableness of the assumptions and inputs adopted,
including the discount rate and growth rate applied by the management of
the Company;

. Agreeing input data applied, on selective basis, to supporting evidence
including approved budget; and

. Comparing the recoverable amount determined by the management of the
Company with the carrying amount of the intangible asset.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Impairment assessment of factoring receivables and loan receivables
We identified the impairment assessment of factoring receivables and loan
receivables as a key audit matter due to the significance of the balance to the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, combined with the significant
management estimations involved in determining the assessment of loss allowance.

As disclosed in notes 20 and 16, the Group recognised the carrying amounts of
factoring receivables of approximately HK$40,174,000 and loan receivables of
approximately HK$140,013,000 as at 31 March 2019 respectively. Loss allowances
amounting to approximately HK$96,474,000 and HK$7,036,000 have been provided
on the factoring receivables and loan receivables respectively.

Management applied judgement in assessing the expected credit losses. Receivables
relating to customers with known financial difficulties or significant doubt on
collection of receivables are assessed individually for provision of impairment
allowance. Expected credit losses are also estimated by grouping the remaining
receivables based on shared credit risk characteristics and collectively assessed
for likelihood of recovery, taking into account the nature of the customers, its
geographical location and its ageing category, and applying expected credit loss rates
to the respective gross carrying amounts of the receivables. The expected credit loss
rates are determined based on historical credit losses and are adjusted to reflect
current and forward-looking information such as macroeconomic factors affecting
the ability of the customers to settle the receivables.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter:

Our audit procedures in relation to the management’s impairment assessment
included:

. Assessing the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the independent
qualified professional valuer;

. Challenging with the independent qualified professional valuer on the
valuation process to understand the significant assumptions and inputs
adopted in the valuation and the management’s critical judgmental areas;
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Independent Auditor’s Report
IR BEDER T

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)
Impairment assessment of factoring receivables and loan receivables
(Continued)

Understanding and validating the credit control procedures performed by the
management, including its procedures on periodic review of aged receivables
and assessment on loss allowance of receivables;

Evaluating the reasonableness of the methodologies adopted in the valuation
models;

Evaluating the reasonableness of the assumptions and inputs adopted,
including the historical settlement pattern, correspondence with the
customers, evidence from external sources including market research
regarding the relevant forward-looking information such as macroeconomic
factors;

Testing on a sample basis, the subsequent settlement of factoring receivables
and loan receivables against bank receipts;

Evaluating assessment of the management of the Group on the valuation of
any collateral held for receivables that are credit-impaired, by comparison
with market prices based on the location and use of the collateral and the
prices of similar products nearby. We also evaluated the timing and means of
realisation of collateral, challenged the viability of the Group’s recovery plans
and evaluated other credit enhancements that are integral to the contract

terms; and

Comparing the recoverable amount determined by the management of
the Group with the carrying amounts of factoring receivables and loan
receivables.
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W BEDER TS

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises the information included in the Company’s 2019 annual report, but does
not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for
assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process. The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging their
responsibilities in this regard.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
IR BEDER T

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report
is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda
Companies Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgment and
maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

. identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

106

obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the
directors.

conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern
basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention
in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.

obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to express
an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
IR BEDER T

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with
them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters
that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine
that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

BDO Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Chan Wing Fai

Practising Certificate Number P05443

Hong Kong, 25 June 2019
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
FeRskAtZERE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 BiE = — N F=H=+—HIEFE

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt & FTET FHET
Revenue WA 6 827,848 543,333
Cost of sales and services SHE K AR T K AR (707,616) (498,265)
Gross profit EF 120,232 45,068
Other income, gains and losses Ea A~ Wzs B R 8 10,625 37,466
Selling expenses HEEM (8,590) (14,227)
Administrative and other expenses TR EME A (129,186) (113,403)
Impairment loss on property, Wz WE MR EREEE
plant and equipment 13 (13,771) -
Impairment loss on intangible assets EmEEREBEEE 14 (59,186) -
Impairment loss on loan receivables EWEFREEE 16 (2,498) -
Impairment loss on factoring receivables FEURREFIAEREERE 20 (93,909) -
Finance costs & B A 9 (7,336) (15,992)
Loss before taxation B AT ES 18 (183,619) (61,088)
Income tax expenses IS BiFx 10 (27,993) (4,082)
Loss for the year FREE 1 (211,612) (65,170)
Other comprehensive income for the year FREMEMEUA
Items that may be reclassified subsequently FEEREREH 7 BEE1EH >
to profit or loss: HE:
Exchange differences arising on translation of B GINEEMERREL 2
financial statements of foreign operations E 3 =58 (10,702) 21,244
Total comprehensive income for the year FAZHEUW AL (222,314) (43,926)
Loss for the year attributable to: FEIEFREE:
— Owners of the Company — R RHEB A (217,980 (67,640)
— Non-controlling interests — IV S 6,368 2,470
(211,612) (65,170)
Total comprehensive income attributable to: ~ FE{F & E U A\ 48 %8 :
— Owners of the Company . WNEIE 2= DN (228,189) (48,641)
— Non-controlling interests —JEfE iR 5,875 4,715
(222,314) (43,926)
Loss per share HEE
Basic and diluted (HK cents) BEARRE#E (L) 12 (1.07) (0.33)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

mﬁ%ﬂﬁﬁﬂﬁﬂi

Asat31March2019 R—Z—h&E=A=+—H
2019 2018
—E-hE —E-N\F
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
M5 FET FET
Non-current assets FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment W BB M E 13 199,872 23,357
Intangible assets mEEE 14 = 59,186
Interests in associates REEL NB 2w 15 = -
Loan receivables FEWE K 16 103,629 133,704
Deferred tax assets BEEMIEEE 17 40,884 39,351
344,385 255,598
Current assets REBEE
Properties held for sale FEME 18 1,862,565 2,809,622
Trade and other receivables i e= %HEIE&E@JEH&HEIE 19 115,529 154,799
Factoring receivables U AR IR T T 20 40,174 123,150
Loan receivables EUE R 16 36,384 18,571
Restricted bank deposits PR HIER 1T 21 6,479 11,947
Bank balances and cash WITHEERRS 21 911,602 1,167,633
2,972,733 4,285,722
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables JENE ZBERENHEMEMNERE 2 870,257 934,063
Contract liabilities AHEaE 23 646,202 -
Deposits received for sale of properties IHEWEMZE 24 = 1,311,790
Borrowings & 25 569,943 813,590
Amount due to non-controlling interests FESF FEHE I 25 FNIE 34 59,511 61,508
Amount due to ultimate holding company R R EIER AR FRIB 34 1,775 2,304
Tax liabilities MIEAE 31,154 18,604
2,178,842 3,141,859
Net current assets REBEEZFEE 793,891 1,143,863
Total assets less current liabilities BEERARBER 1,138,276 1,399,461
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As at 31 March 2019 A=Z— A,

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
M FExT FET
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Borrowings EE8 25 35,974 68,785
Net assets EEFE 1,102,302 1,330,676
Capital and reserves B
Share capital A 26 20,319 20,319
Reserves T 1,059,471 1,293,720
Equity attributable to owners of the Company AR FEAR A FE(GHER 1,079,790 1,314,039
Non-controlling interests FE P2 )4 25 22,512 16,637
Total equity R 1,102,302 1,330,676
On behalf of the board of directors REXESFE
Yuen Leong Luan Li
Director Director
) BRI
EF EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

FeEQEER

For the year ended 31 March 2019 HiZE=Z— N F=HA=+—HIEFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

KARREAER
Capital Non-
Share Statutory Share  Contributed  redemption  Translation Accumulated controlling
capital reserve premium surplus reserve reserve losses Total interests Total
E1ERE

Bx  EERE  ROEE RS L
HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HKS 000 HKS 000
TR TR Tk TR TR

RERE  2HER BE  FEGER 3
HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
TR T TR TR TR

(note 26) (note 27) (note a)
(HizE26) (W&27)  (Bfia)
At1 April 2017 RZE—+ENA-H 20319 848 9,009,799 51,655 3781 12,588 (7,736,310 1,362,680 11,922 1,374,602
Exchange difference arising on translation BERNERTBERREEL
financial statements of foreign operations EREE - - - - - 18999 - 18,999 245 21244
Loss for the year FREE - - - - - - (67,640) (67,640) 2470 (65,170)
Total comprehensive income for the year ERZARNESE - - - - - 18999 (67,640) (48,641) 4715 (43,92)
Transfer surplus to statutory reserve (note b) ERABEETRE (i) - 397 - - - - (397) - - -
At 31 March 2018 and 1 April 2018 R-E-NF=A=+-8K
—E-\E¥MmE-A 20319 1,245 9,009,799 51,655 3781 31,587 (7,804,347) 1,314,039 16,637 1,330,676
Effect on adoption of HKFRS 9 FE R REERB% 2
7E - - - - - - (6,060) (6,060) - (6,060)
At 1 April 2018 (restated) RZZE-\§NA-B
(&&7)) 20319 1,245 9,009,799 51,655 3,781 31,587 (7,810,407) 1,307,979 16,637 1,324,616
Exchange difference arising on translation of BRESNEBMBRREEZ
financial statements of foreign operations EHEE - - - - - (10,209) - (10,209 (493) (10,702)
Loss for the year ENEE - - - - - - (217980) (217980) 6368 12
Total comprehensive income for the year FR2ERNLE - - - - - (10,209 217,980) (228,189) 5875 (222314)
At 31 March 2019 R=E-AE=A=1+-H 20319 1,245 9,009,799 51,655 3781 21378 (8,028,387) 1,079,790 2512 1,102,302

Note a:  The capital redemption reserve represents amounts transferred from contributed BifsEa

surplus upon the repurchase of the Company’s shares.

Note b:  According to relevant laws and regulation of the PRC, an entity established under ff&ED -

the PRC Company Law is required to make an appropriation at 10 percent of the
profit for the year as shown in the PRC statutory financial statements, prepared in
accordance with the Generally Accepted Accounting Principles in the PRC, to the
statutory reserve until the balance reached 50 percent of the registered capital
of the entity. The reserve appropriated can only be used to make up losses or to
increase the registered capital of the entity and is not distributable.

EABERFBEARBDRNNEORERSE
BRESZFOA -

REBFENBRER AR RIFHBEQRDE
B BEREFAKRBTEARGTRAR
WP BEEEVBHMRATFEMNBNED 2
TERZEERE BRHEFEINRERR
& A B50%41E - RTE S B FE R AR EAE
EREAEEMZEREMER  MART AR
DK
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

FeleRER

For the year ended 31 March 2019 &£ ==

—NFE=ZA=1t—BLFE

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-)N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES & ZEIB2HESRE
Loss for the year FAEBE (211,612) (65,170)
Adjustments for: EE%ZLX TIER:
Income tax expenses 1S B 2 27,993 4,082
Depreciation of property, %% W E R EITE
plant and equipment 7,192 7,080
Reversal of impairment loss on TR 2R EEERD
land development expenditure - (6,428)
Reversal of impairment loss on trade FEWE 5 BR I8 K H R AR IR
and other receivables, net BAERERR FE (852) (5,344)
Impairment loss on property, Y R E R ERIEREEE
plant and equipment 13,771 -
Impairment of intangible asset | EERE 59,186 -
Impairment loss on loan receivables B E SR EEE 2,498 -
Impairment loss on factoring receivables JEULIRIE FRIB R E B 18 93,909 -
Written off on other receivables H b UK BR TR B GH 13,962 -
Gain on disposal of subsidiary HE B AR W (348) -
Government grant recognised 2R BT & B (224) (2,427)
Interest income A EUA (11,762) (8,344)
Interest expenses MEFX 7,336 15,992
1,049 (60,559)
Decrease in land development expenditure o3 5 B ST R - 165,301
Decrease/(increase) in properties held for sale  FE ¥R A, (#0) 668,774 (151,706)
Increase in trade and other receivables FEULE 5 BR 1A Jo H Ath FE UK AR IR 18 1 (993) (1,724)
Increase in factoring receivables FEUUR IR BB LS AN (19,326) (13,587)
Increase in finance lease receivables b & T & e WGRIR L N = (424)
Increase in loan receivables JE U B SR BN (1,930 (141,803)
Increase in trade and other payables FETE 5 BRIA K E b fE 1< BR TR 38 1 687 446,259
Decrease in contract liabilities/ HEMENEGHARZ
deposits received for sale of properties [ ¢ (601,363) (10,491)
Cash generated from operations KEFTSIE S 46,898 231,266
Income taxes and land appreciation BTSN LI ER - JF 58
taxes paid, net (8,263) (15,698)
Government grant received B UREAT & B 224 68
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES RETBHRE2RTFHE 38,859 215,636

1 1 2 International Business Settlement Holdings Limited Bl ¥ &ERERER AR



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

FeleRER

For the year ended 31 March 2019 BiZE =T —NF=H=F+—HIEFE

2019 2018
—ZE-hEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES REZEBHFFE2RHERE
Interest received B U F 8 11,762 8,344
Purchases of property, plant and equipment ~ BEE W% - B L& E (98) (6,099)
Purchases of intangible assets BEEVEE = (26,648)
Net cash outflow arising from HEMBAREAMNRS R L FEE
the disposal of a subsidiary (6) -
Placement of restricted bank deposits FAZRHIRITFER (3,387) (16,039)
Release of restricted bank deposits 5 B S2PR B IR TT 7 3K 8,270 38,418
Proceeds from repayment of advances to EBFE=-FERBHIE
third parties - 4,717
NET CASH FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES RETBHMBZRHEFHE 16,541 2,693
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES @BEZEBFEZRERE
Interest paid EAFE (76,871) (124,432)
New borrowings raised MESEEN 211,558 67,124
Repayment of borrowings EBEER (426,245) (519,935)
Advance from non-controlling interests REFEIEH R 2 BR 913 1,887
Repayment to ultimate holding company EEHKERAAFIE (529) (5)
Repayment of advance from third parties EEREE=SFT 28K (14,383) (13,110)
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES REFEFMACREFE (305,557) (588,471)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH RERBASE/MUWALDFE
EQUIVALENTS (250,157) (370,142)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FUOZHERESEEY
AT BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 1,167,633 1,513,380
EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES ON RePBESEEYEREH o FE
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (5,874) 24,395
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END FRZEGRESEEY
OF THE YEAR,
represented by bank balances and cash IRTTH#EGFE MR R R 911,602 1,167,633
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R e M BRRME

31 March2019 —ZE—hF=H=+—H

1. GENERAL

International Business Settlement Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is incorporated
in Bermuda as an exempted company with limited liability and its shares are
listed on the main board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). The immediate and ultimate holding company is Long Grand Limited,
a company incorporated in British Virgin Islands (the “BVI”"), which is owned by
Mr. Yam Yu and Mr. Yuen Leong (a director of the Company) of 70% and 30%,
respectively. Its registered office is at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton
HM 11, Bermuda and its principal place of business is at Room 2310, 23rd Floor,
China Resources Building, 26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong. The principal
activity of the Company continues to be investment holding. Detail of the principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 39 to the consolidated financial
statements.

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(a) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs — effective 1 April 2018

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs Amendment to HKAS 28 investments in

2014-2016 Cycle Associates and Joint Ventures

Amendments to HKFRS 2 Classification and Measurement of

Share-based Payment Transactions
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
HKFRS 15
HK(IFRIQ)-Interpretation 22

Revenue from Contracts with Customers

Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance
Considerations

Revenue from Contracts with Customers
(Clarifications to HKFRS 15)

Amendments to HKFRS 15

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle — Amendments to HKAS 28,
Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures

The amendments issued under the annual improvements process make small,
non-urgent changes to standards where they are currently unclear. They include
amendments to HKAS 28, Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures, clarifying
that a Venture Capital organisation’s permissible election to measure its associates or
joint ventures at fair value is made separately for each associate or joint venture.
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1. —REH

BREmEEEERERAR (ARR]TIREA
REAMA I ZHEERAT HRODESEH
BMEXHGMAERAR ([BMRM])FREm B
RBEEERATARBBRAR  EAREBE
TS ([(REBREAZHSE]) MK 2 RG] 55
HEFEERRREE (KRG —RES)HEES
70%5230%¢) #E & o B 5 il 9 % 5Z b 31k & Clarendon
House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda 2 2
FELEMUR/BEA LT BB E26RERHKE2
EBR0E-ARA X EXBFEBRINEER-
HMBAREZZXBNABINGEVBRE
Bi5E39 ©

2. EMERMBHRELE ([FEBYHE
WEED )

(a) ERAAHE RETEBUBHRERED -
—E-N\ENA-AEN

BERBT BRG] ARG ER
—E-FE F285 A
—E-RFRHBZ RalREERHEL
FEUE ®E (BETA)

EBVHRELAE2R ARG AEERZ
CEHEN) B el sk

REtE

ERTHHRELER LS ST HE

ERTHRELEAEH BEAHKA

X (ARG HRERE IMNERXZRENRE
ZBg) —ZEBERR

ERTHRELEAEH BEAHKA
CEREN) (EBAEBYB

s ERIZE155%)

ERMBEBREREA T -—NFEE_FT-AFEHY
ZEEBE-BB G ERFBRRBEARAR
BELECRE (BFTH)
RIBFEUCERREBRMOZFETHZIHERR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fRaMGRERME

31 March2019 —ZE—hAF=A=+—H

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

(@) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs — effective 1 April 2018
(Continued)

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle — Amendments to HKAS 28,

Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures (Continued)

The adoption of these amendments has no impact on these financial statements as
the Group is not a venture capital organisation.

Amendments to HKFRS 2 — Classification and Measurement of Share-Based
Payment Transactions

The amendments provide requirements on the accounting for the effects of vesting
and non-vesting conditions on the measurement of cash-settled share-based
payments; share-based payment transactions with a net settlement feature for
withholding tax obligations; and a modification to the terms and conditions of a
share-based payment that changes the classification of the transaction from cash-
settled to equity-settled.

The adoption of these amendments has no impact on these financial statements as
the Group does not have any cash-settled share-based payment transaction and has
no share-based payment transaction with net settlement features for withholding
tax.

HKFRS 9 - Financial Instruments

(i) Classification and measurement of financial instruments

HKFRS 9 replaces HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, bringing together all
three aspects of the accounting for financial instruments: (1) classification and
measurement; (2) impairment and (3) hedge accounting. The adoption of HKFRS 9
from 1 April 2018 has resulted in changes in accounting policies of the Group and
the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

2. HRMWBERMBHREERN ([FRME
HEAL) (&)
(a) EREAHET REBIIEBUBMERED -
“E-NFRA-BHEM(E)

BERMBEBREEN _—F-—NEEZ_F- FEH
ZEEBE-BRETENFBRERBEQAAR
BELEIRE (BITX) (B)

AR AR B IE R & A A4 R RN ZFERT
HMBmRRLELE -

BRMBHREENE2R (BFTF) -URHGR/E
B2NRRZ2DERAE

ZERTH AT I EM R BRIEELARE - 58 &IE
BEGTHARSEE R ARND RER Z MR
FHFTENTE  EANFREERIIRRERR
BEVABD RERZ MR 5 - R AR AE
B2 R 5 IR AR I E R ER BN 1R
WUBRSEE R AU RSEENER -

HRAREEETANRSEENURD RERZ
RNRR S IMEEA A NFREERNBRES
FrER AR BERZNRR S R RAZEFE
AIHM B mRLELE -

ERVEREENFE-eWMIA

() TRITAZSBER;E
EAUBRELABFR_T—\F—A—HB=K
ZERBFEARANKRBEBS LR ERS
BTAE BRAKE AHEBRIESH ZIMES
BH®E: (WDERE: QEE: RQ)YHEst-
BT \FMNA—BREMNE BT KRS ER
FOR D ERAEESHBUER RN A T REA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R e M BRRME

31 March2019 —ZE—hF=H=+—H

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

(@) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs — effective 1 April 2018
(Continued)

HKFRS 9 - Financial Instruments (Continued)

(i) dassification and measurement of financial instruments (Continued)

The following tables summarised the impact, net of tax, of transition to HKFRS 9 on

the opening balance of accumulated losses as of 1 April 2018 as follows (increase/

2. EMERMBHRELEA ([FEUHE
HEAL) (&)

() BRANHET RETEBUMBEREREN -
—E-N\FEA-REX ()

ERMBREEANFH-SMITA (4)

() EBTAZHER:E ()

TREMBESESHMBREEABRUBE—

T—\FOA—-BZ R BRENESHZTE (0

(decrease)): BRAFiIE) (3 Crd) )
HK$’000
FExT
Accumulated losses £ EE
As at 31 March 2018 RZZE—NF=A=+—H (7,804,347)
Increase in expected credit losses (‘ECLs”) in trade FEWE 5 8RIA - BURERIR  BIKRER R
receivables, factoring receivables, loan receivablesand ~ E M EWREMTETEEEE ([BHEEEBE])
other receivables (note 2a(ii) below) o (T 3B &2a(i)) (8,080)
Increase in deferred tax assets relating to BRARERE ZEERIBEEEEN
impairment provisions 2,020
As at 1 April 2018 (restated) RZZE—-N\FHEA—B (KLE7]) (7,810,407)

There is no significant impact in relation to the transition of HKFRS 9 on the opening
balance of non-controlling interests as of 1 April 2018.

HKFRS 9 carries forward the recognition, classification and measurement
requirements for financial liabilities from HKAS 39, except for financial liabilities
designated at fair value through profit or loss (‘FVTPL”), where the amount of change
in fair value attributable to change in credit risk of the liability is recognised in other
comprehensive income unless that would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch.
In addition, HKFRS 9 retains the requirements in HKAS 39 for derecognition of
financial assets and financial liabilities. However, it eliminates the previous HKAS
39 categories for financial assets of held to maturity financial assets, loans and
receivables and available-for-sale financial assets. The adoption of HKFRS 9 has no
material impact on the Group’s accounting policies related to financial liabilities and
derivative financial instruments. The impact of HKFRS 9 on the Group’s classification
and measurement of financial assets is set out below.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fRaMGRERME

31 March2019 —ZE—hAF=A=+—H

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

(@) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs — effective 1 April 2018
(Continued)

HKFRS 9 - Financial Instruments (Continued)

(i) dassification and measurement of financial instruments (Continued)

Under HKFRS 9, except for certain trade receivables (that the trade receivables do not

contain a significant financing component in accordance with HKFRS 15), an entity

shall, at initial recognition, measure a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the

case of a financial asset not at FVTPL, transaction costs. A financial asset is classified

as: (i) financial assets at amortised cost (“amortised cost”); (i) financial assets at fair

value through other comprehensive income (‘FVOCI"); or (iii) FVTPL (as defined in

above). The classification of financial assets under HKFRS 9 is generally based on two

criteria: (i) the business model under which the financial asset is managed and (ii) its

contractual cash flow characteristics (the “solely payments of principal and interest”

criterion, also known as “SPPI criterion”). Under HKFRS 9, embedded derivatives is

no longer required to be separated from a host financial asset. Instead, the hybrid

financial instrument is assessed as a whole for the classification.

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following
conditions are met and it has not been designated as at FVTPL:

. It is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in
order to collect contractual cash flows; and

. The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that meet the SPPI criterion.

2. HRMWBERMBHREERN ([FRME
HEAL) (&)
(a) EREAHET REBIIEBUBMERED -
“E-NFRA-BHEM(E)
BERUBHREENFR -SRI A ()
() ZBTAZDBERE(E)
RIBEBM B RS ERN SR  BFETERKE SR
H (REBEEEMHEREERF 155 BIE SHKRIA
TEREARBERD )N BENEERRKAR
RABEMRZEA (BRI IR A RET AR
S EMEE)FECREE - SREENERS:
(VZEHRA ([BERAR]FENEREE: (i)
BAREFAREMEENRE (MHEAREF AR
2EKEDOSREE K(iRAREFAERE
(EER L) -REFEVHRE LTS £
BMEEN DB RENRELER: |EREEXE
EORBEARMESORSRERE (HEXN
e RAE]EA THEE HEXNAS RF BT
) - RIBBFABMESERIESR RARITE
TAHARIBEREENHIIR -BMKZ R
AT AARRBNEIE-

HEREERKNA N TR BEXBEERAT
BErf AR AR B EA AT &

- EREEDREAEREENEDMENRS
MERSBNNEBEATHEE K

- SREEZAVBIREERHELENAE
SRS RMNEBEEZRERE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R e M BRRME

31 March2019 —ZE—hF=H=+—H

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

(@) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs — effective 1 April 2018
(Continued)

HKFRS 9 - Financial Instruments (Continued)

(i) dassification and measurement of financial instruments (Continued)

A debt investment is measured at FVOCI if it meets both of the following conditions

and it has not been designated as at FVTPL:

. It is held within a business model whose objective is to achieved by both
collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets; and

. The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that meet the SPPI criterion.

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Group
could irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in the investment’s fair
value in other comprehensive income. This election is made on an investment-by-
investment basis. All other financial assets not classified at amortised cost or FVOCI
as described above are classified as FVTPL. This includes all derivative financial
assets. On initial recognition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset
that otherwise meets the requirements to be measured at amortised cost or FVOCI
at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that
would otherwise arise.

The following accounting policies would be applied to the Group’s financial assets as
follows:
Amortised cost Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest rate method. Interest income, foreign
exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognised in
profit or loss. Any gain on derecognition is recognised in profit or
loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR R

31 March2019 —ZE—hAF=A=+—H

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

(@) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs — effective 1 April 2018

(Continued)

HKFRS 9 - Financial Instruments (Continued)

2.

()

HEAL) (&)

R ==

RMEBVBREER (FEBHMK

Rl RETEBUBHREER -
—E-N\FHA-BER (&)

BERUBREENFE -SRI A (&F)

(i) Classification and measurement of financial instruments (Continued) (1)

The following table summarises the original measurement categories under HKAS 39
and the new measurement categories under HKFRS 9 for each class of the Group’s

financial assets as at 1 April 2018:

ERMTAZDBELRTE (B
TEBAAERN T - NFHA—BEESR
BERBEEBGHENERNRA T EHH KR

RIBE B S ER FR Rt 2R -

Carrying amount

Carrying amount

as at as at

1 April 2018 1 April 2018

under HKAS 39 under HKFRS 9

BREEEE: RARE BB

HRIE395R  EEAERIZER

R-ZZE—N\F RZZE—N\F

mA—H MA—H

HIRRTE A HIRRTE &

Original classification New classification
Financial assets under HKAS 39 under HKFRS 9 HK$'000 HK$'000
BRIEEB G RRE B 15 s 4R

TRIEE F395R B R B FR R EEO5R H)FTAE R FET FET

Factoring receivables Loans and receivables (note 20) Amortised cost 123,150 120,687
JFEW R 12 FRIA B R e RIE (BiEE20) B AR

Loan receivables Loans and receivables (note 16) Amortised cost 152,275 147,744
e E TR B R W FRIE (Kizke) AR

Trade and other receivables Loans and receivables (note 19) Amortised cost 154,799 153,713
FEWE 5 BRTE K& B kW ERIE (FEE19) BIHRAR

HAth e BRIA

Restricted bank deposits Loans and receivables (note 21) Amortised cost 11,947 11,947
ZREIRITIER Bk ERIE (FEE21) BIHRAR

Bank balances and cash Loans and receivables (note 21) Amortised cost 1,167,633 1,167,633
RITHETFRR S B R s ERIE (HEE21) B AR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R e M BRRME

31 March2019 —ZE—hF=H=+—H

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

(@) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs — effective 1 April 2018
(Continued)

HKFRS 9 - Financial Instruments (Continued)

(i) Impairment of financial assets

The adoption of HKFRS 9 has changed the Group’s impairment model by replacing

the HKAS 39 “incurred loss model” to the “ECLs model”. HKFRS 9 requires the Group

to recognise ECLs for trade and other receivables, financial assets at amortised cost

earlier than HKAS 39. Bank balances and cash are subject to ECL model but the

impairment is immaterial for the current period.

Under HKFRS 9, the losses allowances are measured on either of the following
bases: (1) 12 months ECLs: these are the ECLs that result from possible default events
within the 12 months after the reporting date: and (2) lifetime ECLs: these are ECLs
that result from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial
instrument.

Measurement of ECLs
ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive. The shortfall is then discounted at an approximation to the assets’ original
effective interest rate.

The Group has elected to measure loss allowances for trade receivables using HKFRS
9 simplified approach and has calculated ECLs based on lifetime ECLs. The Group
has established a provision matrix that is based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment.
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fRaMGRERME

31 March2019 —ZE—hAF=A=+—H

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

(@) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs — effective 1 April 2018
(Continued)

HKFRS 9 - Financial Instruments (Continued)

(i) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

For all other financial assets, the ECLs are based on the 12-months ECLs. The

12-months ECLs is the portion of the lifetime ECLs that results from default events on

a financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.

However, when there has been a significant increase in credit risk since origination,

the allowance will be based on the lifetime ECLs. When determining whether the

credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition

and when estimating ECLs, the Group considers reasonable and supportable

information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes

both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Group’s

historical experience and informed credit assessment and including forward-looking

information.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly
if it is more than 30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when: (1) the borrower is
unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group in full, without recourse by the
Group to actions such as realising security (if any is held); or (2) the financial asset is
more than 90 days past due.

The maximum period considered when estimating ECL is the maximum contractual
period over which the Group is exposed to credit risk.

Presentation of ECLs
Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost are deducted from
the gross carrying amount of the assets.
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2.

(a)

—NFE=A=+—H

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs — effective 1 April 2018
(Continued)

HKFRS 9 - Financial Instruments (Continued)

(i)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Impact of the ECLs model

As mentioned above, the Group applies the HKFRS 9 to measure ECLs for all trade

and other receivables, factoring receivables and loan receivables. The results of the

ECLs assessment and the impact are as follows:

(1D

(i)

122

The increase in loss allowance for trade receivables upon the transition
to HKFRS 9 as of 1 April 2018 were approximately HK$18,000. The loss
allowances further increased by HK$15,000 during the year ended 31 March
2019. There is insignificant impact on loss allowance for the non-controlling
interests as at 1 April 2018.

The increase in loss allowance for factoring receivables and loan receivables
upon the transition to HKFRS 9 as of 1 April 2018 were HK$2,463,000 and
HK$4,531,000 respectively. The loss allowance increased for HK$93,909,000 for
factoring receivables and HK$2,489,000 for loan receivables during the year
ended 31 March 2019. There is insignificant impact on loss allowance for the
non-controlling interests as at 1 April 2018.

The increase in loss allowance for other receivables upon the transition
to HKFRS 9 as of 1 April 2018 were approximately HK$1,068,000. The loss
allowances decreased by HK$867,000 during the year ended 31 March
2019. There is insignificant impact on loss allowance for the non-controlling
interests as at 1 April 2018.
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31 March2019 —ZE—hAF=A=+—H

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

(@) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs — effective 1 April 2018
(Continued)

HKFRS 9 - Financial Instruments (Continued)

(i) Hedge accounting

Hedge accounting under HKFRS 9 has no impact on the Group as the Group does not

apply hedge accounting in its hedging relationships.

(iv)  Transition

The Group has applied the transitional provision in HKFRS 9 such that HKFRS 9 was
generally adopted without restating comparative information. The reclassifications
and the adjustments arising from the new ECLs rules are therefore not reflected
in the statement of financial position as at 31 March 2018, but are recognised in
the statement of financial position on 1 April 2018. This mean that differences
in the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities resulting from
the adoption of HKFRS 9 are recognised in accumulated losses and reserves as at
1 April 2018. Accordingly, the information presented for 2018 does not reflect the
requirements of HKFRS 9 but rather those of HKAS 39.

The following assessments have been made on the basis of the facts and
circumstances that existed at the date of initial application of HKFRS 9 (the “DIA”):

. The determination of the business model within which a financial asset is
held; and

. The designation and revocation of previous designations of certain financial
assets and financial liabilities as measured at FVTPL.

If an investment in a debt investment had low credit risk at the DIA, then the Group
has assumed that the credit risk on the asset had not increased significantly since its
initial recognition.

2. RMEARABKREERN ([FEYK
HERA]) (@)

(@) BRWAFR] BT EBYBREED -
—E-NEMA—BEN(E)

EBUMEREEA SN -SMTA(H)

i) B

Tt BT B Y B SEOSRIE T RO B IR B

S5 B0 S -yt T A AN S B AT R (R R

FEFR R R R o

(iv) ERZHE

AEECDEMAE LM REERFE5 M BIE ML
3 AE BB I 15 3R & R F o5k 2 H R A M
BAEFIRIE LA - Ft - AREEERER
AEENEHR D BMABRYER —T—/\F=A
=+ —BHMBARKP R R T~ \FD
A— BB R PR - RONER T B 5]
SENFIRMELNEREEN B BEREE
MEER-_T-\FHA-BRIADRFAERN
R -Et —F - \F2INERLTRREE
MIEREE RN ERRBEGHER
FIPRAVARTE °

LA T ST T AR 38 3 78 B 765 S 5 22 BI 28957 W)UK FE
BAEB([YMIRERAEB] FENEERERME
o

- EERANEREEMEBRNA R

c  EEABHERRETNETEREERSR
BESER/RRANEBEMARGDE-

MR EBIRENREEVRERBHAERIEN

(EEER  BIAERRR AR EEARAL Y
R R AR B 0 -

123

Annual Report 2018/2019




\

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R e M BRRME

31 March2019 —ZE— W F=HA=+—H

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

(@) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs — effective 1 April 2018
(Continued)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“HKFRS 15”)

HKFRS 15 supersedes HKAS 11 Construction Contracts, HKAS 18 Revenue and related
interpretations. HKFRS 15 has established a five-step model to account for revenue
arising from contracts with customers. Under HKFRS 15, revenue is recognised at the
amount that reflects the consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in
exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer.

The Group recognises revenue from the following major sources:

. Sales of properties

. Interest income from financing business

. Service fee for provision of settlement service

Among the above revenue of the Group, interest income from financing business
(within the scope of HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments) are not applied within the scope
of HKFRS 15.

The impact of transition to HKFRS 15 was insignificant on the accumulated losses

and non-controlling interests as at 1 April 2018.

The amount of adjustment for each financial statement line item of the
consolidated statement of financial position at 1 April 2018 affected by the
application of HKFRS 15 is illustrated below. Line items that were not affected by the
changes have not been included.
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2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

(@) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs — effective 1 April 2018
(Continued)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“HKFRS 15”) (Continued)

2. RMBEBMBREEN ([5BHE
HFEA) ()
(a) BRAHE RETEBUMBEREER -
—EF-\FENA-BEX(E)
ERRBRELAEE-FFANUA ([FS
BRI EH]) (8)

HKAS 18 HKFRS 15

carrying carrying

amount amount

31 March 2018 Reclassification 1 April 2018

RIEFBETT RIBE BT

Z B 251857 ¥ 5 2 A 51555

Y BRI B B ERE B

—E-N\F —E-N\F

=A=+-—H EXSE MA—H

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

T T FHT

Contract liabilities (note 1) GHEE () - 1,311,790 1,311,790
Deposits received for sale HEWMEMBIZE

of properties 1,311,790 (1,311,790) -
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2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

(@) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs — effective 1 April 2018
(Continued)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“HKFRS 15”) (Continued)

The following tables summarised the impact of adopting HKFRS 15 on the Group’s
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2019. There was no
material impact on the Group’s consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year ended
31 March 2019:

Impact on the consolidated statement of financial position as of 31 March 2019:

Amounts without

2. HWBERMBHREEN ([FRME
HEAL) (5
(a) EREAHET REBIIEBUBMERED -
“E-N\FRA-BEM(E)

ERMBRELENERE -FEFEHABRA([FE
B mEEANEH]) (&)
TRBARKTEREREENBREAEE
RZFB-NFZA=T—BZ2HEEFHIRRAERDN
T8 HAKEREE_ZT-NF=RA=+—HLt
FEzZGAEaEMEZARER GRS
EXRVEBEATE:

HEEZ—F—NF=A=1+—HZHEEHHENKL
KA ZE

As at 31 March 2019
R=-ZB—-hE=A=+—8H
Effects of the

the adoption of adoption of Amounts as
HKFRS 15 HKFRS 15 reported
KREREE EREBMK
B 7 3R 45 22 Al R ZEAl
1SRN S F1HNTE EHRNEHE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET FHET
Consolidated statement of RE AR AEK (FEk)
financial position (extract)
Contract liabilities SHEE - 646,202 646,202
Deposits received for sale IHEMEMBIZE
of properties (646,202) (646,202) -
Note 1:  Contract liabilities in relation to property sales contracts were previously included in i1 : BREAMEHEESENZANEBEARATAEE

deposits received for sale of properties HK$1,311,790,000.

HKFRS 15 did not result in significant impact on the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income for the year ended 31 March 2019.

126

International Business Settlement Holdings Limited Bl E¥4&ERKRER AR

Y2 FTURI% 41,311,790,0007% 7T ©

BEVBEREENESHREBE_FT-NF=A
=t BLEFEZHGABEaMEMEEKERL
BEATE-



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fRaMGRERME

31 March2019 —ZE—hAF=A=+—H

RMEBMBREER (FEBHMK

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING 2.
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued) HEH]) (&)
(@) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs — effective 1 April 2018 (a)

(Continued)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“HKFRS 15”) (Continued)

Details of the new significant accounting policies and the nature of the changes to
previous accounting policies in relation to the Group’s property development and

Rl RETEBUBHRERER -

“E-NFRA-BAER(E)

ERMBRELENERE -FEFEHABRA([FE

B mEEANEH]) (&)

international settlement business are set out below: N

Product/ service

Em/R%

Nature of the goods or services, satisfaction of
performance obligations and payment terms

AR REEE EREOEERIRER

ERASENERENERGEEZBENMTEKR
SRR LR G RRIEEZ S FEHIIW

Nature of change in
accounting policy and
impact on 1 April 2018
S BREHUER
R-ZE—-NFWMAE—H

A

Property development

EITE

Customers obtain control of the property units when the legal title of properties are
transferred to and have been accepted by them. Revenue is thus recognised upon
when the customers accept the property units so transferred.

B R Rz W) 5 2 7R TE B B 1R BS99 56 BE AT 4% )4 - U A R

BEFPEMPT R YR B TER -

right of return
REHER

No right of return is noted from the Group’s contract with customers.
AEEEZEPHEAWETBEREER -

Financing component
BMEHS

Should the contract contain a significant financing component, the transaction price

should reflect the time value of money.

WAENBESEARERN Y RPEBERREENESEEE-

Annual Report 2018/2019

HKFRS 15 did not result in
significant impact on the
Group’s accounting policies.
However, upon the adoption
of HKFRS 15, the Group

has to make reclassification
from deposit received for
sale of properties to contract
liabilities.

BRI IMELERIFE155%
WEHAREEN SR
ERRE R E AR R
RMEBHBHRELERE
155k 1% - REBEKIHE
MEFRPIRSERHEAE
BREE-

127




\

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R e M BRRME

31 March2019 —ZE—hF=H=+—H

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING 2. RABEBUBHREEN (EBHMK
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued) HEH]) (8

(a) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs — effective 1 April 2018 (@) BRMAFR] BT EBYBREED -
(Continued) —E-N\FMA-BER(E)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“HKFRS 15”) (Continued) ERMBRELERNBEISE-FEFEHORA(TES

B mEEANEH]) (&)

Nature of change in

Nature of the goods or services, satisfaction of accounting policy and
Product/ service performance obligations and payment terms impact on 1 April 2018
S BREHUER
R-ZE—-NFWMAE—H
Em/ R BAmBREME ERBNEERATER NEe
Property development  Financing component (Continued) There is no financing
(Continued) BEHD (8) component considered
MR (8) The Group is not required to consider the time value of money if the period between  necessary by the Group.
payment and the transfer of the property unit is one year or less, as a practical AEXREBREVERR

expedient. In assessing whether a contract contains a significant financing component, & &% °
the Group considers various factors, including the length of time between when the

Group expected to transfer the property unit to the customer and when the customer

pays for them, and the interest rate in the contract and prevailing interest rates in the

relevant market.

ERAITHRE R A MYEEUNREREERNPBHA —FAT FAEH
BEZEEBNEREE ENAAAREEE HEARERN SR &
EZEZHAR BREASEEPNEFEEYESUETPRBERMEE
LR B A KRB KRBT E RABETISRTH X

For contracts where the period between the payment by the customer and transfer

of the promised property or service exceeds one year, the transaction price should

be adjusted for the effects or a financing component, if significant. The Group has
assessed that the financing component effect was insignificant.
MELNPHOENDEXRBAZT SN RERNEFEFEREE—F EXEE
ARZERT ZRGBRERBHEBTZEIMEDBOERE -RNEBEDTH
MEMBOTERSTEKN
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2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

(@) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs — effective 1 April 2018
(Continued)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“HKFRS 15”) (Continued)

Nature of the goods or services, satisfaction of
Product/ service performance obligations and payment terms

BB BRI REEE EREOEERIRER

2. HRMWBERMBHREERN ([FRME

HEAL) (&)
() BRANHET RETEBUMBEREREN -

—E-N\FEA-REX ()
ERMBRELANEE-FEFANRA (58
RHIS AR E15 ) ()

Nature of change in
accounting policy and
impact on 1 April 2018

BHRERBUER
R-E-NFMA—H
SEZ

International business  The Group providing settlement and clearing services for commercial and individual HKFRS 15 did not result in

settlement customers with the Electronic Money Institution license. significant impact on the
B4 E AEBRBEEFEBKMBETIE ABERBARFPRELERBEERM -  Group’s accounting policies.

Amendments HKFRS 15 — Revenue from Contracts with Customers
(Clarifications to HKFRS 15)

The amendments to HKFRS 15 included clarifications on identification of
performance obligations; application of principal versus agent; licenses of
intellectual property; and transition requirements.

The adoption of these amendments has no impact on these financial statements as
the Group had not previously adopted HKFRS 15 and took up the clarifications in
this, its first, year.

BAMBREER B
HARKE NG BRI &
EREATE-

BBV BHEEREIH (BFTEX) —BEFEHK
A (BBEEBYBEHEEERE155%)

RV REEREISH B REBBEHET
BEZHBN T BRARFEALKIEA  MBER
FEAL MOBIEARRE ©

RO SETEREERBHRRLELE - AN

AREE AR EM BB MG MEERF1555% - W
BREREE I mE L &S
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2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

(@) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs — effective 1 April 2018
(Continued)

HK(IFRIC)-Int 22 — Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration

The Interpretation provides guidance on determining the date of the transaction
for determining an exchange rate to use for transactions that involve advance
consideration paid or received in a foreign currency and the recognition of a non-
monetary asset or non-monetary liability. The Interpretations specifies that the date
of the transaction for the purpose of determining the exchange rate to use on initial
recognition of the related asset, expense or income (or part thereof) is the date
on which the entity initially recognises the non-monetary asset or non-monetary
liability arising from the payment or receipt of advance consideration.

The adoption of these amendments has no impact on these financial statements as
the Group has not paid or received advance consideration in a foreign currency.

1 30 International Business Settlement Holdings Limited BB @& ERRAR AR
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2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)
(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet

effective

The following new/revised HKFRSs, potentially relevant to the Group’s financial

statements, have been issued, but are not yet effective and have not been early

adopted by the Group. The Group’s current intention is to apply these changes on the

date they become effective.

HKFRS 16
HK(FRIO-Int 23

Amendments to HKFRS 9

Amendments to HKAS 19

Amendments to HKAS 28

Annual Improvements to

HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle
Annual Improvements to

HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle
Annual Improvements to

HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle
Annual Improvements to

HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle
Amendments to

HKAS 1 and HKAS 8
Amendments to

HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28

Leases'
Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments’

Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation’
Plan amendment, curtailment or settlement’
Long-term Interests in Associates and

Joint Ventures'
Amendments to HKFRS 3, Business Combinations’
Amendments to HKFRS 11, Joint Arrangements’
Amendments to HKAS 12, Income Taxes'
Amendments to HKAS 23, Borrowing Costs'

Definition of material?

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture®

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020

3 The amendments were originally intended to be effective for periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2017. The effective date has now been deferred/removed. Early
application of the amendments of the amendments continue to be permitted.
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HEAL (&
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B 75 % 5 22
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BB RE LR E REEFEHREHE
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(BFTA) REER
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2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)
(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet
effective (Continued)
HKFRS 16 — Leases
HKFRS 16, which upon the effective date will supersede HKAS 17 “ Leases “ and
related interpretations, introduces a single lessee accounting model and requires a
lessee to recognise assets and liabilities for all leases with a term of more 12 months,
unless the underlying asset is of low value. Specifically, under HKFRS 16, a lessee is
required to recognise a right-of-use asset representing its right to use the underlying
leased asset and a lease liability representing its obligation to make lease payments.
Accordingly, a lessee should recognise depreciation of the right-of use asset and
interest on the lease liability, and also classifies cash repayments of the lease
liability into a principal portion and an interest portion and presents them in the
statement of cash flows. Also, the right-of-use asset and the lease liability are initially
measured on a present value basis. The measurement includes non-cancellable
lease payments and also includes payments to be made in optional periods if the
lessee is reasonably certain to exercise an option to extend the lease, or to exercise
an option to terminate the lease. This accounting treatment is significantly different
from the lessee accounting for leases that are classified as operating leases under the
predecessor standard, HKAS 17.

In respect of the lessor accounting, HKFRS 16 substantially carries forward the lessor
accounting requirements in HKAS 17. Accordingly, a lessor continues to classify its
leases as operating leases or finance leases, and to account for those two types of
leases differently.

As at 31 March 2019, the Group was a lessor and lessee under a number of leasing
arrangements. In respect of those arrangements in which the Group was a lessee,
a preliminary assessment indicates that the arrangements will continue to meet
the definition of leases under HKFRS 16, and hence the Group will recognise a
right-of-use asset of approximately HK$7,814,000 and a corresponding liability
of approximately HK$7,992,000 in respect of all these leases unless they qualify
for low value or short-term leases upon the application of HKFRS 16. In addition,
the application of new requirements may result in changes in measurement,
presentation and disclosure as indicated above.
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2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet
effective (Continued)

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 — Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

The Interpretation supports the requirements of HKAS 12, Income Taxes, by
providing guidance over how to reflect the effects of uncertainty in accounting
for income taxes. Under the Interpretation, the entity shall determine whether
to consider each uncertain tax treatment separately or together based on which
approach better predicts the resolution of the uncertainty. The entity shall also
assume the tax authority will examine amounts that it has a right to examine and
have full knowledge of all related information when making those examinations. If
the entity determines it is probable that the tax authority will accept an uncertain
tax treatment, then the entity should measure current and deferred tax in line
with its tax filings. If the entity determines it is not probable, then the uncertainty
in the determination of tax is reflected using either the “most likely amount” or
the “expected value” approach, whichever better predicts the resolution of the
uncertainty.

Amendments to HKFRS 9 — Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation

The amendments clarify that prepayable financial assets with negative
compensation can be measured at amortised cost or at FVOC! if specified conditions
are met — instead of at FVTPL.

Amendments HKAS 19 — Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement

Amendments to HKAS 19 address the accounting for a defined benefit plan when
a plan amendment, curtailment or settlement occurs during a reporting period.
The amendments specify that when a plan amendment, curtailment or settlement
occurs during the annual reporting period, an entity is required to (i) determine
current service cost for the remainder of the period after the plan amendment,
curtailment or settlement using the actuarial assumptions used to remeasure the
net defined benefit liability or asset reflecting the benefits offered under the plan
and the plan assets after that event, and (ii) determine net interest for the remainder
of the period after the plan amendment, curtailment or settlement using the net
defined benefit liability or asset, reflecting the benefits offered under the plan and
the plan assets after that event and the discount rate used to remeasure that net
defined benefit liability or asset.
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2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet
effective (Continued)

Amendments HKAS 19 — Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement

(Continued)

The amendments also clarify that an entity first determines any past service cost,

or gain or loss on settlement, without considering the effect of the asset ceiling.

This amount is recognised on profit or loss. An entity then determines the effect

of the asset ceiling after the plan amendment, curtailment or settlement. Any

change in that effect, excluding amounts included in net interest, is recognised in

other comprehensive income. The Group expects to adopt the amendments to plan

amendments, curtailments or settlements occurring on or after 1 January 2019. The

standard is not expected to have any impact on the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 28

The amendment clarifies that HKFRS 9 applies to long-term interests (“LTI") in
associates or joint ventures which form part of the net investment in the associates
or joint ventures and stipulates that HKFRS 9 is applied to these LTI before the
impairment losses guidance within HKAS 28.

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle — Amendments to HKFRS 3,
Business Combinations

The amendments issued under the annual improvements process make small,
non-urgent changes to standards where they are currently unclear. They include
amendments to HKFRS 3 which clarifies that when a joint operator of a business
obtains control over a joint operation, this is a business combination achieved in
stages and the previously held equity interest should therefore be remeasured to its
acquisition date fair value.
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2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet
effective (Continued)

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle — Amendments to HKFRS 11,

Joint Arrangements

The amendments issued under the annual improvements process make small,
non-urgent changes to standards where they are currently unclear. They include
amendments to HKFRS 11 which clarify that when a party that participates in,
but does not have joint control of, a joint operation which is a business and
subsequently obtains joint control of the joint operation, the previously held equity
interest should not be remeasured to its acquisition date fair value.

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle — Amendments to HKAS 12,
Income Taxes

The amendments issued under the annual improvements process make small,
non-urgent changes to standards where they are currently unclear. They include
amendments to HKFAS 12 which clarify that all income tax consequences of
dividends are recognised consistently with the transactions that generated the
distributable profits, either in profit or loss, other comprehensive income or directly
in equity.

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle — Amendments to HKAS 23,
Borrowing Costs

The amendments issued under the annual improvements process make small,
non-urgent changes to standards where they are currently unclear. They include
amendments to HKFAS 23 which clarifies that a borrowing made specifically to
obtain a qualifying asset which remains outstanding after the related qualifying
asset is ready for its intended use or sale would become part of the funds an entity
borrows generally and therefore included in the general pool.
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2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet
effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 — Definition of material

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 provide a new definition of material. The new
definition states that information is material if omitting, misstating or obscuring
it could reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the primary users
of general purpose financial statements make on the basis of those financial
statements. The amendments clarify that materiality will depend on the nature or
magnitude of information. A misstatement of information is material if it could
reasonably be expected to influence decisions made by the primary users. The Group
expects to adopt the amendments prospectively from 1 April 2020. The amendments
are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 — Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

The amendments clarify the extent of gains or losses to be recognised when an entity
sells or contributes assets to its associate or joint venture. When the transaction
involves a business the gain or loss is recognised in full, conversely when the
transaction involves assets that do not constitute a business the gain or loss is
recognised only to the extent of the unrelated investors interests in the joint venture
or associate.

The Group is not yet in a position to state whether these new pronouncements
will result in substantial changes to the Group’s accounting policies and financial
statements.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION

(@) Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all
applicable HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations
(hereinafter collectively referred to as the “HKFRS”) and the provisions of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance which concern the preparation of consolidated financial
statements. In addition, the financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).

(b) Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost
basis, except for certain financial instruments that are measured at fair values, at the
end of each reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies set out below.

(c) Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires
management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity
or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated
financial statements are disclosed in note 5.

(d) Functional and presentation currency

The functional currency of the Group is Renminbi (‘RMB”), while the consolidated
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$). As the Company is
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”), the directors consider that it will be more appropriate to adopt Hong
Kong dollars as the Group’s and the Company’s presentation currency. All values are
rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.
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4, SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(@) Business combination and basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the
Group. Inter-company transactions and balances between group companies together
with unrealised profits are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated financial
statements. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of impairment on the asset transferred, in which case the loss is recognised
in profit or loss.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
from the effective dates of acquisition or up to the effective dates of disposal, as
appropriate. Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with those used by other
members of the Group.

Acquisition of subsidiaries or businesses is accounted for using the acquisition
method. The cost of an acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the acquisition-
date fair value of assets transferred, liabilities incurred and equity interests issued by
the Group, as the acquirer. The identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
are principally measured at acquisition-date fair value. The Group’s previously held
equity interest in the acquiree, if any, is re-measured at acquisition-date fair value
and the resulting gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss. The Group may
elect, on a transaction-by-transaction basis, to measure the non-controlling interests
that represent present ownership interests in the subsidiary either at fair value or
at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other non-
controlling interests are measured at fair value unless another measurement basis
is required by HKFRSs. Acquisition-related costs incurred are expensed unless they
are incurred in issuing equity instruments in which case the costs are deducted from
equity.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is recognised at
acquisition-date fair value. Subsequent adjustments to consideration are recognised
against goodwill only to the extent that they arise from new information obtained
within the measurement period (@ maximum of 12 months from the acquisition
date) about the fair value at the acquisition date. All other subsequent adjustments
to contingent consideration classified as an asset or a liability are recognised in profit
or loss.
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4., SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(@) Business combination and basis of consolidation (Continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the gain or loss on disposal is
calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the
consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the
previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the
subsidiary and any non-controlling interest. Amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to the subsidiary are accounted for in the same
manner as would be required if the relevant assets or liabilities were disposed of.

Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-controlling interests that
represent present ownership interests in the subsidiary is the amount of those
interests at initial recognition plus the non-controlling interest’s share of subsequent
changes in equity. Total comprehensive income is attributed to non-controlling
interests even if this results in the non-controlling interest having a deficit balance.

(b) Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an investee over which the Company is able to exercise control. The
Company controls an investee if all three of the following elements are present:
power over the investee, exposure, or rights, to variable returns from the investee,
and the ability to use its power to affect those variable returns. Control is reassessed
whenever facts and circumstances indicate that there may be a change in any of
these elements of control.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, investments in subsidiaries are
stated at cost less impairment loss, if any. The results of subsidiaries are accounted
for by the Company on the basis of dividend received and receivable.

() Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence and that is
neither a subsidiary nor a joint arrangement. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control over those policies.

Associates are accounted for using the equity method whereby they are initially
recognised at cost and thereafter, their carrying amount are adjusted for the Group’s
share of the post-acquisition change in the associates net assets except that losses in
excess of the Group’s interest in the associate are not recognised unless there is an
obligation to make good those losses.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

() Associates (Continued)

Profits and losses arising on transactions between the Group and its associates are
recognised only to the extent of unrelated investors’ interests in the associate. The
investor’s share in the associate’s profits and losses resulting from these transactions
is eliminated against the carrying value of the associate. Where unrealised losses
provide evidence of impairment of the asset transferred they are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Any premium paid for an associate above the fair value of the Group’s share of the
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired is capitalised and
included in the carrying amount of the associate. Where there is objective evidence
that the investment in an associate has been impaired, the carrying amount of the
investment is tested for impairment in the same way as other non-financial assets.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, investments in associates are
carried at cost less impairment losses, if any. The results of associates are accounted
for by the Company on the basis of dividends received and receivable during the
year.

(d)(A) Revenue recognition (accounting policies applied from 1 April
2018)

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable

from goods sold or services provided, net of discounts and sales related taxes. The

Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured;

when it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the entity; and when

specific criteria have been met for each of the Group’s activities, as described below:

(i)  Ssales of properties

Revenues are recognised when or as the control of the asset is transferred to the
customer. Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws that apply to the
contract, control of the asset may transfer over time or at a point in time. Control of
the asset is transferred over time if the Group’s performance:

. provides all of the benefits received and consumed simultaneously by the
customer; or

. creates and enhances an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

. do not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and the Group has
an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(d)(A) Revenue recognition (accounting policies applied from 1 April
2018) (Continued)

()  sales of properties (Continued)

If control of the asset transfers over time, revenue is recognised over the period

of the contract by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of that

performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when

the customer obtains control of the asset.

For property development and sales contract for which the control of the property
is transferred at a point in time and there is no enforceable right to payment from
the customers for performance completed to date, revenue is recognised when the
customer obtains the physical possession or the legal title of the completed property
and the Group has present right to payment and the collection of the consideration
is probable.

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the promised amount of
consideration for the effect of a financing component if it is significant.

(ii)  Settlement fee and clearing service income

Under HKFRS 15, settlement fee and clearing service income derived from
commercial and individual customers with the Electronic Money Institution license
is recognised when the relevant services are rendered. The Group charge a fixed
amount of service provided and recognises as revenue in the amount to which the
Group has a right to charge and corresponds directly with the value of performance
completed.

(iii)  Interest income

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding
and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that
asset’s net carrying amount on the initial recognition.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(d)(B) Revenue recognition (accounting policies applied until 31 March
2018)

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable.

Revenue is reduced for estimated customer returns, rebates and other similar

allowances.

Revenue is recognised when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured, when
it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the Group and when specific
criteria have been met for each of the Group’s activities, as described below.

Sales of goods

Revenue from sales of goods is recognised when goods are delivered and title has

passed, at which time all the following conditions are satisfied:

. the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of
ownership of the goods;

. the Group retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree
usually associated with ownership nor effective control over the goods sold;
. the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

. it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will
flow to the Group; and

. the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be
measured reliably.

Consultancy service
Revenue from consultancy service is recognised when service are provided.

Platform fee income
Platform fee income is recognised when the platform related services are provided.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(d)(B) Revenue recognition (accounting policies applied until 31 March
2018) (Continued)

Sales of properties

Revenue from sale of properties in the ordinary course of business is recognised

when the respective properties have been completed and delivered to the buyers.

Deposit and instalments received from purchasers prior to meeting the above

criteria for revenue recognition are included in the consolidated statement of

financial position under current liabilities.

Interest Income

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding
and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that
asset’s net carrying amount on the initial recognition.

(e) Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses.

The cost of property, plant and equipment includes its purchase price and the costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as
a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic
benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All
other repairs and maintenance are recognised as an expense in profit or loss during
the financial period in which they are incurred.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated so as to write off their cost net of
expected residual value over their estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The
useful lives, residual value and depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at the end of each reporting period. The useful lives are as follows:

Furniture and office equipment 3 to 5 years
Motor vehicles 4 to 5 years
Leasehold improvements Shorter of the lease periods or 3 years

Buildings Shorter of the lease periods or 40 years
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(e) Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Construction in progress is stated at cost less impairment losses. Cost comprises
direct costs of construction as well as borrowing costs capitalised during the
periods of construction and installation. Capitalisation of these costs ceases and the
construction in progress is transferred to the appropriate class of property, plant
and equipment when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the assets
for their intended use are completed. No depreciation is provided for in respect of
construction in progress until it is completed and ready for its intended use.

An asset is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if its carrying
amount is higher than the asset’s estimated recoverable amount.

The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment is the
difference between the net sale proceeds and its carrying amount, and is recognised
in profit or loss on disposal.

(f) Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to lessee. All other leases are
classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line
basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased
asset and recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Group as lessee

The total rentals payable under the operating leases are recognised in profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease incentives received are recognised
as an integrated part of the total rental expense, over the term of the lease.

The land and buildings elements of property leases are considered separately for the
purposes of lease classification.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(g) Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Internally generated intangible assets (research and development costs)
Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the year in which it
is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from development activities (or from
development phase of an internal project) is recognised if, and only if, all of the
following have been demonstrated:

it is technically feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be
available for use or sale;

- the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;

- the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

- how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefit;

- the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to
complete the development and to use or sell the intangible asset; and

- the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible
asset during its development.

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated intangible asset is the sum
of the expenditure incurred from the date when the intangible asset first meets the
recognition criteria listed above. Where no internally-generated intangible asset can
be recognised, development expenditure is recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which it is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated intangible assets are reported
at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment loss (if any), on
the same basis as intangible assets that are acquired separately.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future economic benefits
are expected from use or disposal. Gains and losses arising from derecognition of an
intangible asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and
the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(g) Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (Continued)

Impairment losses on tangible and intangible assets other than goodwill (see
the accounting policy in respect of goodwill above)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its
tangible assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of
the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any.
When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset,
the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the CGU to which the asset belongs.
Where a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate
assets are also allocated to individual CGUs, or otherwise they are allocated to the
smallest group of CGUs for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be
identified.

Intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment at least annually,
and whenever there is an indication that they may be impaired.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in
use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates
of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated to be less than its
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a CGU) is reduced to its
recoverable amount. In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss is
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable) and then
to the other assets on a prorate basis based on the carrying amount of each asset
in the unit. The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest of its
fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and
zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been allocated
to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset
(or a CGU) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would
have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a
CGU) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(h)  Properties held for sale

Completed properties and properties under development for sale in the ordinary
course of business are included in current assets and stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. Cost includes the cost of land, development expenditure,
borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy, and
other attributable expenses.

Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for properties held for sale
less all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale.

() Land development expenditure

Land development expenditure is stated at cost less accumulated impairment loss.
The cost includes expenditure directly attributable to the development of relevant
projects such as road construction, demolition, resettlement work.

(j)(A) Financial instruments (accounting policies applied from 1 April
2018)

For the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group has applied HKFRS 9 Financial

Instruments and the related consequential amendments to other HKFRSs. HKFRS 9

introduces new requirements for 1) the classification and measurement of financial

assets and financial liabilities, 2) ECLs for financial assets and 3) general hedge

accounting.

The Group has applied HKFRS 9 in accordance with the transition provisions set out
in HKFRS 9. i.e. applied the classification and measurement requirements (including
impairment) retrospectively to instruments that have not been derecognised as at
1 April 2018 (date of initial application) and has not applied the requirements to
instruments that have already been derecognised as at 1 April 2018. The difference
between carrying amounts as at 31 March 2018 and the carrying amounts as at
1 April 2018 are recognised in the opening accumulated losses as at 1 April 2018,
without restating comparative information.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(j)(A) Financial instruments (accounting policies applied from 1 April
2018) (Continued)

()  Financial assets

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without a significant financing

component) is initially measured at fair value plus, for an item not at FVTPL,

transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue. A trade

receivable without a significant financing component is initially measured at the

transaction price.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade
date, that is, the date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the period generally established by regulation or convention in the
market place.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirely when
determining whether their cash flows are SPPI.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Group’s business
model for managing the asset and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. The
Group only has the following type of debt instruments:

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and
the cash flows represent SPPI are measured at amortised cost. Financial assets at
amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest rate method.
Interest income, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognised
in profit or loss. Any gain on derecognition is recognised in profit or loss.

Equity instruments

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Group
could irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in the investment’s fair
value in other comprehensive income. This election is made on an investment-hy-
investment basis. Equity investments at FVOCl are measured at fair value. Dividend
income are recognised in profit or loss unless the dividend income clearly represents
a recovery of part of the cost of the investments. Other net gains and losses are
recognised in other comprehensive income and are not reclassified to profit or loss.
All other equity instruments are classified as FVTPL, whereby changes in fair value,
dividends and interest income are recognised in profit or loss.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(j)(A) Financial instruments (accounting policies applied from 1 April
2018) (Continued)

(ii)  Impairment loss on financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for ECLs on financial assets measured at

amortised cost. The ECLs are measured on either of the following bases: (1) 12

months ECLs: these are the ECLs that result from possible default events within the

12 months after the reporting date: and (2) lifetime ECLs: these are ECLs that result

from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial instrument. The

maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual

period over which the Group is exposed to credit risk.

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured
as the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group
in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive. The shortfall is then discounted at an approximation to the assets’ original
effective interest rate.

The Group has elected to measure loss allowances for trade receivables using HKFRS
9 simplified approach and has calculated ECLs based on lifetime ECLs. The Group
has established a provision matrix that is based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment.

For other debt financial assets, the ECLs are based on the 12-months ECLs. However,
when there has been a significant increase in credit risk since origination, the
allowance will be based on the lifetime ECLs.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased
significantly since initial recognition and when estimating ECLs, the Group considers
reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available without
undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative information
analysis, based on the Group’s historical experience and informed credit assessment
and including forward-looking information.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(j)(A) Financial instruments (accounting policies applied from 1 April
2018) (Continued)

(ii)  Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly

if it is more than 30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset to be credit-impaired when: (1) the borrower
is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group in full, without recourse by the
Group to actions such as realising security (if any is held); or (2) the financial asset is
more than 90 days past due.

Interest income on credit-impaired financial assets is calculated based on the
amortised cost (i.e. the gross carrying amount less loss allowance) of the financial
asset. For non credit-impaired financial assets interest income is calculated based on
the gross carrying amount.

(iii)  Financial liabilities

The Group classifies its financial liabilities, depending on the purpose for which the
liabilities were incurred. Financial liabilities at FVTPL are initially measured at fair
value and financial liabilities at amortised cost are initially measured at fair value,
net of directly attributable costs incurred.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities at amortised cost including trade and other payables, borrowings,
certain preference shares and the debt element of convertible loan note issued by
the Group are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method. The related interest expense is recognised in profit or loss.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised
as well as through the amortisation process.

(iv) Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a
financial asset or financial liability and of allocating interest income or interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts or payments through the expected life of
the financial asset or liability, or where appropriate, a shorter period.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(j)(A) Financial instruments (accounting policies applied from 1 April
2018) (Continued)

(v  Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds received,

net of direct issue costs.

The Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, Cap. 622, came into operation on 3 March
2014. Under the Ordinance shares of the Company do not have a nominal value.
Consideration received or receivable for the issue of shares on or after 3 March 2014
is credited to share capital. Commissions and expenses are allowed to be deducted
from share capital under s. 148 and s. 149 of the Ordinance.

(vi)  Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified
payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor
fails to make payment when due in accordance with the original or modified
terms of a debt instrument. A financial guarantee contract issued by the Group and
not designated as at FVTPL is recognised initially at its fair value less transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the issue of the financial guarantee contract.
Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group measures the financial guarantee
contact at the higher of: (i) the amount of the loss allowance, being the ECL provision
measured in accordance with principles of the accounting policy set out in 4(k)
(ii); and (i) the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, cumulative
amortisation recognised in accordance with the principles of HKFRS 15.

(vii) Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the future
cash flows in relation to the financial asset expire or when the financial asset has
been transferred and the transfer meets the criteria for derecognition in accordance
with HKFRS 9.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified in the relevant
contract is discharged, cancelled or expires. Where the Group issues its own equity
instruments to a creditor to settle a financial liability in whole or in part as a result
of renegotiating the terms of that liability, the equity instruments issued are the
consideration paid and are recognised initially and measured at their fair value on
the date the financial liability or part thereof is extinguished. If the fair value of
the equity instruments issued cannot be reliably measured, the equity instruments
are measured to reflect the fair value of the financial liability extinguished. The
difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability or part thereof
extinguished and the consideration paid is recognised in profit or loss for the year.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(j)(B) Financial instruments (accounting policies applied until 31
March 2018)

()  Financial assets

The Group classifies its financial assets at initial recognition, depending on the

purpose for which the asset was acquired. The Group’s financial assets are initially

measured at fair value plus transaction costs that are directly attributable to the

acquisition of the financial assets. Regular way purchases or sales of financial assets

are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. A regular way purchase or

sale is a purchase or sale of a financial asset under a contract whose terms require

delivery of the asset within the time frame established generally by regulation or

convention in the marketplace concerned.

Loans and receivables

These assets are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments
that are not quoted in an active market. They arise principally through the provision
of goods and services to customers (trade debtors), and also incorporate other types
of contractual monetary assets. Subsequent to initial recognition, they are carried at
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any identified impairment
losses. They are included in current assets, except for the amounts that are settled or
expected to be settled more than 12 months after the end of the reporting period.
These are classified as non-current assets.

(ii) Impairment loss on financial assets

The Group assesses, at the end of each reporting period, whether there is any
objective evidence that financial asset is impaired. Financial asset is impaired if
there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that has
occurred after the initial recognition of the asset and that event has an impact on
the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset that can be reliably estimated.
Evidence of impairment may include:

. significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

. a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal
payments;

. granting concession to a debtor because of debtor’s financial difficulty;

. it becoming probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation.
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4., SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(j)(B) Financial instruments (accounting policies applied until 31
March 2018) (Continued)

(ii)  Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

For loans and receivables

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss when there is objective evidence

that the asset is impaired, and is measured as the difference between the asset’s

carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows

discounted at the original effective interest rate, where the effect of discounting is

material. The carrying amount of financial asset is reduced through the use of a

provision account. When any part of financial asset is determined as uncollectible, it

is written off against the provision account for the relevant financial asset.

(iii)  Financial liabilities

The Group classifies its financial liabilities, depending on the purpose for which the
liabilities were incurred. Financial liabilities at amortised cost are initially measured
at fair value, net of directly attributable costs incurred.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities at amortised cost including trade and other payables, borrowings,
amount due to non-controlling interests and amount due to ultimate holding
company are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method. The related interest expense is recognised in profit or loss.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised
as well as through the amortisation process.

(iv)  Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a
financial asset or financial liability and of allocating interest income or interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts or payments through the expected life of
the financial asset or liability, or where appropriate, a shorter period.

(v}  Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded of proceeds received, net of
direct issue costs.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(j)(B) Financial instruments (accounting policies applied until 31
March 2018) (Continued)

(vij Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the future

cash flows in relation to the financial asset expire or when the financial asset has

been transferred and the transfer meets the criteria for derecognition in accordance

with HKAS 39.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified in the relevant
contract is discharged, cancelled or expires.

(k) Taxation
Income tax expenses represent the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred
tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs
from profit before tax as reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income because of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred
tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In
addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from the initial recognition of goodwill.
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4., SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(k)  Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and associates, except where the Group is able
to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such investments
and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will
be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of the reporting
period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to
apply in the period in which the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on
tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences
that would follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when it relates to
items that are recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in
which case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises
from the initial accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is included in
the accounting for the business combination.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

()  Foreign currency

Transactions entered into by group entities in currencies other than the currency
of the primary economic environment in which it/they operate(s) (the “functional
currency”) are recorded at the rates ruling when the transactions occur. Foreign
currency monetary assets and liabilities are translated at the rates ruling at the end
of reporting period. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the
fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the
translation of monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which
they arise. Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items
carried at fair value are included in profit or loss for the period except for differences
arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items in respect of which gains and
losses are recognised in other comprehensive income, in which case, the exchange
differences are also recognised in other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, income and expense items of foreign operations are translated
into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. HK$) at the average exchange
rates for the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the period,
in which case, the rates approximating to those ruling when the transactions took
place are used. All assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated at the
rate ruling at the end of reporting period. Exchange differences arising, if any, are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity as translation
reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate). Exchange differences
recognised in profit or loss of the group entities’ separate financial statements on the
translation of long-term monetary items forming part of the Group’s net investment
in the foreign operation concerned are reclassified to other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity as translation reserve.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

()  Foreign currency (Continued)

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative exchange differences recognised
in the translation reserve relating to that operation up to the date of disposal are
reclassified to profit or loss as part of the profit or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired arising on an
acquisition of a foreign operation on or after 1 January 2005 are treated as assets
and liabilities of that foreign operation and translated at the rate of exchange
prevailing at the end of reporting period. Exchange differences arising are recognised
in the translation reserve.

(m) Capitalisation of borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of
qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets until
such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs
eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
are incurred.

(n) Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the
Group will comply the conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants that are receivables as compensation for expenses or losses
already incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the
Group with no future related cost are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they become receivables.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(o) Employee benefits

(i)  Short term employee benefits

Short term employee benefits are employee benefits (other than termination
benefits) that are expected to be settled wholly before twelve months after the end
of the annual reporting period in which the employees render the related service.
Short term employee benefits are recognised in the year when the employees render
the related service.

(ii) Defined contribution retirement plan
Contributions to defined contribution retirement plans are recognised as an expense
in profit or loss when the services are rendered by the employees.

(iii) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised on the earlier of when the Group can no longer
withdraw the offer of those benefits and when the Group recognises restructuring
costs involving the payment of termination benefits.

(p) Impairment of non-financial assets other than goodwill

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of the
following assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have
suffered an impairment loss or an impairment loss previously recognised no longer
exists or may have decreased:

. property, plant and equipment;

. intangible assets;

. interests in associates;

. properties held for sale; and

. investments in subsidiaries in the Company’s statement of financial position.
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4., SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(p) Impairment of non-financial assets other than goodwill
(Continued)

If the recoverable amount (i.e. the greater of the fair value less costs of disposal

and value in use) of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the

carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment

loss is recognised as an expense immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried at a

revalued amount under another HKFRS, in which case the impairment loss is treated

as a revaluation decrease under that HKFRS.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset
is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, to the extent that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income immediately, unless
the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount under another HKFRS, in which
case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase under
that HKFRS.

Value in use is based on the estimated future cash flows expected to be derived from
the asset or CGU (see note 4(g)), discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset or CGU.

(q) Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or amount when the
Group has a legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event,
which will probable result in an outflow of economic benefits that can be reliably
estimated.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or
the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent
liability, unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations, the existence of which will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events, are also disclosed as contingent liabilities
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Related parties

A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the Group if
that person:

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of key management personnel of the Group or the Company’s
parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions apply:

The entity and the Group are members of the same group (which means that
each parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate
or joint venture of a member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an
associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of the employees
of the Group or an entity related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a
member of key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the
entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the group or to the group’s parent.

International Business Settlement Holdings Limited Bl ¥ &ERERER AR

(it

(i)

(it

(i)

(iv)

(viii)

FEEIBER (&)

BEAL

fWiE A TAEAIER BB ALTHZEA
trABRBRERG AENEEERE

BARKEA R AR I
HAKEBEATES 3k

RARBRARRGRAETREEAR-

i@ A N IHERBER - BIAE
SEEHE

(L YN

ZEBMAEEBER -SE2KERR (R
=SNG = PNSIDE ES 1) MNCIEER Sl
) -

—EEESS E%Z FEARBERE
NAZHBARGED
BREEBEZKERT) -

—E=HTAM

ZRE
BEA-
%ﬁﬁﬁﬁl&\ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%z
348 NI T & 2 BB IR @ AR & -

ZERX (QFTHERZ A TR SRR

a)(i) Pl 2 A8 %

J.L:L

Hix
RRER (REEE
=

BEREEATEN
N2 EBER

=8

AASRESAAEEGARRHREEZEARE
ERBcERIEMBEEE NEMKE

NCIE



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fRaMGRERME

31 March 2019 —E—NF=A=+—H

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(r)  Related parties (Continued)

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may be
expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the
entity and include:

(i) that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;
(i) children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and

(iii)  dependents of that person or that person’s spouse or domestic partner.

(s) Share-based payment transactions

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

The fair value of services received determined by reference to the fair value of share
options granted at the grant date is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting
period or is recognised as an expense in full at the grant date when the share options
granted vest immediately, with a corresponding increase in share option reserve.

At the end of reporting period, the Group revises its estimates of the number
of option that are expected to ultimately vest. The impact of the revision of the
original estimates during the vesting period, if any, is recognised in profit or loss
such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding
adjustment to share option reserve.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised in share option
reserve will be transferred to share premium. When the share options are forfeited
after the vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to accumulated
losses.
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5.  CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires management to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
revenue, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities,
at the reporting date. However, uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates
could result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical
experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Key sources of estimation
uncertainty are as follows:

(@) Key sources of estimation uncertainty

(i) Impairment of property, plant and equipment

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is an
indication that an asset may be impaired. If any such indication exists, the Group
makes an estimate of the recoverable amount of the asset. This requires an
estimation of the value-in-use of the cash generating unit to which the asset is
allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the Group to make an estimate of
the expected future cash flows from the cash generating unit and also to choose a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.
A change in the estimated future cash flows and/or the discount rate applied will
result in an adjustment to the estimated impairment provision previously made. The
Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is an indication
that property, plant and equipment may be impaired. Details of property, plant and
equipment is set out in note 13.

(ii) Impairment of properties held for sale

The Group'’s properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value with aggregate carrying amount of approximately HK$1,862,565,000 as at
31 March 2019 (2018: HK$2,809,622,000). The net realisable value is the estimated
selling price less estimated selling expenses and estimated cost of completion (if
any), which are determined based on best available information and latest market
conditions. Where there is any decrease in the estimated selling price arising from
any changes to the property market conditions in the PRC, there may be write-down
on the properties under development for sale and completed properties held for
sale. Details of properties held for sale is set out in note 18.
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5.  CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

(@) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(iii) Impairment of intangible asset

The intangible asset is stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated

impairment. Intangible asset available for use is tested for impairment at least

annually, and whenever there is an indication that they may be impaired.

Determining whether intangible assets are impaired requires an estimation of the

future cash flows expected to arise from the intangible asset and a suitable discount

rate in order to calculate present value. Where the actual future cash flows are less

than expected, a material impairment loss may arise.

(iv)  Net realisable value for properties for development, properties under
development and completed properties held for sale

Properties for development, properties under development and completed
properties remaining unsold at the end of each reporting period are stated at
the lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value for properties for
development and properties under development is determined by reference to
management estimates of the selling price based on prevailing market conditions,
less applicable variable selling expenses and the anticipated costs to completion. Net
realisable value for completed properties held for sale is determined by reference to
management estimates of the selling price based on prevailing market conditions,
less applicable variable selling expenses. During the course of their assessment,
the management will also make reference to property valuations conducted by
independent qualified professional valuers based on comparable market prices. The
management are required to revise these estimates if there is a change in market
condition or demand. If actual market conditions are less favourable than those
projected by management, additional adjustments to the value of properties for
development, properties under development and completed properties held for sale
may be required. As at 31 March 2019, the carrying amounts of properties under
development and completed properties held for sale are HK$593,142,000 (2018:
HK$2,140,397,000) and HK$1,269,423,000 (2018: HK$669,225,000) respectively.

(v Income taxes and deferred taxes

The Group is subject to taxation in the PRC and Hong Kong. Significant judgement
is required in determining the amount of the provision for taxation and the timing
of the related payments. There are many transactions and calculations for which
the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business.
Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that
were initially recorded, such difference will have impact on the income tax and/or
deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made.
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5.  CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

(@) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(vi) Land appreciation taxes

PRC land appreciation tax (‘LAT") is levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to

60% on the appreciation of land value, being the proceeds of sale of properties less

deductible expenditures including land use rights, borrowing costs and all property

development expenditures.

Those subsidiaries of the Company which are engaged in property development
business in the PRC are subject to land appreciation taxes, which have been included
in income tax expenses in profit or loss. However, the implementation of these taxes
varies amongst various PRC cities and the Group has not finalised its LAT returns
with the relevant tax authorities in respect of certain property development projects.
Accordingly, significant judgement is required in determining the amount of land
appreciation and its related taxes. The ultimate tax determination is uncertain
during the ordinary course of business. The Group recognises these liabilities based
on management’s best estimates. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is
different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact
the income tax expenses and provision for land appreciation taxes in the period in
which such determination is made.

(vii) Impairment of financial assets measured at amortised cost

Management estimates the amount of loss allowance for ECLs on financial assets
that are measured at amortised cost based on the credit risk of the respective
financial asset. The loss allowance amount is measured as the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows
after taking into consideration of expected future credit loss of the respective
financial asset. The assessment of the credit risk of the respective financial asset
involves high degree of estimation and uncertainty. When the actual future cash
flows are different from expected, a material impairment loss or a material reversal
of impairment loss may arise, accordingly.
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5.  CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

(b) Critical accounting judgments

Financing arrangements for hotel business

The Group has entered into certain hotel-room sales agreements whereby the Group

has determined that it retained the control of hotel. Accordingly, the Group has

recognised the hotel as property, plant and equipment (note 13) and the deposits

received as other borrowings (note 25). Otherwise, the Group excludes the hotel

from its consolidated statement of financial position and recognises the deposits

received as contract liabilities. The determination of whether the Group has retained

the control of hotel depends on an assessment of the relevant arrangements

relating to the financing arrangements and this has involved critical judgements by

management.

6. REVENUE

The principal activities of the Group are to (1) property development; (2)
international business settlement ; (3) financing business and (4) hotel business.
Further details regarding the Group’s principal activities are disclosed in note 7.
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6. WA
AEMOTEEB A (DWERE: QEREE
BEEQRMEREK: RWBEEE - BHAEERE
TRIEME — S ERERNET -

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET

Revenue from contracts with customers (note) ERPAHWA (FFE)
— Sales of properties —HEWE 811,012 531,663
— International business settlement services —BHEEELEE RS 150 -
811,162 531,663

Revenue from other sources E A AR

— Financing service income —RbE AR TS ULA 16,686 11,670
827,848 543,333
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6. REVENUE (Continued)

Note: Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers:

it

WA (&)
REEFAHRANES -

2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FET

Timing of revenue recognition A PN LA
— Goods transferred at a point in time —RE G E R, 811,012 531,663
— Services transferred over time —REE R A 150 -
811,162 531,663

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION
The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which are organised by different

business lines. In a manner consistent with the way in which information is

reported internally to the Group’s Executive Directors, being the chief operating

decision maker (“CODM”), for the purposes of resource allocation and performance

assessment, the Group has identified the following reportable segments.

Property
development

International
business
settlement

Financing business

Hotel business

Developing and selling of commercial and residential
properties, car parking spaces including undertaking of
primary land development activities, in the PRC.

Providing settlement and clearing services for commercial and
individual customers with the Electronic Money Institution
license.

Provision of finance through money lending services, finance
leases, leasing, factoring and other related services.

Hotel development and provision of hotel management
services in the PRC.
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7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Following the newly started up hotel business segment in current reporting period,
the CODM considered that the property development segment, international
business settlement segment, financing business segment and hotel business
segment are the main businesses lines and reportable operating segments of the
Group. Operations other than these four segments are not significant to the Group
and presented as “Others” for reporting purpose.

(@) Segment revenue and results
For the year ended 31 March 2019

International

7. EER®E)

AR BRI R RSB A MR - T ERER
BERA WEHEHSE DEEBELEESE B
BEBHEURBELEIBARERNTEY
B R 2MS LR - BRI E S B ETS
BEUAEENSLREA KHSBALEH A
[EAh] o

(a TEWARESE
BE-ZE-NE=A=+—-RHLEE

Property business Financing Hotel
development settlement husiness business Others Total
NERZ BEREREER MEXK BIEER Hity @5t
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TERT TR THERT THT TR TERT
REVENUE KA
External sales and HINEERDBERA
segment revenue 811,012 150 16,686 - - 827,848
Segment profit/loss) AREER/ (FR) 52,273 (133,107) (94,808) (4,689) (794) (181,125)
Unallocated corporate expenses 72 E2 A 7] & (14,256)
Bank interest income BITFISHA 11,762
Loss before taxation BB (183,619)
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7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(@) Segment revenue and results (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2018

7.
(a)

International

PEERE (8)
DHEWMARES (
BE-—T—\GE-A=+—BILEE

%)

=

Property business Financing
development settlement business Others Total
MERE BEENELEE BE XD HAth 5T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET FHET FHET
REVENUE LON
External sales and segment ~ ¥T4MEE K&
revenue pak LI ON 531,663 - 11,670 - 543,333
Segment profit/(loss) FEEHEF (E18) 4,253 (56,986) 6,255 (721) (47,199)
Unallocated corporate AOERARER
expenses (22,233)
Bank interest income RITFBULA 8,344
Loss before taxation bR AT E 1B (61,088)

The accounting policies of the operating and reportable segments are the same
as the Group’s accounting policies described in note 4. Segment results represent
the results from each segment without allocation of central administration costs
including directors’ emoluments and bank interest income. This is the measure
reported to the CODM for the purposes of resource allocation and performance

assessment.
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7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 7. EER®E)
(b) Segment assets and liabilities b) PEEERERE
2019 2018
—B-NF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
ASSETS &E
Segment assets NIEE
Property development bE kS 1,997,302 2,988,144
International business settlement BEEEE 10,105 105,948
Financing business B & TS 182,458 275,886
Hotel business MiEEyi s 211,492 -
Others HAt, 1,666 965
Total segment assets NEEEBRE 2,403,023 3,370,943
Unallocated assets ROREE
Bank balances and cash RITHEFERRE 911,602 1,167,633
Other assets Hib&E 2,493 2,744
Total unallocated assets ROBLEELRRE 914,095 1,170,377
Consolidated total assets REBEREE 3,317,118 4,541,320
LIABILITIES afE
Segment liabilities AR
Property development ) 5 B B (1,976,329) (3,144,668)
International business settlement PEES R (62,442) (59,274)
Financing business EEEESi (3,400) (6971)
Hotel business B JE T (165,771) -
Others EAh (655) (763)
Total segment liabilities NIEAREERE (2,208,597) (3,205,396)
Unallocated liabilities KoL AE
Other liabilities Hib Ak (6,219) (5,248)
Total unallocated liabilities RO EERE (6,219) (5,248)
Consolidated total liabilities FaBERR (2,214,816) (3,210,644)
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7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 7. DEEHE(®H)
(b) Segment assets and liabilities (Continued) b) PEEEREE(HE)

For the purposes of monitoring segment performances and allocating resources FLEEER D AXRB LD BB EROEMS ¢
between segments:

«  all assets are allocated to operating segments other than bank balances and ~ + FEBEEPREAZESE (RITEHEFLE
cash and other assets not attributable to respective segments; and CARTEBREDPEZEMEERIN) &

< all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other than other payables -« FEBEEPREAZESE (TBRESE

not attributable to respective segments. 2 A FEBRIERRON) ©
(c) Other segment information  HitoEEHR
(i) Amounts included in the measure of segment profit or loss or segment assets: (i) 52 2 A% Fllak EiiE el S B ERF A2
B :
For the year ended 31 March 2019 BE-Z-NF=A=+—-RHLEFE
International Reportahle
Property husiness Financing Hotel segments’
development settlement husiness husiness total Others  Unallocated Total
LS 2R
MERR BELE MEXE BEER PEAE Hetr RDE @t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TER TET TER TER TER

Additions to property, RENE BEREE

plant and equipment - - - - - - 98 98
Depreciation of property, nE BERRGEZNE

plant and equipment (590) (6,353) (131) - (7,074) 2) (116) (7,192)
(Impairment loss)/reversal of JEURE 5 BRI T K Ao &

impairment loss on trade and WERE (RERSRE)/

other receivables BERE (15) - - - (15) - 867 852
Impairment loss on factoring FEMIRE A R E R

and loan receivables REBE - - (96,407) - (96,407) - - (96,407)
Impairment loss on property, nE BEREE

plant and equipment REBE - (13,771) - - (13,771) - - (13,771)
Impairment loss on intangible asset A EHERE - (59,186) - - (59,186) - - (59,186)
Government grant &R - - 24 - 224 - - 224
Finance costs BEMA (4,033) - (89) (3,214) (7,336) - - (7,336)
Written off on other receivables H R TE M 8 - (13,962) - - (13,962) - - (13,962)
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7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 7. DEE® )
(c) Other segment information (Continued) ( EHittaEEHR (&)
(i) Amounts included in the measure of segment profit or loss or segment assets: (i) 55 2385 FIsl 18 2k 2 M B ERFFFA Z 5
(Continued) BE: (&)
For the year ended 31 March 2018 E_T-N\F=ZA=T—RHILFE
International Reportable
Property husiness Financing segments’
development settlement business total Others Unallocated Total
B 2K
MERE HELEE BEEL NEEE Hi v &5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHL FHT FHL FHL FHT FHT FHx
Additions to property, plant and RNENE BERZ
equipment 227 5,796 - 6,023 - 76 6,099
Additions to intangible assets NEEVEE - 26,648 - 26,648 - - 26,648
Depreciation of property, ME- -BEREEZ
plant and equipment nE (130) (5.980) (161) (6,271) B) (806) (7,080)
Reversal of impairment loss on land £ % 7 2
development expenditure REBERE 6,428 - - 6,428 - - 6,428
Reversal of impairment loss on trade  JEU Z F 8RB |2
and other receivables Hin kiR
AEEEED 5,344 - - 5,344 - - 5,344
Government grant BEE - - 2427 2427 - - 2427
Finance costs BERA (15,992) - - (15,992) - - (15,992)
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31 March2019 —ZE— W F=HA=+—H

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 7. SEER(H®)
(c) Other segment information (Continued) (0 HttoEER (&)
(i) Information about geographical areas (i) HhFE |2 15 &

The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s revenue from external ~ F&R#EIIAEE K GINEEL WA RIERBE
customers and non-current assets other than financial instruments, deferred tax E ($RIT A RLEFKHIBEEENEBEBEENEER

assets and post-employment benefit assets (“Specified non-current assets”). SN (THEEFERBIEE]) DT -

Revenue from external customers
(by customer location)

Specified non-current assets
(by physical location)

RENBEFEHKRA EEFRBEE
(REFNEES) (REBNEES)
2019 2018 2019 2018
—E-hF —E-NF —E-hF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET TEx FAT
Hong Kong ' - - 161 180
PRC (domicile) FE (EEH) 827,698 543,333 198,419 81,850
Others Efh 150 - 1,292 513
827,848 543,333 199,872 82,543
(i) Information about major customers (i) FEEFEH
The Group’s customer base is diversified and none of the customers (2018: nil) AEBZERFERIMBEHE_ZT—HLFE=A
with whom transactions have exceeded 10% of the Group’s revenue during the year =+—HIFFEWHEEZE X5 (ZF— \F:
ended 31 March 2019. ) BRARERE KA Z10% -
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8. OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES

8. HWA KW=EKEIE

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
Bank interest income RITH B UA 11,762 8,344
Government grant BN E 224 2427
Net exchange (loss)/gain BN (E18), WaF8E (6,751) 11,637
Reversal of impairment loss on TSR 2 REBEREE
land development expenditure - 6,428
Reversal of impairment loss on trade and FEWE 5 BR1E R H A FE W AR 18 2
other receivables, net (note 19) B R E R D - EEE (M) 852 5,344
Referral fee income ENBE A 3,801 2,478
Gain on disposal of subsidiary (note 37) s E AU (HFE37) 348 -
Others HAh 389 808
10,625 37,466
9.  FINANCE COSTS 9. RERA
2019 2018
—E-NEF ZE-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
Interest on A
— bank borrowings —IRITIER 57,176 83,555
— other borrowings —H b fER 7,246 13,723
64,422 97,278
Less: amounts capitalised in properties held for sale B EMEENMCEEE (57,086) (81,286)
7,336 15,992

Borrowing costs capitalised during the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2018 arose
from borrowings specifically for the purpose of obtaining qualifying assets.

BEZIERFEE-
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10. INCOME TAX EXPENSES

10. FREHBAX

2019 2018

—g-7F —F-NF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FTET FHET

Current tax in Hong Kong BB 2 BIHATIE = 10
Current tax in PRC Bz BV ERRE IR

Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT") EMEH ([REREH]) 11,683 4,863

Over provision in respect of prior years WEFEHBERE = (895)

11,683 3,978

Land Appreciation Tax (“LAT") T IR ER ([ LI ER]) 17,827 204

29,510 4,182

Deferred tax (note 17) EEFITE (M3E17) (1,517) (100)

27,993 4,082

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as the income of the Group
neither arises in nor is derived from Hong Kong. (2018: The provision for the Hong
Kong Profits Tax of the subsidiaries established in Hong Kong is calculated at 16.5%).

The PRC EIT is calculated on the applicable tax rate on assessable profits, if

applicable. The applicable EIT rate for the Company’s PRC subsidiaries during the
year ended 31 March 2019 is 25% (2018: 25%).
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10. INCOME TAX EXPENSES (Continued)

The income tax expenses for the year can be reconciled to the loss before taxation
per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as
follows:

10. FREHBAX (5)
AEEZBHAXEFEE B REM2E KR
KA HHATEB R HRNT -

2019 2018

—EBE-NEF —E-N\F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FExT FHET

Loss before taxation BRELRTEE (183,619) (61,088)

Tax calculated at the domestic income tax rate of 25% IR AT T F25%51 8 2 118 (45,905) (15,272)
Effect of difference tax rates of subsidiaries RE A BARE R 4 & K B A Bl /Y

operating in other jurisdiction MEEZERITE 1,172 3,257

Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purpose PATAX BB 2 44,931 580

Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose MBBME B ERBBAZ

s = 1)

Tax effect of tax loss not recognised FERRBEEBZRGETE 14,424 16,260

Over-provision in respect of prior years MEFE 2 BEEE = (895)

LAT T IBER 17,827 204

Tax effect of LAT THOIRERM T IERE (4,456) (51)

Income tax for the year KEE 2T 27,993 4,082

No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of certain unused tax losses due
to the unpredictability of future profit streams. The deductible temporary differences
can be carried forward indefinitely. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in
relation to such deductible temporary difference as it is not probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences can be
utilised.

The Group is required to prepay LAT and EIT in accordance with the relevant PRC
tax rules in respect of pre-sale of property development projects. As at 31 March
2019, the amount of prepaid LAT and EIT in respect of contract liabilities (previously
known as “deposits received for sales of properties”) amounted to approximately
HK$8,920,314 (2018: HK$14,765,000), which has been presented as deduction
against the tax liabilities of the respective subsidiary in the consolidated statement
of financial position.

R ARRAMBER IR Bt EpE T AREA
BIRERERIELER AR E - Al HR RIS 58 A &
PR R4S o fHFE RRT M B PR LA 85 mT AR e B
ZEAOBE K - B % AT FR R B R RERR
EXETHRIBEE -

AEEERBEPEEBHGERR - S YEME
BEEN T HISERREEMER - R NF
ZA=+—B BHEEHAE (FITEHEMER
Wike B TEN L HIZER M EMEHRLE
#9438,920, 31478 7T ( ZZF— )\ : 14,765,000/ 7T )

WS B RRIRGRE M BRI R ZBIEARE -
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31 March2019 —ZE— W F=HA=+—H

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSES (Continued) 10. FAI8FHiBEX (&)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has the following unused tax losses ~ AIREHIK  REBA NI A[EEE R REE 2K
that can be carried forward to future years. Their respective expiration years are as B FIEEE - HEZ QI HENW T

follows:

2019 2018
—E—-hEF —ZT-)N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
Expiry year B H FE 7 FET FHET
2019 —E-NF 46,218 2,889
2020 —E-FTF 65,007 46,218
2021 T 41,849 65,007
2022 T 50,691 41,849
No expiry date mIE A 103,253 93,359
307,018 249,322

11. LOSS FOR THE YEAR 1. FAEE

Loss for the year has been arrived at after charging: FAEEE B
2019 2018
—E-hE —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Directors’ emoluments (note (a)) E=ME (FiFE@) 3,845 4,188
Other staff salaries, wages and allowances HEMETH& TE&NZER 41,542 36,550
Other staff retirement scheme contributions EME T ZRIRFFEIHR 3,670 4,092
49,057 44,830
Less: staff costs capitalised in properties held for sale W REEMEERNME 2 BT (4,149) (1,890)
Total staff costs 8 TR AR 44,908 42,940
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11. LOSS FOR THE YEAR (Continued) 1. FREE &)
2019 2018
—2-nE  —FNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Cost of inventories recognised as expenses WRARXWFEERA 700,855 494,350
Auditor’s remuneration Z BT BN 2,260 2,350
Impairment loss on property, Y BB MEEREBE (HiE13)
plant and equipment (note 13) 13,771 -
Impairment loss on intangible assets (note 14) EmREERERE (W) 59,186 -
Impairment loss on loan receivables (note 16) FEREFRERE (Mite) 2,498 -
Impairment loss on factoring receivables (note 20) FEMAREE FRIR R E 518 (FT5E20) 93,909 -
Written off on other receivables H b AR IE M SE 13,962 -
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (note 13) #13 ~ BB M & < #r & (HizH13) 7,192 7,080
Research and development expenses not capitalised REBEFER 2R = 10,522
Rental expenses in respect of rented premises EHEEMECZHAERAX 6,811 16,190
Notes: BT -
@)  Information regarding directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments @ EHEEEREETTBRASMEZER
Directors  and the chief executive’s remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the RIFEREMRAERATHEAIEE 2 EE R TS
applicable Listing Rules and Companies Ordinance, is as follows: THABERNME Y| T :
Salaries, Retirement
wages and scheme
Fees allowances contributions Total
& - IER
we EEE BRIRETEIMER @t
BE-Z-hF HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
For the year ended 31 March 2019 =ZA=t+—HLEE FERT FTHERT FHET FHET
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS HWITES
Yuen Leong R - 960 - 960
Luan Li B4R - 960 18 978
Hu Jianjun tHiEE - 1,200 18 1,218
Sub-total INEF - 3,120 36 3,156
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS FEHMITES
Yap Yung 5 200 - - 200
Zhang Guangsheng oRFEAE 200 - - 200
Chan Siu Tat PR iz 200 - - 200
Shao Ping (note (i)) BB (PR3 (7) 89 - - 89
Sub-total INEF 689 - - 689
Total wEt 689 3,120 36 3,845
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11. LOSS FOR THE YEAR (Continued) 1. FAEBE(H)
Notes: (Continued) MizE: (&)
(@  Information regarding directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (Continued) @) ABREERSSTHRABMEER (&
Salaries, Retirement
wages and scheme
Fees allowances contributions Total
He -IER
we AL RRET B Bt
HEZ-T—N\F HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
For the year ended 31 March 2018 —A=+—HLFE FHT FHET FHET T
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS WITES
Yuen Leong R - 780 - 780
Luan Li BRI - 960 18 978
Luo Feng (note (ii)) 7RI (P E (i) - 461 - 461
Li Na (note (iii)) 208 CBR 3 Gii) - 26 - 26
Hu Jianjun (note (iv)) HAEEE (P aE V) - 735 12 747
Sub-total NET - 2,962 30 2,992
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS FITES
Lam Man Kit, Dominic (note (v)) MRSTBE (PR EE(V) 96 - - 9%
Yap Yung ®E 200 - - 200
Zhang Guangsheng R 200 - - 200
Chan Siu Tat fR b iE 200 - - 200
Shao Ping (note (i)) BB (B=E() 500 - - 500
Sub-total INEE 1,196 - - 1,196
Total Bt 1,196 2,962 30 4,188
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11. LOSS FOR THE YEAR (Continued) 1. FREE (5
Notes: (Continued) Wizt (8&)
@  Information regarding directors’ and chief executive's emoluments (Continued) @ BREERESTHRABHEZEH (B)
Notes: B 5T
(i) resigned on 4 June 2018 () RZE—N\FARNAMNBAET
(i) retired on 22 September 2017 (i) RZTE—EFNLAZ+ZHEHE
(i)  resigned on 18 April 2017 (i) RZTE—tFEATNBEE
(i) appointed on 22 August 2017 vy RIZE—+ENA+-_BHEZEE
() retired on 22 September 2017 v RIZE—tFhLAZF+ZHRE
The emoluments of executive directors disclosed above were mainly for services in FXWBERIATESWE HEESRRERE R
connection with the management of affairs of the Company and the Group. REBERSHRHERE -
The non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly for their services as XA ZEATESHE NEESREFER
directors of the Company or its subsidiaries. RARIEMBRARZEERE 2R
(b)  Employees emoluments b) EEMS
The five highest paid individuals of the Group included three directors (2018: three AEEREGReEFALBE =4 (22— \F: =
directors), whose emoluments are disclosed above. The emoluments of the remaining H)EE WEZME DR ECHKER - HatmE (=
two (2018: two) highest paid employees are as follows: T-\F W) EaFEEZHEOT:
2019 2018
—ZE-h#E —T-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Salaries, wages and allowances Fe - TEMER 2,360 2,360
Retirement scheme contributions RIKET B 36 36
2,396 2,396
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11. LOSS FOR THE YEAR (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(b)  Employees’ emoluments (Continued)

1. FREE (8)
Mar: (48)

b EEBME (F)

Their emoluments were within the following bands: BEZMEN FUATEE:
2019 2018
—E-NEF —ZE-N\F
number of number of
employee employee
EBE A" EE A
Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ 21,000,000/ 7T 1 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001/ 7T £1,500,00078 7T 1 1
2 2

During the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2018, no emoluments were paid by the
Group to the directors or the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office. No director had waived
any emoluments during both years.

12. LOSS PER SHARE
The calculation of the basic loss per share attributable to the owners of the Company
is based on the following data:

BE_Z-NFR-ZT-NF=ZA=Z+-RLFE A
SETEAERIILRSHFALINETHES R
REMARRIMAREE R 2 5B - S SRR AE -
REZMEFERNSBEENESRETMHS -

12. BERERE
RKARHEA AEEEFRERERTVIZATHIES
EAHE

2019 2018

—B-nEF —TN\F

HK$’000 HK$'000

THET FHET

Loss for the year attributable to owners of the Company AR EEREREEZ

for the purposes of basic loss per share ARRIEAR ARIEFAERE (217,980) (67,640)
2019 2018

—E-hEF —E-N\F

Number of Number of

shares shares

R A Rin 85 B

Weighted average number of shares AR EERAREE
for the purposes of basic loss per share P A7 hneE 35 88

20,319,072,320 20,319,072,320

No diluted earnings per share were presented as there were no potential ordinary
shares in issue for both years.
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

13. X -BERRE

Furniture
and office Motor Leasehold Construction
Buildings equipment vehicles  improvements in progress Total
FAhR HAME
BF BAERE AE £ HEIR @
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FTET FTET TET FTET FET
CosT PX, 7K
At 1 April 2017 RZZ—tF
mA—H - 24,621 2,337 3,959 - 30917
Exchange adjustments R ZEEE:S - 2,555 243 411 - 3,209
Additions NE - 6,099 - - - 6,099
At 31 March 2018 and RZE-N\F
1 April 2018 —A=t-8k
~E-N\F
mA—H - 33275 2,580 4370 - 40,225
Exchange adjustments ERTAERE (845) (1,524) (159) - (8,049) (10,577)
Additions NE - 9% - - - 9%
Transferred from properties BREFENE
held for sale (note (a), (b)) (FI5E@) () 20,571 - - - 186,846 207417
At 31 March 2019 RZT-NF
=A=1+—H 19,726 31,849 2421 4370 178,797 237,163
DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT — #TE Rl {E
At 1 April 2017 R-ZE—+fF
mA—H - 3,625 1,498 3413 - 8,536
Exchange adjustments R R - 693 176 383 - 1,252
Provided for the year AEEREE - 6,066 440 574 - 7,080
At31 March 2018 and 1 April 2018 R=E—N\F
ZA=+—8k
—T-N\F
mA—H - 10,384 2,114 4370 - 16,368
Exchange adjustments BN A% - (399) (141) - - (540)
Impairment loss (note (c) BEBE () - 13,771 - - - 13,771
Provided for the year AEERE 493 6,473 226 - - 7,192
At 31 March 2019 RZE-NF
ZA=1+—H 493 30,229 2,199 4370 - 37,291
CARRYING VALUES KHEE
At 31 March 2019 R-ZB—-hE
ZA=1+—H 19,233 1,620 222 = 178,797 199,872
At 31 March 2018 RZE-N\F
ZA=1+—H - 22,891 466 - - 23,357
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued) 13.

Notes: B 5T

() During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group changed its intention to keep  (a)
approximately 8,000 square meters car parking spaces, amounting to HK$20,571,000, as
the Group's self-operating carpark and thus these parking spaces were transferred from
properties held for sale to property, plant and equipment.

(b) During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group changed its intention to operate  (b)
the hotel, which is under construction, amounting to approximately HK$186,846,000,
and thus the hotel was transferred from properties held for sale to property, plant and
equipment.

© During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group recognised a full impairment loss  (c)
in relation to the equipment associated with the settlement platform as there is no
recoverable amount of the property, plant and equipment. The recoverable amount was
determined based on the estimated future cash flows generated from the settlement

/E RGN E S AE )

HE—T— n¢ A=+—HItFE NEEHK
FHITE RBAB0F T ANEFEMN (LA
20,571,000/%m){’52%$%lm§*‘* FEHI5 - Bt
LEENEFEMEEREME BB LK

HE-_Z-—NWGF=ZA=+—"BLEFE £A5H
i B E.#%W& OBIECZBIENER ED
186,846,000/ 7T AW B IE AT EMEEREY
¥ BB REE-

BE-_ZT-NEF=ZA=1+-"BLFE AREL
HEYafHnRBLEAIKONSE HEAKHE
AR - BE KR BEREEURERR -7
WESEDENEE T EEENBRARBEDR

platform. EMEFE-
14. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 14. BEEE
The movements in intangible assets during the year is summarised as follows: RERNEBEFEENEBHRAOT
HK$'000
FHET
At 1 April 2017 RZE—+FHHA—H 32,538
Additions NE 26,648
At 31 March 2018 and 1 April 2018 RZE-NF=ZA=F+—BE=ZZE—N\FHA—H 59,186
Impairment loss ﬁlﬁﬁéﬁﬁ (59,186)
At 31 March 2019 RZE—NF=A=+—H -
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14. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

The Group paid to an independent software company to assist the Group in
developing a settlement platform for connecting with the systems of the central
banks and commercial banks of the countries along the “Belt and Road Initiative”.
The recoverable amount of the settlement platform was determined by the
management of the Company based on value in use calculation of the settlement
platform. That calculation was determined based on the financial budgets approved
by the management of the Company covering a 10-year period and a pre-tax
discount rate of 16.6%. The recoverable amount of the settlement platform is based
on certain key assumptions, including estimation of future revenue growth.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group recognised a full impairment loss
in relation to the settlement platform due to the lack of substantive results arising
from memorandums of cooperation and framework agreements, entered into in
prior years, signed with a number of potential cooperative banks and financial
institutions. Up to the date of this consolidated financial statements, there are no
any revenue generated from this settlement platform.

14. BREEE (&)

AEE R — KB R RS A B A &£ B H
BH [ AEERRITEEERITHRS
HEZEEF G HLEF AR D WEERARRE
BEREGEEYAEAEBENEETE MZTED
ERARGEEEHEZ10F RV KEE KA
BRI E16 6% EE - HEF A D RHBEENENSE
TRAREBS  EFREERRKAER 2 HETe

BE_ZT-NF-A=1T—"BLFE HRNEEHF
BRZRBEAERITNEBBBRITNEIER
TEMERBERZELG MR AEERGEE T
AHEREHRERE BENGAMBHRERAH
B E T B REEEARA -

/

2

15. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 15. REt&E NRlz2iEs
2019 2018
—g-nE  —T-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Cost of interest in associates REE &R R 2 m AR 56,648 56,648

Share of post-acquisition loss and other FE(R U 1£ B518 R oAb 2 TE A

comprehensive income (56,648) (56,648)
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31 March 2019 — & —

15. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

NE=ZA=+—H

During the year ended 31 March 2015, Fastmind Investments Limited and Acme

Day Limited (“Mining Group”) made a loss due to (a) pre-operating loss: the Mining

Group incurred expenses for preparing for commercial operations which will start

after successful completion of the exploration and evaluation stages; and (b)

impairment loss on intangible assets and property, plant and equipment, amounting

to approximately HK$24,236,000, mainly due to decrease in metals market prices by

comparing to previous year. Interests in associates was fully impaired as at 31 March

2015 and no further share of the loss of the associates is recognised by the Group in
both 2019 and 2018, accordingly.

15. %W“ﬁﬁi%“
HE-_Z—RF=A=1+— ElJtiJ* FRERER
BE’AE&%T%EBEQE(H BWEE])SBEE-
HAR@QEEAEE - FEEEREBTEEKD T
KARRZERERERNSHEFELEE ZH
T ROEEARRBTFESBMSER K
BHZEVEERDE BELREBEZRERSE
#924,236,0008 L c R ZZE—RHF = A —Jr*EI 'E’\‘
BEENR 2R EBERE AL AEER
—NFERZZE-N\FHEEERREN ﬁfi%/ Gl
LR

As at 31 March 2019 and 2018, the Group had interests in the following associates WKR-_Z—NWEF T N\E=A=+—H A&
through a non-wholly owned subsidiary: .}Ei@* MIEDE W% AIEB LA TEE R a8
Effective
equity interest
Place of Issued and attributable to
incorporation/ fully paid up the Company
establishment/ share capital/ as at 31 March
Name of associates operation registered capital 2019and 2018 Principal activities Legal form
ARER
“T-NER
—Z-N\5F
=A=1+—~H
Baiiz e g hyg EETREZSR EEER
- UNSIES g B/ AR Bz TEEHR EERR
Fastmind Investments Limited Hong Kong HK$100 27%  Investment holding of mining  Private limited liahility company
HEEEBRAA ) 100570 operation YNNG
REEBRERR
Acme Day Limited Hong Kong HK$100 27%  Investment holding of mining  Private limited liability company
R ERAF o 100570 operation ABRATE
REEBREER

During the year, the Group’s shareholding in Fastmind Investments Limited and

Acme Day Limited had been pledged for a bank loan borrowed by Mining Group’s

subsidiary company.
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31March2019 —ZE—NWEFE=/=+—H

16. LOAN RECEIVABLES

16. BWER

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
Loan receivables EUE R 143,229 152,275
Interest receivables FEURFI B, 3,820 -
147,049 152,275
Less: Loss allowance (note (b)) B B (MEEb)

Stage 1 — AR (211) -
Stage 2 —_& (6,825) -
Stage 3 =& - _
Carrying amount of loan receivables FEWE RERmE 140,013 152,275
Current portion included under current assets FFAMBNEE 2 BVEAE 5 (36,384) (18,571)

Amounts due after one year included under FFASERBIE E 2 —F 1R B BIRIR
non-current assets 103,629 133,704

As at 31 March 2019 and 2018, all loan receivables were secured by collaterals.

The customers are obliged to settle the amounts according to the terms set out in
relevant contracts. Interest rates are offered based on the assessment of a number of
factors including the borrowers™ creditworthiness and repayment ability, collaterals
as well as the general economic trends. The Group’s loan principals charged interests
at rate approximately 6% to 15% per annum (2018: 6% per annum).

R-FB-NER-_ZF-/\F=ZA=1+—H MERE
WE KA IR R LR o

Al

EFPARBHEBAOHINGKEEBBNA-
MEDREHZHRAZNFGETE - BREERAN
EEREFREN BERmE—REEEE - AKE
HERRSERFFHONEI% (ZE—\F:FF
6% ) B0 ) 2= Y BRI 8 o
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16. LOAN RECEIVABLES (Continued) 16. FEWE R (4
The Group’s management considers that the fair values of loan receivables are not ~ANEBEIRERE - FEJ%ZEW\E’\]’ A EEEREF
materially different from their net carrying amounts. BETESERE=R-
(a) Ageing analysis (@) BRERDMT
Ageing analysis of loan receivables based on the loan drawdown date and before loss 7 R 45 HA R BN & FIRER B M B9 18 B & Bl 2 FE Uk
allowance at the end of reporting period is as follows: ERZEREDITIT
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-)N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FET
0-30 days 0230H - 3,694
181-365 days 18125365 F _ 148,581
Over 1 year H 1 147,049 -
147,049 152,275

Ageing analysis of loan receivables based on the contract due date and before loss ~ AREHRERAHENE B MEERER 2 B

allowance at the end of reporting period is as follows: ERZERERDITIT
2019 2018
—E-NEF ZE-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Not past due 480 A 138,073 152,275
0-30 days 0E30H 4,523 _
Over 90 days @90 H 4,453 _
147,049 152,275
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31 March2019 —ZE—hAF=A=+—H

16. LOAN RECEIVABLES (Continued) 16. BWER (&)
(b)) Movement in impairment losses (b) REEEZE
Loss allowance for loan receivables during the year was recognised as follows: FNEWE R BREFERROT
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
—& &% =
Lifetime
ECL not Lifetime
12-month credit- ECL credit-
ECL impaired impaired Total
TEEE BEE
HER HER
1218 A FE 5 2 HiTEHj 2 HiTE A3
=EEE EEBE EEBE BEt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
At 31 March 2018 RZE-NF=A=+—H - - - -
Initial application of HKFRS 9 BRERABAVBREER
E95R 4,531 - - 4531
At 1 April 2018 R-ZF-N\FHA—H 4,531 - - 4,531
Transfer to lifetime ECL not credit-impaired BRZUVEEERED
2HBEHEEFE (4,457) 4457 - -
Impairment loss charged to profit or loss PEm PR RRERESE 137 2,361 - 2,498
Exchange adjustment BEE 5 A EE - 7 - 7
At 31 March 2019 RZZE-NEF=ZA=+—H 21 6,825 = 7,036

Based on the assessment of the management of the Group, an increase of loss RIEAEEEEENI G R /\FWA—H
allowance of approximately HK$4,531,000 for these receivables was made upon  iBE & E 4R & ER|F5R%E - L FEWERIE
the transition to HKFRS 9 as of 1 April 2018; and for year ended 31 March 2019, an  Z BB R IE hN494,531,00008 70 BE —T— N5
increase of loss allowance of approximately HK$2,498,000 was charged to profit or = A =-+— B IFF & - BB B &8 11492,498,00078
loss as an impairment. TL WRNB R E BB E R

Loan receivables bear no credit term. The Group’s formal credit policy in place isto ~ FEUWE K ETM{ZAE - REB D HFLEERK
monitor the Group’s exposure to credit risk through regular reviews of receivables 5 - 38 75 B 2825 E U BR A NP it 60 HABR B SRER IR 1
and follow-up actions taken on overdue accounts. Credit evaluations are performed — 1TENESIERNREB M EEREGR D - NEBYHREE
on all customers requiring credit over a certain amount. The Group recognised X —FE{E AN T P #1712 BT H - R M 5H4
impairment loss based on the accounting policy stated in note 4. Frat & st BR - AR EERREEE -
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17. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS

The following are the major deferred tax assets recognised and movements thereon

17.

EEBHEE

UTRRAFENBEFECHRBEBELHRA

during the current and prior years: BENREBEZ
Profit sharing
from land
development
LAT expenditure Others Total
THREZH
TR ER pievilbannd Hith et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHL FET FHET
(note a) (note b)
(ff3Ea) (PfH3EDh)
At 1 April 2017 R-ZE—tFWHA—H - 35,089 847 35,936
Credited/(charged) to profit or loss A (B E)BE 3,365 (2,380) (885) 100
Exchange adjustments (ERIECE=S 149 3,128 38 3315
At 31 March 2018 RZE-NF=A=+—H 3,514 35,837 - 39,357
Initial application of HKFRS 9 NGRSl e LU
(note 2(a)(i)) (B &E2@)0)) - - 2,020 2,020
At 1 April 2018 RZZE-N\FMA—H 3,514 35,837 2,020 41,371
Credited/(charged) to profit or loss A (I E)BE 2457 (940) - 1,517
Exchange adjustments BEE 5, G (168) (1,738) (98) (2,004)
At 31 March 2019 RZZE—NE=A=+—H 5,803 33,159 1,922 40,884
Note: B 5

(@) Balance represents taxable temporary difference arising from provision of LAT.

(b)  Starting from 2010, W/ IEFFEEEE X E@ABR A (Liuzhou Zhenghe Huagui
Real Estate Group Company Limited*, “Liuzhou Zhenghe”) has been engaged in land
development project and in previous years before Liuzhou Zhenghe was acquired
by the Group, 4 parcels of land developed by Liuzhou Zhenghe were put on public
auction and acquired by Liuzhou Zhenghe itself for property development purpose.
Liuzhou Zhenghe shared the related profit with join developer and paid tax on the
shared profit. On the Group’s consolidation, this shared profit element was included in
properties held for sale and eliminated. The related tax paid on this shared profit was
treated as deferred tax assets and will be released when the related properties are sold.
As at 31 March 2019, the Group’s deferred tax assets arising from profit sharing of the
primary land development project amounting to approximately HK$33,159,000 (2018:
HK$35,837,000).

*  The English name is for identification purpose only

1 88 International Business Settlement Holdings Limited Bl ¥4 EIEB AR DA

BRI IR ERBEEL 2 ERTIRRZME -

B-_Z—ZFE - YNENEESEEEERA
AI(THIMNIER]) —ER B FABEE A%
U BE NN IEFO AT ERAF - 40 1E N BA B A PO IR 1t
WARIIAE - YRy EMAK SRS EY 252
i - WM IEFERE & MmO AR Wik
D CE MBI - RN EERE ABRES - 5 K
SRFEBD T AR EWE R T K - B BES KR
IS 2 IR IEWAR AEERIBE E - #5118k
WMEELRER RZ_T—NF=A=+—H0 =&
@y — R LHEBE R OKEEZELER
TH& FE#1/33,159,000%8 7T ( =ZF— )\ : 35,837,000
BIT) °
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18. PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE 18. SEWE
2019 2018
—E-hEF ZE-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
Completed properties held for sale BEEKEFEME 1,269,423 669,225
Properties under development for sale FIELEBRRPME 593,142 2,140,397
1,862,565 2,809,622
Carrying amount of properties under development for ~ TEESERC 2 FHEH EHRPWEZ
sale expected to be completed: IRTEE
— within one year ——FR 440,954 741,002
— after one year ——Fi& 152,188 1,399,395
593,142 2,140,397

As at 31 March 2019, certain properties held for sale with carrying amount of R-ZT—NAE=HA=+—H  REE#1660,742,000

approximately HK$660,742,000 (2018: HK$827,943,000) were pledged to secure 87T ( —Z—/\4F : 827,943,000/ 70 ) 2 & TIFEY

certain bank borrowings granted to the Group. XETER ERAKBEEGE TRITERCE
Re

During the year ended 31 March 2019 and 2018, there is no impairment loss #HZ _-_E—NEN T N\F=A=+—HIF

recognised as the net realisable value is higher than carrying amount for both years.  [& - X 7] #3888 = A A F E R E - 30 &
MR B 18 o
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19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

19. BREZRERHEMWEKERE

2019 2018
—s-nE -F-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTET FHET
Trade receivables BUE FER1E 6,651 3,648
Less: Loss allowance W EE R (33) -
6,618 3,648

Other receivables and prepayments: E W ARTA R RIA
Other deposits Hhize 6,647 14,978
Prepayments for construction work BETIE 2 TERN IR 71,967 46,919
Other tax prepayment H bR IBTE R 18,822 35,954
Other receivables HAth pE W BR IE 6,516 21,281
Other prepayments H B FIE 4,959 7,389
Amount due from a third party FEM — %58 =5 5B = 24,630
Total trade and other receivables FEUNE S HR1E Rk B b R UL BR IR 42 %8 115,529 154,799

Trade receivables for property sales, debts are due on the dates of delivery of
properties but settlements are made by agreements on time allowed for collections.
The Group’s formal credit policy in place is to monitor the Group’s exposure to credit
risk through regular reviews of receivables and follow-up actions taken on overdue
accounts. Credit evaluations are performed on all customers requiring credit over
a certain amount. The Group recognised impairment loss based on the accounting
policy stated in note 4.

The ageing analysis of trade receivables after loss allowance of the Group, presented
based on the date of delivery of properties to the customers, at the end of the
reporting period is as follows:

MEHE BB RIE ZRBENYEIN B HIE
H-BREHEIKEE WAHRBFERTER A
SEEHIE LA ERBER  BETNBEERKIRA
Wt B HAR B R E TR R ARENEER
@il M - AEBER B ER—EEREENEP
HETTIE AR - XM 4TS 5T R A& E
FERRE B8 o

RBEIR AREERBERZEREZREL
Riko it (RATEXNMERR) 25/

2019 2018

—B-nE —E-NE

HK$’000 HK$'000

T Tt

91-180 days 91£180H 6,618 3,648
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19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The ageing analysis of trade receivables after loss allowance which are past due but

19. BREZREREMWEKERE (5)
B8 B8 1A AR E B FE U E 5 BR 1B (FNBR B 1R 1

not impaired: 1) BRI DT
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
91-180 days 91£180H 6,618 3,648

Movement in loss allowance for trade and other receivables of the Group during the

FALEERWEZREAREMERERRZ EE

year are as follows: BEZEHOT
2019 2018
= —FN\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
At 1 April RIEA—H - 4,852
Impact of initial application of HKFRS 9 BRERE BB HEERIFES5R
on trade receivables (note2(a)(ii)(1)) HEWESRBAZTZE
(B EE2()iyn) ) 18 -
Impact of initial application of HKFRS 9 BRERES Hﬂ“‘iﬁi‘;& BIIZE99%
on other receivables (note2(a)(ii)(I1)) HHMEWRIB FE
(B FE2@)(G)(N ) 1,068 -
Impairment loss on trade receivables FEUE 5 RIE 2 REEE 15 -
Reversal of impairment loss previously recognised BEBTRERARESE (867) (5,344)
Exchange adjustments bE 3E AR B 2) 492
At 31 March R=A=+—8 232 _

The balances of other deposits, other receivables, and amount due from a third
party are neither past due nor impaired. The Group’s management considers that
the credit risk associated with these receivables is minimal but a general provision
for impairment loss is provided for as in the aforesaid.

Hipizd - B W ARIALA R BN — R E =T FUA
HESRTRBRTERE A EEERERSEH
It F KRB Z EERARTA BB XAzt

EEERE R EE-
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20. FACTORING RECEIVABLES 20. FEWRERIA
2019 2018
—E—-hEF —ZT-)N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Factoring receivables FEUR IR FRTE 132,062 123,150
Interest receivables FEURFI B, 4,586 -
136,648 123,150

Less: Loss allowance (note (b)) W EE e (D))

Stage 1 — 4 (28) _
Stage 2 - - _
Stage 3 =& (96,446) _
Current portion included under current assets STAREBEE Z S 40,174 123,150

As at 31 March 2019 and 2018, all factoring receivables were secured by accounts WR-ZE—NFR_ZT—\F=A=+—8 TGk
receivable of the debtors with interest rate of 6.5% (2018: 6.5 to 12%). The Group has YR ¥ FIE G LA JE R (E 75 A BR BRI FIR &
recourse right on the debts in the event of default. However, the collaterals are not ~ 6.5% ( ZZF— )\ : 6.5%%212% ) W HIREL) - K&

permitted to sell or re-pledge by the Group. EHEEHEFERE-AM KARTSHELAER
HEREHMEAR-
(a) Ageing analysis (@) BRERDAT
Ageing analysis of factoring receivables based on the loan drawdown date and W ¥R HIKRE RN E FRIREN H M E518 B & B 2 FE Uk
before loss allowance at the end of reporting period is as follows: REFIEZRE>TAT
2019 2018
—E—hE —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
91-180 days 91Z=180H 6,566 _
181-360 days 181£2360H 130,082 123,150
136,648 123,150
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20. FACTORING RECEIVABLES (Continued)

(@) Ageing analysis (Continued)

Ageing analysis of factoring receivables based on the contract due date and before

loss allowance at the end of reporting period is as follows:

20. EWRERIE (&)
(a) BRERDHT (4)

RIBRIBZEREBEDOMANT :

RBERRER G OB B REBEBREEH ZEK

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTET FHET
Not past due K8 HA 132,507 123,150
31-90 days 31%90H 2,123 -
Over 90 days im0 A 2,018 -
136,648 123,150
(b)) Movement in impairment losses (b) REEESH
Loss allowance for factoring receivables during the year was recognised as follows: FREKREREZBERBERDT
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
—#% =& =4
Lifetime
ECL not Lifetime
12-month credit- ECL credit-
ECL impaired impaired Total
kEE
FRH FEFRW
1218 A FE 8 2HIEH 2 HITEH
EEEFE FEFE FEFE Mt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET FET FET
At 31 March 2018 RZE-N\F=ZA=+—H - - _ _
Initial application of HKFRS 9 EPN G EC R
955 2,463 - - 2,463
At 1 April 2018 RZE—-NFW@A—AH 2,463 - - 2,463
Transfer to lifetime ECL credit-impaired EREEEETRNEH
TEHEEBE (2,463) - 2,463 -
Impairment loss charged to profit or loss 718 2 HFR 693U (B &5 18 28 - 93,881 93,909
Exchange adjustment HE 5,58 B - - 102 102
At 31 March 2019 RZE—NEF=ZA=+—H 28 = 96,446 96,474
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31 March 2019 —E—AF=A=+—H

20. FACTORING RECEIVABLES (Continued)

(b) Movement in impairment losses (Continued)

Factoring receivables bear no credit term. The Group’s formal credit policy in place is
to monitor the Group’s exposure to credit risk through regular reviews of receivables
and follow-up actions taken on overdue accounts. Credit evaluations are performed
on all customers requiring credit over a certain amount. The Group recognised
impairment loss based on the accounting policy stated in note 4.

21. RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS/BANK BALANCES AND CASH
Restricted bank deposits

Restricted bank deposits amounting to approximately HK$6,479,000 as at 31
March 2019 (2018: HK$11,947,000) mainly represent the proceeds from pre-sale of
properties with the restriction of use for settlement of construction costs for relevant
property project, which will be released upon the completion of the relevant project.

The Group’s restricted bank deposits carry interest at prevailing market rates which
range from 0.3% to 0.35% per annum as at 31 March 2019 (2018: 0.3% to 0.35% per
annum).

Bank balances and cash

As at 31 March 2019, bank balances and cash comprise cash held by the Group and
short-term bank deposits which carry variable interest rates ranging from 0.01% to
0.38% (2018: 0.01% to 0.38%) per annum with an original maturity of three months
or less.

. BRRARERE (5)
(b) HEBERSE (&)
FE YR IE FOR B A - AREEHEENE
R - BiE T RS R ERR I pa Hik B 2R
RETHEEARENEERRKO - NEEEHH
BEXR—EERBENEPETERNME - ERH
AP & ET R - AR EERIRER R
ZREBTER

R R
,vJSE%'JﬁE TER
RZZFE-—NF=ZA=+—H0 ZRHBITEFERDO
6,479,000/8 7T ( —ZF— )\ 1 11,947,000/ 7C) * £2
FEREMENMERIE  ARARI N E@EMEE
BHRERAR  FHRERBREIAR R TERERR-

TRERAS

RITE—-hE=A=+—8 KAEEZRHIRITF
FIRN F03%Z0.35% 2 IRITHIHBFEAMERAB (—ZF
— )\ FFR03%Z20.35% ) °

THERES
—NWEFE=ZA=+—H RBIEGELRESE
BASEBECRERRENBHAE A=A
AT F B FFIE N F0.01%Z20.38% —N\&F:
0.01%%0.38% ) 2 G BRER 1T /F 7K o

At the end of the reporting period, bank balances and cash mainly include following ~ AIREHIK - SRITATFE RIS TEBIETIINSE
amounts denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of the @%"fﬁgz e EB N EBGHE Z FUR
respective group entity:
2019 2018
—E-NF —N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTET FHET
HK$ BIT 808,929 1,048,444
Euro (“EUR’) BT (TBotl) 14,127 16,925
United Stated Dollars (‘USD”) Ex(IExl) 126 94
Kyrgyzstani Som (“KGS”) HRETHEERE ([RE]) = 115
823,182 1,065,578
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22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 22, BEHEZREREMENIRE
2019 2018
—E-hEF ZE-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE&T FET
Trade payables (note) ENE Z8RE (M) 15,487 8,680
Accrued construction cost to contractors FERT B 2 AT EEK AR 754,513 803,459
Interest payable FESTF B 2,635 15,867
Amounts due to third parties ENE = E 782 15,954
Other payables H e BRIE 73,039 57,490
Other tax payables H A IR 23,801 16,166
Receipt in advance from customers T E F A - 16,447
870,257 934,063
Note: FaE -
The following is an ageing analysis of the Group’s trade payables, presented based on the date AN AN E B fER Z 5 BR TE A 3R & B R AR IR B WEUM £
of materials received, at the end of the reporting period: A R BR R 04T
2019 2018
—e-n% e N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FIT
0-90 days 0£90H 15,487 8,680
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NE=ZA=+—8

23. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

Considerations in respect of properties sold are received in accordance with the

terms of the related sales and purchase agreements, certain portion are received on

23.

BHAME

EEMERZRERERREE S .2 GRUE
ETHAIRAZTE XY B B2 ATUER - ARk

or before the date of delivery of the properties to customers which is recorded as ~ JI{EA L & &
contract liabilities.
At 31 March At 1 April At 31 March
2019 2018 2018
RZZE-NE RZIZE-N\F RZIZE-N\F
=HA=+—H MA—H ZA=+—H
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTAER FHET FET
Contract liabilities arising from MEREEBEELANEBE
property development business 646,202 1,311,790 -
HK$’000
FExT
At 1 April 2018 RZE—-—NFHHA—H -
Effects of the application of HKFRS 15 (note (a)) HNB B EREERE1H 2L (WiT@) 1,311,790
Revenue recognised for the balances included in the contract M ATV ENEE 2 EHRERHLA
liabilities at the beginning of the year (811,012)
Increase for the cash received for the balances where revenue is Bt P 18 AR FEFR UL A 2 45 84 B I ER 8938, € 32 A0
not yet recognised during the year 145,424
At 31 March 2019 R-ZE-NF=A=+—H 646,202

Notes:

() The Group has initially applied HKFRS 15 using the cumulative effect method and
adjusted the opening balance at 1 April 2018. Upon the application of HKFRS 15,
amounts previously included as “deposits received for sale of properties” (note 24), have
been reclassified to “Contract liabilities”.

(b) As at 31 March 2019, the amount of sales deposits received expected to be recognised as
revenue after one year is nil (2018: approximately HK$781,091,000).
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24. DEPOSITS RECEIVED FOR SALE OF PROPERTIES 24. SHEYEFBRE
2019 2018
—E-hEF —ZT—)N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
Deposits received for sale of properties HEMEMBIES = 1,311,790
25. BORROWINGS 25. &
2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Bank borrowings, secured (note (a)) BEMBRITER (M3EQ) 430,772 724,922
Other borrowings, secured (note(b)) BRI EADE K (HE (b)) 165,771 -
Other borrowings, unsecured (note (c),(d)) AR R E AR (BIEE(Q) ~ (d)) 9,374 157,453
605,917 882,375
Carrying amount of borrowings repayable: ETSIEREEEHKEREE
Within one year —F R 569,943 813,590
More than one year, but not exceeding two years BiE—F ENEBWF 35,974 68,785
605,917 882,375
Less: amounts shown under current liabilities BB A EIE TSR FRIE (569,943) (813,590)
Amounts shown under non-current liabilities MBI B EE TIROFIE 35,974 68,785

All borrowings were fixed-rate borrowings and denominated in RMB during both ~ RAR{EFER  FIEEFEEBETFEREZT B

years. AREEE-
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25. BORROWINGS (Continued)
The ranges of effective interest rates on the Group’s fixed-rate borrowings are as
follows:

ﬁ%ﬁﬁ%ll;@”w

. fEER
K (
BRCEBRRE 2 SHENT

2019 2018
—Z2-NEF T—/)\F
Effective interest rates BERAE 6.5% — 18% 3% — 24%

Notes: LS
(@  The followings show the carrying amounts of assets pledged to secure the (@) RAKEZRITEFRIFRRZEAREENRE
bank borrowings provided to the Group: @%WU e
2019 2018
—E-h#F —N\&F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTET FET
Secured by: RTAIEE T
Properties held for sale (note 18) FEWE (Mi18) 660,742 827,943
F?ZK%IE%ETEWZﬁEM“ EAREMEXEEER

In addition to the Group’s own assets pledged, FEPIIEFIE 2 EE AR A A (Guangxi
Zhenghe Industrial Co., Ltd¥), the former related party of Liuzhou Zhenghe and other related
parties of former shareholder of Liuzhou Zhenghe had also pledged certain assets to hanks to
secure the borrowings granted to the Group.

*  The English name is for identification purpose only

(b)  As at 31 March 2019, hotel rooms of HK$43,777,000 are pledged as security
for other borrowings.

(©  As at 31 March 2019, the Group’s other borrowings represent an unsecured
borrowings of HK$9,374,000 provided by a third party with interest at a fixed
rate of 18% per annum and repayable in January 2020.

(d)  Asat 31 March 2018, the Group’s other borrowings represent (i) an unsecured
borrowings of HK$123,150,000 provided by a third party with interest at a
fixed rate of 5% per annum; (ii) an unsecured borrowings of HK$23,836,000
provided by another third party with interest at a fixed rate of 24% per
annum; and (iii) unsecured borrowings of HK$10,467,000 provided by another
third parties with interest at a fixed rate of 18% per annum. The balance has
been fully repaid during the year.
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AB) (PP IEFZ BT BERE A L) RN IER AT AR 2 EAtb

BB AL RRRITEMRETEEARE TARE ZEX
TRHELR

—NEZB=+—H" 43,777,000 L 28
E@%Tﬁﬁ{’ﬁﬁﬁ\@fﬂﬁm%ﬁ"

RZE—NAFZA=Z+—HB AEENHEMER
B—RE = HIRHAEEKIRE 9,374,000 7T B
FFEANEB% R -_ZTF—HEE-

R-ZZE-—N\F=ZA=+—8B AEENHMWE
RBREIBH— BB LE = HRENEKBER
123,150,000 7T * B FF K A5% : ()hS—RE
=7 JR A Y 4 B 8 523,836,000/ 7T 0 [E TE & F
R F24% : L) EME = FiRENERRER
10,467,000 7T * [EFEFFIE B18%  EHRERFENR
EEEE-



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR R

31 March2019 —ZE—hAF=A=+—H

26. SHARE CAPITAL 26. XA
Number of
shares Amount
B#HEE ot |
HK$ 000
FET
Authorised: ERE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.001 each SREEE0.0018 T 2 il A%
At 1 April 2017, 31 March 2018 and 31 March 2019 RZE—+FMHA—H-
—E-N\F=ZA=t—H8k
—E-NF=ZR=+—H 498,000,000,000 498,000
Non-voting convertible preference shares BREBE0.00E T EIE R
of HK$0.001 each BB LR
At 1 April 2017, 31 March 2018 and 31 March 2019 RZZE—+FWHA—H-
—E-N\F=ZA=t—H8k
—E-NF=ZR=+—AH 2,000,000,000 2,000
500,000,000,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid: CRTRAR:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.001 each SR EE0.0018 T2 iR Ak
At 1 April 2017, 31 March 2018 and 31 March 2019 RZE—tFMA—R-
- )\F=ZRB=F+—HK
—E-NAF=ZA=+—H 20,319,072,320 20,319

27. CONTRIBUTED SURPLUS

The contributed surplus of the Group represents the difference between the nominal
value of the shares and share premium of the then holding company and the
nominal value of the Company’s shares issued for the group reorganisation on 25
May 1993, together with the amounts transferred from share capital and share
premium account as a result of the capital reduction taken place in August 2001, less
dividends paid, amounts utilised on redemption of shares and amount eliminated
against accumulated losses.

27. ERER
AEEEBABRBERZERAT ZERMHEER
O REEARNTDER—AN=FAA=-+HH
SEEAmMBITIRMEEZZRE  ERER=ZE
T—F N\ RER AR BRA KRGS & EREE
IR E RS BB I 5 FT A SR IE LI B 2
RSB 2 FIE -
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28. NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS mEEEREXRMET
Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities: mﬁﬁ EBELEZEBYHER:
Amount
Amount due to
due to ultimate
Interest  non-controlling holding  Amount due to
Borrowings payable interests company third parties
R3S BNSREER i3]
fE % FERAE, B FE ARFE  E=HRE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEL THER FET FET T
As at 1 April 2018 RZZ-\FWA—H 882,375 15,867 61,508 2,304 15,954
Changes from cash flows: RenmEEy:
New borrowings raised MEEER 211,558 - - - -
Interest paid ERFIE - (76,871) - - -
Advances B - - 913 - -
Repayments B3 (426,245) - - (529) (14,383)
Total changes from financing cash flows ~ BEB&HEZ EFBE (214,687) (76,871) 913 (529) (14,383)
Interest incurred JERTH 8 - 64,422 - - -
Exchange adjustments fE 5 A% (61,771) (783) (2.910) - (789)
As at 31 March 2019 RZE-NF=A=t—H 605,917 2,635 59,511 1,775 782
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28. NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS GEHREREXRMET (&)
(Continued)
Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities: (Continued) BB ZTBHELECBBYHER: (8)

Amount

Amount dueto

due to ultimate
Interest  non-controlling holding  Amount due to
Borrowings payable interests company third parties
FERTIEES]  EASKER FEfT
A RIS BERFE NS EZHFE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FET FTHET FTHET TET
As at 1 April 2017 RZE—t&MNA—A 1,240,903 40492 54,639 2,309 27,144

Changes from cash flows: Renmeg

New borrowings raised HEEER 67,124 - - - -
Interest paid BFE - (124432) - - -
Advances 23 - - 1,887 - -
Repayments B3 (519,935) - - (5) (13,110)
Total changes from financing cash flows ~ BEBRE&HEZ EFAE (452,811) (124,432) 1,887 (5) (13,110)
Interest incurred JEFTFIE - 97,278 - - -
Exchange adjustments B 5 3% 94,283 2,529 4982 - 1,920
As at 31 March 2018 RZZE—-\E=A=1+—H 882,375 15,867 61,508 2,304 15954
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29. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS
As lessee:

As at 31 March 2019, the Group had commitments for future minimum lease

. RREHENEE
1’!53%7¥<$HA-
RZZB-NF=ZA=+—RH AEERETATHEH

payments of approximately HK$9,140,000 (2018: HK$14,280,000) under non- &EEHOMEBHEEWEBNUTIHE S H2

1K B 15 T £ &HE 479,140,000/ 7T ( —F— \F:

cancellable operating leases in respect of rented premises which fall due as follows:

14,280,000/ 7T ) a0 T -

2019 2018
—E-hEF —ZT—)N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Within one year —FR 6,483 7,813
In the second to fifth year inclusive F_EFEEERF (BEERME) 2,657 6,467
9,140 14,280
Leases are negotiated for a term of 1 to 3 years with fixed rentals. HomER—2=-F YoBEEHE-
As lessor: ERBHBEA:

As at 31 March 2019, the Group had commitments for future minimum rental
receivable under non-cancellable operating leases in respect of commercial
properties leased out which fall due as follows:

BE_T-NF=ZA=1t—B AEECHEER
EMERETAIBEKEHOMAR A T2IHA
FEW Z s B RARTH S AR T -

2019 2018

= —FN\F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FTEx FHET

Within one year —FR 41 -
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30. OTHER COMMITMENTS

30. Hib&iE

2019 2018
—E-hE —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Commitments contracted for: BETAIAHE
— construction for properties held for sale —EEEEYE 141,523 242,186
— development of settlement platform —BREETA 2,622 14,872
144,145 257,058
31. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 31. HAREE
2019 2018
= —FN\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Guarantees given to banks for mortgage facilities granted FLIR P AEBYWEE H 2
to purchasers of the Group’s properties ZIBmE MIRITIRME 2 EIR 880,758 747359

Note:

The Group had provided guarantees in respect of mortgage facilities granted by certain banks
in connection with the mortgage loans entered into by purchasers of the Group’s properties.
Pursuant to the terms of the guarantees, if there is default of the mortgage payments by these
purchasers, the Group is responsible to repay the outstanding mortgage loans together with
accrued interests thereon and any penalty owed by the defaulted purchaser to banks, the
Group is then entitled to take over the legal title of the related properties. The guarantee period
commences from the dates of grant of the relevant mortgage loans and ends after the buyer
obtained the individual property ownership certificate.

The management, with its assessment of the current and outlook of the market, perceives
that the possibility of default in mortgage loans by home buyers is remote and, in the event
of default, the liabilities caused to the Group will be minimal as the loss will be adequately
mitigated by the proceeds recovered from the sales of the repossessed properties. Accordingly,
no provision is made in the accounts for the guarantees.

GEE

REERE TIRITRH 2B ERMER ZFZEB
MESRBAEEYEBE AL 2 RIBER - RIBHE
RZIEH WZEEFERRBFIA AEEARER
RITEEE T HER 2B EJCER R B 2 R E S
o MARBEEREGEREABYELEMERE - BIR
HATR i AR R AR B B AR B R AT SR BT IS E B
FEBRER-

REBEATSASNE EEERARBEERRER
PER QMR BRI - EHREYN ARLEEEY
EMUWE B HRIER D REER - B AR BIERK
B EMGHT M Fil - ERRE P EE R
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32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 5 September 2014, pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed by the
shareholders of the Company at the general meeting, the Company announced a
share option scheme (the “Scheme”) for the purpose of providing incentive to the
employee or other individuals of the Group (the “Participants”) and the Scheme will
be expired on 4 September 2024. Under the Scheme, the Directors is authorised to
grant options at a consideration of HK$1 per option to the Participants the Directors
may determine in its absolute discretion, has made valuable contribution to the
Group, to subscribe for shares in the Company.

The maximum number of shares which may be issuable under the Scheme cannot
exceed 30% of the issued share capital of the Company.

The total number of shares issued and to be issued to each eligible Participants
(including both exercised and outstanding options under the Scheme), within
12-month period cannot exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the Company as at
the proposed date on which the option is being granted unless prior shareholders
approval obtained.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 30 days from the date
the offer together with the payment of nominal consideration of HK$1 per option by
the grantee.

The exercisable period of the option is determinable by the Directors at their
discretion. The expiry date of the option may be determined by the Directors which
shall not be later than the last day of the ten year period from the grant date.

The exercise price shall be determined by the Directors and shall be at least the
highest of: (a) the closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheet on the grant date; (b) the average closing price of the shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the grant date; and (c) the nominal value of a share of the
Company.

No option has been granted since the adoption of the Scheme.
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32. BBRHERTE

R-ZZ-—MFAARE  BREARRRERRBEEX
g LEBZ ERARSE  ARFE M IEBEER
2 ([5H81]) - A EEmEEHEMEA (12
HE]DRHKER SN S _NFENAANA
JEm - RIBFT 8 EFERERENBREETL
REMEFT2ENIFETE CRAKEEHEXN
BRIM2EBERLERE ARBARFRND -

BETE FET 2 &S ROEE T SBALRRD
A B BT IEAN30% ©

BRIFBVSACR =i - i2f8 A IRAE 1T
BRasaER2EERT (BEFEETZET
EREARITEERRE) 2RDEHE  TEEBAN
NENERERDBEREE BERITRANZ21%

REBREZLORNIES A BEE308 AR AR
ANEWR AN EOBREIBTZZERE

BRETEHRESHBETE - BEEREm A Hh
EEET ERERLBHEA T FHE &R
7E|D

THRERESEELTEERATESE @R
A BB R REEMBZBOWHE: (b)
REEEHAMMNALELXABIMEARESE
PR P W THE : R(OAR R EE -

B PR B - LRI AR -
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33. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES 33. BAREBAIHE

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF Scheme”) for HNEBAMEBE AL EREERIBFIELTES

all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held 712l ([s8fEostEl]) -afE St 2 EEHAE

separately from those of the Group, in funds under control of a trustee. The Group EZEEDFEHA THITABTEZESRE -

contributes lower of 5% of relevant payroll costs or HK$1,500 per month per person A5 B 7BIZ A M % & 5k & 2 5%k & A & F1,50078

to the MPF Scheme, which is matched by employees. TSR B FTEWER R MEEMAELRES
B2

The employees of the Group in the PRC are members of state-managed retirement ANEE AP HES ATEBMARL ZEREEER
benefit schemes operated by the PRC Government. The PRC subsidiaries are required K@ FI5H 212 6K B - P B B A BB AR KB
to contribute a certain percentage of payroll to the retirement benefit schemes to  ZEHIEHFEETE DL 2 3k {EAREEN 2
fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the schemesisto  E& o BIEFHEIEE R E S ABAREE L LA Z

make the required contributions under the schemes. ZME—EE
34. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 34. AEANLTHE
(a) Name and relationship of related parties @) BIEATZZBREBRE
Name Relationship with the Company
% HAR T ZEH
Long Grand Limited Ultimate holding company
RBERATA] B ARIERR A A
Liuzhou Huagui Property Non-controlling owner of the Liuzhou Zhenghe
Development Co., Ltd MINIEFRN Z JEIE R B A

(“Liuzhou Huagui”™)
WINEEEMERZEER QA
(TN EERE])

(b)) Amount due to non-controlling interests (b) FERFEZFIEDRE
2019 2018
—E-hF AL
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET

Non-trade related, unsecured, interest-free FEEZ IR ER 2B R
and repayable on demand BIEEKEE

Liuzhou Huagui DN 2E A 59,511 61,508
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34. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (Continued) 34. BEALTHEE (8
() Amount due to ultimate holding company (0 EREAERATZINE
2019 2018
—E-hEF —ET-)N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
Non-trade related, unsecured, interest-free HEZIHE A 28R
and repayable on demand B EKEE
Long Grand Limited RBBRAA 1,775 2,304
(d) Related parties transactions d BEALXRS
Compensation of key management personnel FTEFEAE ZHRM
The remuneration of directors and other member of key management of the AAGEZERTEETIEABHEMKEFARNZ &
Company during the year were as follows: B -
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-)\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
Short-term benefits %G HATE A 6,169 6,518
Retirement benefit scheme contribution RREFET B3R 72 66
6,241 6,584

The remuneration of key management is determined having regard to the FTEEEABZHMINHLXEEFA LT ZERRET
performance of individuals and market trends. GB B EEE
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35. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to
continue as a going concern while maximising the return to shareholders through
the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy
remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which includes borrowings
as disclosed in note 25, offset by bank balances and cash and equity attributable to
owners of the Company, comprising issued share capital and reserves. In managing
the Group’s capital structure, the management will also monitor the utilisation of
bank and other borrowings to ensure compliance with financial covenants.

. EeRkRER
$%laﬁﬁ§ﬁ Mﬁ%KEIWZE%%%%
DU S T B - RS TR B BUE TS B A
Zﬁ?ﬁZ$ﬁﬁﬁh%$ﬂﬁﬁ@ﬁ°$ ElE:

EREAESIE BEFHERF-

AEBEZENEEBEERFHE (Hde %W&B
R ER WIRTAETRRSEE) LEAR
%ﬁAEEFL(@%E$Hh$&ﬁﬁ)BE
BAREEZERNEE TEBINGELEITREAM
BREABRNERETS R -

2019 2018

—E-hF —FN\F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

Borrowings ﬁ%%k 605,917 882,375
Bank balances and cash RITEFRRS (911,602) (1,167,633)
Net cash e F8E (305,685) (285,258)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company KABHEE ANELER 1,079,790 1,314,039
Net debts to equity FEBER N/AT 3B H /AT 3 FA

The Directors review the capital structure on a semi-annual basis. As part of this
review, the Directors consider the cost of capital and the risks associated with each
class of capital. Based on recommendations of the Directors, the Group will balance
its overall capital structure through the new shares issues and share buy-back as well
as the issuance of new debt.

ERUFFREERTERNRE - (Rl —#8
7 BEREEEARNKNARESEENMHROER
REBESNHEER ~AEEKEBBITHERNE
BEROARBETHEFEEREARE -
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(@) Categories of financial instruments

36. M I A
(a =T EE5

2019 2018
—E-hF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Financial assets SREE
Assets measured at amortised cost/loans and receivables 2 S ANt ENEE,
(including bank balances and cash) BRI ERGRTE
(BIERITHEFRER) 1,118,049 1,519,542
Financial liabilities tREE
Liabilities measured at amortised cost R AGTENEE 756,511 1,028,521
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) SREAKREEEERBEE
The Group’s major financial instruments include factoring receivables, loan AEBEZF 2SR T EAFERIRIEFIE  BKE

receivables, trade and other receivables, bank balances and cash, restricted bank
deposits, trade and other payables, amount due to non-controlling interests,
amount due to ultimate holding company and borrowings. Details of these financial
instruments are disclosed in respective notes.

The Directors monitor and manage the financial risks relating to the operations of
the Group through internal risk assessment which analyses exposures by degree
and magnitude of risks. The risks included market risk (including currency risks and
interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these
risks are set out below. The Directors manage and monitor these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

()  Foreign currency risk management

The Group has foreign currency denominated bank balances and cash which expose
the Group to foreign currency risk.

The carrying amount of the Group’s foreign currency denominated monetary
assets/liabilities and inter-group foreign currency balances at the end of respective
reporting periods are as follow:

36. TRIT R (&)

) £EEARSEAEREE (&)

i) IEREBEE
AEBEEANEHEZRITEERRS  REAX
EE AT INERR

AEBUINETEZEREE ABEREERI
BEARNEREMRZREENT

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-)N\F

Assets BE
HK$ BT 808,929 1,048,444
EUR BT 14,127 16,925
UsD ETT 126 94
KGS = - 115

The Group currently does not enter into any derivative contracts to minimise the
currency risk exposure. However, the directors will consider hedging significant
currency risk should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis
The Group is mainly exposed to the effects of fluctuation in HK$, EUR, USD and KGS
against RMB.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5% (2018: 5%) increase and
decrease in the RMB against the relevant foreign currencies. 5% (2018: 5%) is the
sensitivity rate used in directors” assessment of the possible reasonably change in
foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes the Group’s outstanding
foreign currency denominated monetary items as well as inter-group foreign
currency balances and adjusts their translation at the year end for a 5% (2018: 5%)
change in foreign currency rates. A negative number indicates an increase in loss
for the year where the RMB strengthens against the relevant currencies. For a 5%
weakening of the RMB against the relevant currencies, there would be an equal and
opposite impact on loss for the year.

AEE B AL BT EMITER KN E ¥R R
BREFEK BESHENERTEREEHTERNEH
[z

RS
AEETEEHET BT ERRREEARKEY
ST

TREFFIAEE S AR S ABREINE FHE R BZE5%
ZENF %) ZHRE % (ZE—\F:
5% ) BE BFEIMNERE K 2 A4 B F e R A
ZBBELLE - BRE ST BB ANEBE LIMNEFHE
ZMAZ Nz EWIEE REBREINE LS WRF
R E RS L OMNETE R 25% ( —ZF— )\ 4 5% ) & H)
EHARE - MARBHEBEEEAE BHERTF
EEEIEM - M ARK HLABBEERZES S5
EEEEREERERTEE-
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
()  Foreign currency risk management (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

36. TRIT A (&)

b) £EERSEAEREE (&)
) SEERBRER(H)

HRE DT (&)

2019 2018

—E-AEF —ZT—)N\F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

HK$ against RMB BILH AR (40,446) (52,422)

EUR against RMB BT AR (706) (846)

USD against RMB ETLHARE (6) (5)

KGS against RMB R H AR = (6)

(i)  Interest rate risk management (i) FEEBEE

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to fixed-rate bank and 7K £ [ 7% 2 /5 B8 [& & M) R R 17 M B Ab £8 7% (Bt 5%

other borrowings (note 25).

As the bank balances and restricted bank deposit interest rates have limited
fluctuation over the year, management of the Group are of the opinion that the
Group’s exposure to cash flow interest rate risk is minimal. Accordingly, no sensitivity
analysis is presented on bank balances and restricted bank deposits.

(iii)  Credit risk management

The following table provides information about the Group’s exposure to credit
risk and ECL for factoring receivables, loan receivables, trade receivables, other
receivables and other deposits, as at 31 March 2019. The average expected loss rate
is derived from the gross carrying amount and loss allowance as at 31 March 2019
after taken into accounting of the collaterals, historical default rate and forward
looking information.
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

(iii)  Credit risk management (Continued)

36. ®RT A (£)

b) SREREEEEREE(H)

i) EERREE(H)

Average Gross
expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
FIHEAERR HEREE EERAE
HK$'000 HK$'000
As At 31 March 2019 R-ZE-NE=ZA=+—H TET TAET
Factoring receivables JFE U AR 3B 2 T8 2% —71.57% 136,648 96,474
Loan receivables e E TR 2% — 5% 147,049 7,036
Trade receivables BUE FERIE 0.1% — 2% 6,651 33
Other receivables E b U ERIA 2% 6,648 132
Other deposits Efhizse 1% 6,714 67
303,710 103,742

Average Gross
expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
FHEHERR BERMEE BREE
HK$'000 HK$'000
As at 31 March 2018 RZE—-N\F=H=+—H FET FET
Factoring receivables JE U AR 32 R IR 2% 123,150 2,463
Loan receivables JEWE R 2-3% 152,275 4,531
Trade receivables U E 5 R 1A 0.5% 3,648 18
Amount due from a third party B — BB =F A 2% 24,630 493
Other receivables H b U BRIA 2% 21,281 425
Other deposits Hihike 1% 14,978 150
339,962 8,080
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
(iii)  Credit risk management (Continued)

The changes of the ECL rate is mainly taken the following factors into account when
assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly subsequently:

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the marco-economic
environment;

- existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or economic
conditions that are expected to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligation;

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the
debtor; and

- an actual or expected significant adverse changes in the regulatory, economic,
or technological environment of the debtor that results in a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligation.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk arises from the factoring receivables, loan
receivables and trade and other receivables. Management has performed in-
depth due diligence reviews of the financial background and creditability of the
counterparties who owe debts to the Group.
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b) LSREKREEEEREE (&)
(i) EERBRERE (&)
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

(iii)  Credit risk management (Continued)

The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets, which comprise bank balances
and cash and restricted bank deposits, arises from possible default of the
counterparty is low. At the end of the reporting period, the Group has placed these
deposits with banks and financial institutions of high credit.

Management has a formal credit policy in place and the exposure to credit risk
is monitored through regular reviews of receivables and follow-up enquires on
overdue accounts. Credit evaluations are performed on all customers requiring credit
over a certain amount.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs, which is calculated using a provision matrix. As the Group’s historical
credit loss experience does not indicate significantly different loss patterns for
different customer segments, the loss allowance based on past due status is not
further distinguished between the Group’s different customer bases.

36. TRIT R (&)

) £EEARSEAEREE (&)

(i) EERBRERE (&)

AEREMEREE (BREBTEERREUR
ZREBITER) NEERBREAYT HEANT
BEMEIE - RIEEIR AEECBRSEEREE
REERSHRTRESBKE-

ERESET EXOEREE LRBENES
AR R SR BR B MRS R E L R
B WER BB TR BREEEENFAERET
R

AEENFRAREHEMEERENSEERE
el B E HRUGRENEBIRER - AN AR H
MESLEEBELRIY ARATREFHER
BAFEREER Rt ERNBIRENEREE
TeE—FPROAEENTRE,E-

Trade receivables JEWE ZHRIE
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
As at 31 March 2019 R-ZE—-hE=A=+—H FEHEEXR WERMEE EEERE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Current (not past due) BUER (R H7) 0.1% - -
1 -3 months past due BmE—Z==EA 0.2% - -
More than 3 months but less than 1 year #8338 =18 A8 DR —4F
past due 0.5% 6,651 33
More than 1 year past due EHARR R — 2% - -
6,651 33
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

(iii)  Credit risk management (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

Prior to 1 April 2018, an impairment loss was recognised only when there was
objective evidence of impairment (see note 2(a)(ii)). The loss allowances for trade
receivables further increased by HK$15,000 during the year ended 31 March 2019.

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired related to a wide range of
customers for whom there was no recent history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired related to a number of
independent customers that had a good track record with the Group. Based on past
experience, management believed that no loss allowance was necessary in respect
of these balances as there had been no significant change in credit quality and the
balances were still considered fully recoverable.

Loan receivables

Collaterals are obtained in respect of the Group’s loan receivable which made up to
approximately 162% (2018: 181%) of the total loan receivables before impairment
as at 31 March 2019. As at 31 March 2019, the fair value of collaterals for the
Group’s loan receivables which are biological assets, machineries and elevator based
on their prevailing market prices or valuation by market approach amounted to
approximately HK$238,764,000 (2018: HK$280,247,000).

It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to obtain loans from the Group
are subject to management review. In the event of default or failure to repay any
outstanding loan amounts by the customers, the Group will proceed with the sale
of collaterals. In order to maintain the credit risk at desirable level, the Group’s
average loan-to-value ratio was kept below 50% to ensure the recoverability of the
outstanding loan amount. As at 31 March 2019 and 2018, the Group’s exposures
under unexpired loan contracts were secured by the pledged assets of the customers

36. TRIT A (&)

(b) SEREREEEEREEK (&)

(i) EERBREE(H)

JEY B ZHRTE ()

RZE— N\FUA—HZA  BESEERERE
BEATRERER (RHTE20)0) - BKRE SR
Hy SEREEREEZE_Z—NF=A=+—8H1L
S — 538 5015,00078 7T ©

R 3B0 HA 7 AR R (B A LA R TR L X 4R 4 R SR RD %
MRZEPER-

ERRERAREZEBRERARZEAEER
B BUEPAR ENBELR AR EE
BRUBEAEE MEKDIRATEARE
EEERREBANZSERIELEMEREE-

JEWE

MAEEEWERNEERD HRZFE—NF
A=+t HEKREFRERZENR% (ZF
—N\FE181%) RZE—NE=A=+—H &
SERKRER(BEMEE HBERER)ERE
LHRAEMBEKNIEMSHAGHENERRA R
1B497/2238,764,000/8 70 ( —F — )\ 4 : 280,247,000/5
TT) °

AEBNBRAEMBAEEASBER ZEFY
BEXEETE MEFPHERIKREEET(IRE
NZzEBERERE A5ERLERRM - BEREE
[R B2 R ERAB K AR S B SRR HE R A50% A
T UHERKEREGZEREE - R_T—NF
R—E—N\FZA=+—B AEBERERIHZ
BERAENEARPZEMEENT

as follows:
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FET
Biological assets EYEE 223,793 276,373
Machineries AR 11,661 -
Elevator F B 1 3,310 3,874
238,764 280,247
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

(iii)  Credit risk management (Continued)

Factoring receivables

In order to minimise the credit risk, the Group has a high concentration of credit risk
as all receivables were due from six parties as at 31 March 2019. In order to minimise
the credit risk, the Group obtained guarantees from related companies of the third
parties, who agreed to provide guarantees of the factoring receivables to the Group
in case of default. The directors consider that both the third parties and its related
companies have sufficient financial capacity to repay the factoring receivables.

As at 31 March 2019 and 2018, the collaterals under unexpired factoring contracts
are not permitted to sell or re-pledge by the Group in the event of default by the
debtors.

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of loan receivables, factoring
receivables, trade and other receivables during the years is as follows:

36. TRIT R (&)

) £EEARSEAEREE (&)

(i) EERBRERE (&)

FEWARIE I8

ATRERERR R-E—NE=A=+—8B&
EEANIBE T AEREREZEN I REE
EREERR - ATREEERR AEEEE =
FZEBRATESER AERBENELBEINA
EEENRERE EERAE= T REERAT
BRI TS N IEE RURIEFRIE -

RZF-NER-ZF-/\F=ZA=1+—H8 REX
AMREASL BEBAROKTIAFAEELES
BEMZEM -

RIBEKE  RURREFER BEEZREARE
fEWERIE A FEEREGRAZFHNT

HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
At 31 March 2018 under HKAS 39 RIBEEBGTERIFE3RN
- \F=A=+—H -
Initial application of HKFRS 9 (note 2(a)(i)) HXERE BT KRS ERFHR
(M 5E2()()) 8,080
At 1 April 2018 RZZE-N\FMA—H 8,080
Impairment losses recognised during the year REECHERBEESE 96,422
Reversal of impairment loss of trade and FEUE 5 BRIE N H b e U BR 18
other receivables HEEERE (867)
Exchange adjustment & W AR 107 95,662
At 31 March 2019 RZZE-NF=A=+—H 103,742
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

(iii)  Credit risk management (Continued)

Contingent labilities

For properties held for sale which are subject to pre-sales agreements, the Group
typically provides guarantees to banks in connection with the customers’ borrowing
of mortgage loans to finance their purchase of the properties for an amount up
to 70% of the total purchase price of the property. If a purchaser defaults on the
payment of its mortgage during the term of guarantee, the bank holding the
mortgage may demand the Group to repay the outstanding amount of the loan and
any accrued interest thereon. Under such circumstances, the Group is able to retain
the customer’s purchase deposit and sell the property to recover any amounts paid
by the Group to the bank. In this regard, the directors considers that the Group’s
credit risk is significantly reduced.

(iv) Liquidity risk management

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a
level of bank balances and cash deemed adequate by the management to finance
the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The
management monitors the utilisation of bank borrowings and ensures compliance
with loan covenants.

The Group relies on borrowings as a significant source of liquidity. As at 31 March
2019, the Group has borrowings of approximately HK$605,917,000 (note 25) (2018:
HK$882,375,000).
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
(iv) Liquidity risk management (Continued)

Liquidity table

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its
non-derivative financial liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on the

36.
(b)
(iv)

£RI A (5
SREAMEEEERKE (&)
FBESEBER (&)
HEBAESF
TR AEEIETELRBBEI R TAYESR-

ZRIBBASERAREREESREBE IR

undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which FEHIZ ¢ REBERATRBELREFE -
the Group can be required to pay.
Weighted On
average demand Total
interest or within 1t02 2105 Over  undiscounted Carrying
rate 1 year years years 5 years cash flows amount
i RERS FHERE
As at 31 March 2019 “Z-NF=A=1-H RN S (EPV 1225 2855 SENE RELHE REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TEL THET THET TERT TEL
Non-derivative financial Liabilites: HESBEE:
Trade and other payables ERESRERAEMNERE - 89,308 - - - 89,308 89,308
Amount due to ultimate holding company ERRAER A RZIE - 1,775 = - - 1,775 1,775
Amount due to non—controlling interests e SRR R - 59,511 = = = 59,511 59,511
Borrowings, fixed rate B3 BET A 9.68% 545,715 65,380 - - 611,095 605,917
696,309 65,380 - - 761,689 756,511
Financial guarantee contracts: BBEREN:
Maximum amount guaranteed (note 31) ERENEALE (M:31) 880,758 = = = 880,758 -
Weighted On
average demand Total
interest or within 1t02 2105 Over  undiscounted (arrying
rate 1 year years years 5 years cash flows amount
il BEKRS FBRRE
As at 31 March 2018 “Z-\F=A=1-H Ti9F| % TELR 1205 2855 SEME nERE REE
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T Titn Tir T T T
Non-derivative financial Liabilities: FiiEsBaE:
Trade and other payables ERESERRREMEMNEE - 82334 - - - 82334 82,334
Amount due to ultimate holding company J‘WE&W“H& AIFE - 2304 - - - 2304 2304
Amount due to non-controlling interests [EfSERRES A - 61,508 - - - 61,508 61,508
Borrowings, fixed rate %?ﬁ REEHE 931% 804,074 70033 - - 954107 882375
1,030,220 70033 - - 1100253 1,028,521
Financial guarantee contracs; HBEREN
Maximum amount guaranteed (note 31) ERANEALE (M) 747359 - - - 747359 -
The above liquidity table includes both interest and principal cash flows. NERBESRBENERERSRSRE -
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37. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARY 37. HENBRQF

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group entered into agreement with an  HZE_ZT—NWF=ZA=+—HILFE AEEHHE—
independent third party, to dispose of its entire interest in subsidiary EFIIE/EE RBUFE=H:lvind UEREHEWBERAE
SR AT (Guangxi Zhenghuan Trading Co., Ltd *), which were dormant since PHIEIEZ SAER AT (B IR T ELS )N
incorporation, at zero consideration. The disposal was completed on 22 October & ¥ -ZHEEFHERN _E— ) \F+A=-+=H
2018 and the Group recognised a gain on disposal of subsidiary of approximately AKX » 75 B #E A H & B A A1 HY UL 55 £9348,0007%5
HK$348,000. JL°

The fair value of net liabilities at the date of completion of the disposal are as REEFEZKE BN FEEALEMNT:

follows:
HK$'000
FET
Other receivables E fth pE W R IE 18,753
Bank balances and cash RITEFRRSE 6
Borrowings B (18,749)
Other payables H M E S FRIE (358)
(348)
Less: Fair value of consideration in cash BBReREMNAAE -
Gain on disposal of subsidiary HEH B A AUk (348)

An analysis of net cash outflow of bank balances and cash in respect of disposal of HEIHEMBATHNRITETFTLIRSHIBELR

subsidiary is as follows: SFESMMT
HK$'000
FET
Cash consideration BeRE -
Less: bank balances and cash disposed B EHERTEFRRS (6)
Net cash outflow of bank balances and cash BRANEHRBARMNRTEFERRE SR F5E
in respect of disposal of subsidiary (6)
* The English name is for identification purpose only
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38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVES OF THE

38. AABRZUMBARRKREHE

COMPANY
2019 2018
—B-NF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FABT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RB AR ZRE 304,394 393,631
Property, plant and equipment LER N 154 98
Amounts due from subsidiaries FE U B B A R I 169,505 226,707
474,053 620,436
Current assets MEEE
Trade and other receivables FEUE ZERTE & E b URBR T8 2,097 2458
Bank balances and cash RTEERRS 630,779 768,045
632,876 770,503
Current liabilities RBEE
Trade and other payable I E ZERTE R E RN ERIA 2,885 2,783
Amounts due to subsidiaries FETHI B A Rl IE 417 1,068
Amount due to ultimate holding company JE S AT AR 2 B 3R I8 1,775 2,304
5,077 6,155
Net current assets mENEE TR 627,799 764,348
Net assets BEFE 1,101,852 1,384,784
Capital and reserves I 2 B R
Share capital (note 26) f& 7 (M9 7E26) 20,319 20,319
Reserves i 1,081,533 1,364,465
TOTAL EQUITY R BEE 1,101,852 1,384,784
On behalf of the board of directors REEES
Yuen Leong Luan Li
Director Director
) HF|
EZE EE
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38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVES OF THE 38. AR Rz B EMR AR R HE (&)
COMPANY (Continued)
Reserves fEtE
Capital
Share Share redemption Accumulated
Capital premium reserve losses Total
BRAR RinaE BRBEGHE ZEE Foks)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET THT THT FET
At 1 April 2017 RZE—t&MNA—A 20319 9,009,799 3,781 (7,329,308) 1,704,591
Loss and total comprehensive income FABERZANAELE
for the year - - - (319,807) (319,807)
At 31 March 2018 and 1 April 2018 RZZE-NE=ZA=+—-HEK
—T-\FMA—H 20,319 9,009,799 3,781 (7,649,115) 1,384,784
Initial application of HKFRS 9 BRERBEBIBREER
L - - - (18) (18)
At 1 April 2018 (restated) RZZE—-\ENA—A
€27 20,319 9,009,799 3,781 (7,649,133) 1,384,766
Loss and total comprehensive income FREBEREZARAESE
for the year - - - (282,914) (282,914)
At 31 March 2019 RZE-NF=A=1+—H 20319 9,009,799 3,781 (7,932,047) 1,101,852
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39. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE GROUP

(@) Subsidiaries of the Company

Particulars of subsidiaries of the Company are as follows:

39. AKEXEMBATZHE
(@ ARAFAZHEAH

RRBZMBRARFEMOT :

Place of Issued/registered
incorporation/ and paid-up Attributable equity interests
Name operation share capital held by the Company Principal activities Legal form
H e BB/ 2K
% FiE HBERRE APRERRERE FEER EERR
2019 2018
=$-0F 3N
Directly held
BERE
Surplus Rich Investments Limited The BVI/ US$1 100% 100%  Management service to Private limited liability
Hong Kong I group companies company
EBRLES/ mEERARME MABRAE
B ERRB
Chaoyue Investment Holdings Limited Hong Kong/ HK$1 100% 100%  Investment holding Private limited liability
BERERRERAR Hong Kong T RERR company
BB/ &% MABRAT
Successtime Limited The BVI/Hong US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding Private limited liability
KEBRAA Kong 1% REER company
KBRLES/ MABRAR
B
Longday International Limited The BVI/Hong US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding Private limited liability
BABERARR A Kong (E REER company
RBRUES/ MABRAE
9
IBS Investment Limited Hong Kong/ HK$100 100% 100%  Investment holding Private limited liability
BREEEERABRAA Hong Kong 10078 7T RAZR company
B/ BH MABRAE
Shanghai Jiajin Financing Lease Co. Ltd * The PRC/ RMB225,063,500 100% 100%  Finance leasing Domestic company with
LENSREREERAR The PRC AR¥ BEARE limited liability
HE/H 225,063,5007C BERERAR
Rising Vast Limited The BVI/ US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding Private limited liability
EHBRAF Hong Kong 1= BEER Company
KBRLES/ MABRAR
B
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39. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE GROUP 39. REEFENE QAT ZHE (&)
(Continued)

(a) Subsidiaries of the Company (Continued) (@ AATZHEBLTE (&)
Place of Issued/registered
incorporation/ and paid-up Attributable equity interests
Name operation share capital held by the Company Principal activities Legal form
H e BB/ 2K
% FiE HBERRE APRERRERE FEER EERR
2019 2018

e

Indirectly held
HERE
Pride Delight Limited The BVI/ US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding Private limited liability
HRBERAT Hong Kong (ES RERR company

EBRLES/ MABRAA

B

Eagle Mountain Holdings Limited The BVI/ US$100 90% 90%  Investment holding Private limited liability
EEERERAR Hong Kong 1005 7T RERR company

RERLES/ MABRAT

B

United (Fujian) Enterprise Management Company Limited *  The PRC/ RMB12,500,000 60% 60%  Consultancy service and Domestic company with
R (RR)CEERERAF The PRC ARKE trading of goods limited liability

HE /e 12,500,0007T BERRERERE BRARAR
Liuzhou Zhenghe Huagui Real Estate Group The PRC/ RMB200,000,000 70% 70%  Property development Domestic company with

Company Limited * The PRC ARE MEER limited liability

MMEREEEZEEARAF HE/HE 200,000,0007C BRERRE
Guangxi Changhua Investment Co. Ltd * The PRC/ RMB10,000,000 70% 70%  Property development Domestic company with
BREEEEEBRAE The PRC ARE MEER limited liability

HE 10,000,0007C BAERAF
Guang Yizheng Trading Co. Ltd * The PRC/ RMB10,000,000 70% 70%  Property development Domestic company with
BREZEESERAA The PRC AR¥E MEER limited liability

RE 10,000,0007T BRARAR
Liuzhou Hegui Property Development Co. Ltd * The PRC/ RMB85,000,000 70% 70%  Property development Domestic company with
MMAEREREERAF The PRC AR MEER limited liability

RE 85,000,0007T BRERRA
Guangxi Zhenghe Cheng Property Management Ltd * The PRC/ RMB3,000,000 70% 70%  Property development Domestic company with
BREEMANERBER A The PRC ARK MEER limited liability

HE/ 3,000,0007C BAERAF
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39. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE GROUP

(Continued)

39. AEBEETEMB AR 2T (8

(a) Subsidiaries of the Company (Continued) (@ AATZHEBLTE (&)
Place of Issued/registered
incorporation/ and paid-up Attributable equity interests
Name operation share capital held by the Company Principal activities Legal form
H e BB/ 2K
% FiE HBERRE APRERRERE FEER EERR
2019 2018
=$-0F 3N
Indirectly held (Continued)
FERA (&)
Liuzhou Zhenghe Cheng Business Management Ltd * The PRC/ RMB3,000,000 70% 70%  Property development Domestic company with
MMNENSEEERERAR The PRC ARK MEBR limited liability
RE/H 3,000,0007C BAERAF
Liuzhou Zhenghe Cheng Hotel Management Co. Ltd The PRC/ RMB1,000,000 70% - Hotel management Domestic company with
N ERBEEERERA A The PRC NG BIEERRE limited liability
HE/HE 1,000,0007T BNERAHE
Liuzhou Zhenghe Huagui Zhiye Group Co. Ltd The PRC/ N/A 70% - Hotel service Branch of domestic
Wyndham Hotel branch The PRC NEA BIE RS company with limited
MNERMEEEZEEERAA R/ RE liability
REREREED AR BRBERRAZ
VNG
Jiahe Investment Management Co. Limited Hong Kong/ HK$100 100% 100%  Money lending Private limited liability
MABEEEBRAA Hong Kong 10078 7T BE company
B/ B MABRAE
International Business Settlement Limited Hong Kong/ HK$10,000 100% 100%  IBSservice Private limited liability
ElREmEEERRAT The PRC 10,0007 7T Bl 4 B RS company
B/ HE MABRAA
Chongging Globehill Company Limited The PRC/ RMB10,000,000 100% 100%  IBS service Domestic company with
BERBEERY (EB)FERAA The PRC AR Bl % EE R limited liability
RE/H 10,000,0007T BNERAHE
“Globehill” Limited Liability Company Kyrgyzstan/ KGS 1,000,000 100% 100%  IBS service Private limited liability
Kyrgyzstan 1,000,000% 18 B EE RS company
ERTIEE/ MABRAE
ERF A
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31 March2019 —ZE— W F=HA=+—H

39. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE GROUP

(Continued)

39. AEBEETEMB AR 2T (8

(a) Subsidiaries of the Company (Continued) (@ AATZHEBLTE (&)
Place of Issued/registered
incorporation/ and paid-up Attributable equity interests
Name operation share capital held by the Company Principal activities Legal form
H e BRT/ 2K
% mEwY HBERRE APRERRERE FEER EERR
2019 2018
=$-0F 3N
Indirectly held (Continued)
FERA (&)
IBS Kazakhstan Limited Liability Partnership Kazakhstan/ KZT 1,000,000 100% 100%  IBS service Private limited liability
Kazakhstan 1,000,008 %, B EEEE RS company
RERANE/ ABRAF
BRI
UAB “IBS Lithuania” Lithuania/ EUR 2,000,000 100% 100%  IBS service Private limited liability
UAB [1BS Lithuania J Lithuania 2,000,0008% 7T S company
vl MABRAT
hvatzh
Kwok Tin Enterprises Limited Hong Kong/ HK$1 100% 100%  Investment holding Private limited liability
BACEBRAF Hong Kong 17T BERR company
BB/ &% ABRRF
Fuzhou Guotian Enterprises Management Company Limited* The PRC/ RMB1,000,000 100% 100%  Investment holding Domestic company with
BNEXRLEERERAR The PRC ARE BEER limited liability
R/ RE 1,000,0007 BRERAR
Fuzhou Guoyi Enterprises Management Company Limited*  The PRC/ RMB1,000,000 100% 100%  Investment holding Domestic company with
BME-CEEBFERAH The PRC ARE REER limited liability
HE 1,000,0007C BAERAF
* The English name is for identification purpose only
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31March2019 —ZE—NWEFE=/=+—H

39. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE GROUP 39. REEFENE QAT ZHE (&)

(Continued)
(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material non- (b)
controlling interests

BEEAFERESZZHFZENBELT

The table below shows details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries of the Group as at R EHEE-_ET—HER T N\F=A=1+—

31 March 2019 and 2018 that have material non-controlling interests.

BB«

AAREEEREEANFERERZIFEENE A

Summarised consolidated financial information in respect of Liuzhou Zhenghe and ~ MM IEAI M H 2 BB A TS = AR RERS

its wholly owned subsidiaries, which has material non-controlling interests is set ~ E4r&

out below. The summarised consolidated financial information below represented 5B RA & ¥ E AT & 58 -

amounts before intragroup eliminations.

FBERBURINT c AT EREMIEERE

Ownership
interests and Total comprehensive
Place of incorporation/ rights held by income allocated to Accumulated
Names of subsidiaries operation non-controlling interests non-controlling interests non-controlling interests
FERERREZ PREFERER
WELREE B EEH BEEERRER 2EBALE R FERER
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
“E-nE -\ ZE-AF ZT-N\§ ZEBE-NFE ZT-)\F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TR
Liuzhou Zhenghe and its subsidiaries The PRC/The PRC 30% 30% 6,677 4513 21,625 14,948
N ERRENBAR HE /e
Individually immaterial subsidiaries with (802) 202 887 1,689
non-controlling interests
ERBTEAMAESFERER 2 HE R
5,875 4,715 22,512 16,637
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31 March2019 —ZE— W F=HA=+—H

39. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE GROUP

(Continued)

(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material non-

controlling interests (Continued)
Liuzhou Zhenghe and its wholly owned subsidiaries:

39.

AEBEENRBAR ZFE (5)

) BEEERFERESZHFZENBLF

15 (')

HMIMNEMREZEHBEAR:

2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHET

For the year ended 31 March BE=ZA=+—HLEE
Revenue WA 811,012 531,663
Profit for the year F Nz Al 24,039 6,868
Total comprehensive income 2HEINEEEE 22,257 4513
Profit allocated to non-controlling interests DELEIEIERR S 2 A 7,212 2,060
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests FEE R 2 2 B SRR A - -
Cash flows generated from operating activities KEFFMBASRE 54,015 284,857
Cash flows generated from investing activities REFRYMBHRESRE 4,970 22,606
Cash flows used in financing activities ARBEED s HeRE (116,872) (238,639)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes ONERTE R BB 2 (14,365) 3,521
Net cash (outflows)/inflows Be (Rd) HmAFE (72,252) 72,345

As at 31 March R=A=+—H

Current assets mENE E 1,976,878 3,026,008
Non-current assets IERBEE 237,306 39,778
Current liabilities mENAE (2,106,126) (2,947,174)
Non-current liabilities SERBEE (35,974) (69,785)
Net assets BEFE 72,084 48,827
Accumulated non-controlling interests BETIEERR S 21,625 14,948
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31 March2019 —FE—AF=A=+—

40. MATERIAL INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Except as disclosed in note 34 to the consolidated financial statements, no contracts

of significance to which the Company’s subsidiary or joint venture was a party and

in which a director of the Company or an entity connected with a director had a

material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted during or at the end of the

financial year.

41. APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board on 25
June 2019.

40. EERRZ  RPFHENPZ2EKRF
=

B AR B mRM A REBEN R BEER

HER HERARFMBRRRALERERIINT

MEARAY MEARFEETXHERAWELE

BRETREAEARSHNERRN-

41. #HEMKERR
ZUMBHREREN —_E—NFNA-THBESS
2 HE IR R o
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Five Years

R SFMEE

RESULTS ¥&
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
“2-NFE —F-N\F ZT—+tF —F-R¥ =—T-IfF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FHET FET FET
(restated)
(sE5)
Revenue LON 827,848 543,333 537,064 176,996 2,424
Loss for the year attributable to [EIEREE B
Owners of the Company RAREEBA (217,980) (67,640) (78,467) (161,159) (223,794)
Non-controlling interests FEFE SIS 6,368 2,470 (7,374) (56,775) (4,647)
(211,612) (65,170) (85,841) (217,934) (228,441)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES SERERE
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
—E-NE —E-)N\F —T—+tF —T-RF —T—HF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TER TAT TAET TAET TAT

Total assets BEBHE 3,317,118 4,541,320 4,381,338 3,038,073 3,317,253
Total liabilities =Rt (2,214,816) (3,210,644) (3,006,736) (3,173,122) (3,233,717)
NET ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) BESFE/(8F) 1,102,302 1,330,676 1,374,602 (135,049) 83,536
Equity attributable to owners RRBER AEIL

of the Company s 1,079,790 1,314,039 1,362,680 (154,984) 3,137
Non-controlling interests FEE IR 2R 22,512 16,637 11,922 19,935 80,399
TOTAL EQUITY/(DEFICIENCY OF BmE/

TOTAL EQUITY) (=B EE) 1,102,302 1,330,676 1,374,602 (135,049) 83,536
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